THE INFLUENCE OF TRANSCUTANEOUS ELECTRICAL NERVE STIMULATION (TENS) ON HEMIPLEGIC SPASTICITY AND VOLUNTARY MUSCLE POWER

by

(c) Mindy F. Levin

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Department of Physiology McGill University Montreal, Quebec Canada

> > March 1990

Ż

ABSTRACT

١

These studies investigated possible relief of spasticity in hemiparetic subjects by transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) and its underlying mechanisms. The first two studies quantified the disorders in reflex and voluntary motor functions and addressed the reproducibility of their measurement and their correlation with spasticity scores. Soleus stretch reflexes were enhanced and isometric voluntary contraction force was decreased linearly with increasing spasticity. The last two studies addressed the effects of single and repetitive TENS stimulation on spasticity, reflex and isometric voluntary contractions. Compared to placebo stimulation, single 45 min sessions of TENS prolonged H and stretch reflex latencies for up to 60 min following stimulation. Repetitive (15 daily, 60 min) applications significantly decreased spasticity scores, Hvib/Hctl ratios, stretch reflexes and co-contraction while improving dorsiflexion force. The improvement in spasticity and voluntary motor control may partly have been mediated by presynaptic inhibition and reduced hyperactive stretch reflexes thereby 'unmasking' descending control.

Ţ

SOMMAIRE

Ces études portent sur la diminuation possible de la spasticité chez les sujets hemiparetiques par stimulation électrique transcutanée (TENS) ainsi que ses méchanismes sous-jacents. Les deux premières études portent sur la quantification des désordres des fonctions réflexes et volontaires ainsi que sur la reproductibilité de leurs mesures et leur corrélation avec les pointages de spasticité. Les réflexes d'étirements soléaire étaient augmentés et la force de contraction volontaire isométrique maximale était diminuée de façon linéaire avec l'augmentation de la spasticité. Les deux dernières études portent sur les effets d'une seule ou de plusieurs sessions de TENS sur la spasticité, sur les réflexes et sur les contractions voluntaires isométriques maximales. Comparativement à la stimulation placebo, une seule session de 45 min de TENS a entrainé une prolongation des latences des réflexes H et d'étirement et ce, jusqu'à 60 min suivant la stimulation. L'application répétitive (15 traitements de 60 min) a diminué significativement les pointages de spasticité, les ratios Hvib/Hctl, les réflexes d'étirements et la co-contraction tout en améliorant la force des dorsifléchisseurs. La diminution de la spasticité et l'amélioration du contrôle volontaire pourait avoir été partiellement modulées par inhibition présynaptique et par la réduction des réflexes d'étirement hyperactifs ayant donc ainsi 'demasqué' le contrôle descendant.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my warmest gratitude to my parents for their constant and sincere support throughout my graduate studies

To my thesis supervisor, Dr. Christina Chan, I would like to express my most sincere gratitude for sharing with me her personal wisdom and guidance throughout this five year period. She has spent many hours preparing essential insights which have helped shape my thinking, and indeed, my self. I would like her to know that her clear and logistic guiding principals have not been lost on me, nor have they been taken lightly. Christina, a sincere thank you for providing me with principals which I am sure I will continue to carry in my future career.

I would like to thank all of the volunteers who, in their dedication to the improvement of the quality of life for those less fortunate than themselves, have given freely of their personal time to coordinate and plan activities for the various stroke groups in the Montreal urban area. In particular, I gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Mme Sylvana Bertocchi of the Quebec Stroke Recovery Association, Mme. Claire Moreau of the Laval Unit and Mme. Yvette Lacroix of the Montreal North Unit Thanks are also due to Mrs Noreen Hyland of the West Island Unit of Stroke Victims and their Families. Finally, but not least, I would like to sincerely thank Mrs Sybel Zanger, Mrs. Sophie Destounis and Mr Raymond Gazoi of the Stroke Association at the Temple Emanu-El Beth Sholom, Westmourit, Quebec for their assistance and encouragement. To the patients from the various Stroke Groups who participated in the study, I extend my deepest and most sincere thanks. Without them, these studies would not have been possible. Once again, the stroke victims and their families have shown me the enormous capacity of the human being to adapt to even the most adverse situations while maintaining hope and optimism for the future. To them, this study is dedicated.

Several hospitals and physiotherapists in the Montreal area also assisted by helping to select and screen suitable subjects. I would like to sincerely thank in particular Dr. Ivan Zendel, Judy Lefebvre, Lorna Dredge and the staff of the Lethbridge Rehabilitation Centre and Gilbert Chartier, Felicia Guarna, Rita Cheng and the staff of the Institut de réadaptation de Montréal.

Strong enough sentiments can hardly be expressed to my friend and fellow student, Jane Mitchell, with whom so many hours were spent discussing the meaning of life and graduate studies All this was done between skiing, pouring over our respective results in the country, cycling, swimming, and eating vegetable korma To Jane, I wish continued success in life after PhD

Lastly, very special thanks are extended to Mr. Serge Lafontaine, Mr Alan Hammaker, and Mrs. Nada Rababy for their technical assistance and to my laboratory co-workers for sharing their enthusiasm and support throughout these studies.

I would like to acknowledge the Corporation des physiothérapeutes du Québec, the Physiotherapy Foundation of the Canadian Physiotherapy Association, and the Quebec Government for financial assistance during these studies. Also sincere thanks are extended to the Fonds F. C. A. R pour l'aide et le soutien à la recherche and Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec for graduate scholarships during these studies.

PREFACE

According to section 7 of the <u>Guidelines Concerning Thesis Preparation</u> prepared by the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, McGill University, (March, 1989)*, the candidate has the option of including in the thesis manuscripts published or submitted to learned journals. This option has been taken in this thesis with the authorization of the Chairman, Department of Physiology

* In accordance with stated requirements, section 7 of the Guidelines Concerning Thesis Preparation is cited in full below:

7 MANUSCRIPTS AND AUTHORSHIP

The candidate has the option, subject to the approval of the Department, of including as part of the thesis the text, or duplicated published text (see below), of an original paper, or papers. In this case the thesis must still conform to all other requirements explained in Guidelines Concerning Thesis Preparation. Additional material (procedural and design data as well as descriptions of equipment) must be provided in sufficient detail (e.g. in appendices) to allow a clear and precise judgement to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported. The thesis should be more than a mere collection of manuscripts published or to be published. It must include a general abstract, a full introduction and literature review and a final overall conclusion. Connecting texts which provide logical bridges between different manuscripts are usually desirable in the interests of cohesion

It is acceptable for theses to include as chapters authentic copies of papers already published, provided these are duplicated clearly on regulation thesis stationary and bound as an integral part of the thesis Photographs or other materials which do not duplicate well must be included in their original form <u>In such instances, connecting texts are mandatory</u> and supplementary explanatory material is almost always necessary

The inclusion of manuscripts co-authored by the candidate and others is acceptable but the candidate is required to make an explicit statement on who contributed to such work and to what extent, and supervisors must attest to the accuracy of the claims, e.g. before the Oral Committee. Since the task of the Examiners is made more difficult in these cases, it is in the candidate's interest to make the responsibilities of authors perfectly clear Candidates following this option must inform the Department before it submits the thesis for review.

Chapter 1 provides a general introduction to and problem formulation of the present series of studies Chapters 2, 3, 4, and 5 are papers which have been submitted for publication. Their full authorship and titles are listed below. These papers have been reformatted to provide consistancy throughout the thesis especially in the citing of references and in the sequencing of the main sections: Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, and Discussion. Chapter 6 summarizes the main conclusions of the studies As well according to Section 6a of the Guidelines Concerning Thesis Preparation, Chapter 6 also includes statements concerning the original contributions to knowledge of this thesis All references have been collected at the end of thesis in the Bibliography section

ł

REFERENCE LIST

- Chapter 2 Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y. Disorders in spastic hemiparesis. Characteristics of reflex responses. Submitted to Brain
- Chapter 3: Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y. Disorders in spastic hemiparesis. If Maximal voluntary contractions in standing. Submitted to Brain
- Chapter 4: Chan, C. W Y and Levin, M F Repetitive electrical stimulation in spastic hemiparesis. I Stretch reflex latency changes. Submitted to Experimental Neurology.
- Chapter 5. Levin, M F and Chan, C W Y Repetitive electrical stimulation in spastic hemiparesis. II Relief of spasticity is associated with improvement in reflex and voluntary motor control. Submitted to Experimental Neurology

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
RESUME	ıi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ıii
PREFACE	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VII
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
SPASTICITY	2
1 Anatomical Basis of Hemiplegic Spasticity	2
2 Physiological Basis of Spasticity	4
(i) Gamma Motoneuronal Hyperexcitability	5
(II) Alpha Motoneuronal Hyperexcitability	6
(III) Presynaptic Inhibition	9
(IV) Plastic Changes	13
Unmasking	14
Release of Transmission in Reflex Pathways	14
Denervation Supersensitivity	15
Sprouting	16
(v) Other Mechanisms	18
(vi) Non-reflexogenic Contributions to Hypertonia	19
VOLUNTARY MOTOR FUNCTION	21
MEASUREMENT OF SPASTICITY	25
1 Clinical Measures of Spasticity	26
2 Physiological Measures of Spasticity	28
PROBLEM FORMULATION	33
Modifiability of Spasticity	34

VII

V	1	۱	Į	
---	---	---	---	--

	•
CHAPTER 2 DISORDERS IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX	38
SUMMARY	39
INTRODUCTION	40
METHODS	42
SUBJECTS	42
EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL	43
SUBJECT FIXATION	45
STIMULATION PROCEDURES	45
H reflexes	45
Vibration	47
Stretch Reflexes	47
EMG RECORDING	48
DATA ANALYSIS	49
H reflexes and M responses	49
Stretch Reflexes	49
Statistical Analysis	51
RESULTS	51
CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX RESPONSES IN SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC AND NORMAL SUBJECTS	51
H reflexes	. 51
Stretch Reflexes	. 54
REPRODUCIBILITY OF MEASURES	. 55
CLINICAL CORRELATES	55
DISCUSSION	. 58
COMPARISON OF RESPONSES BETWEEN HEMIPARETIC AND NORMAL SUBJECTS	. 55
REPRODUCIBILITY OF MEASURES	60
CLINICAL CORRELATES	61

4

ザラン

IX

CHAPTER 4 REPETITIVE ELECTRICAL STIMULATION IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS	
I. STRETCH REFLEX LATENCY CHANGES	94
SUMMARY	95
	96
METHODS	98
SUBJECTS	98
EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL	98
TENS and Placebo Stimulation	100
EMG RECORDING AND DATA ANALYSIS	101
Statistical Analysis	101
RESULTS	101
CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX RESPONSES	101
EFFECTS OF TENS ON H REFLEXES	103
EFFECTS OF TENS ON STRETCH REFLEXES	103
DISCUSSION	105
EFFECTS OF SEGMENTAL TENS	108
EFFECTS OF HETEROSEGMENTAL TENS	108
Presynaptic Inhibition	109
Release of Inhibitory Neuromodulators	110
Increase in Descending Inhibition	110
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	111
ANARTER & REDETITIVE ELECTRICAL CTIMULATION IN SPASTIC HEMIDARESIS	
II. RELIEF OF SPASTICITY IS ASSOCIATED WITH IMPROVEMENT IN REFLEX AND VOLUNTARY MOTOR CONTROL	112
SUMMARY	113
	114
METHODS	116
SUBJECTS	116
EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL	116
STIMULATION PROCEDURES: TENS and Placebo Stimulation	118

¥: £ х

EMG RECORDING AND DATA ANALYSIS	119
Statistical Analysis	119
RESULTS	119
CHARACTERISTICS OF SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS	119
EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION ON SPASTICITY SCORES AND H REFLEXES	120
EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION ON STRETCH REFLEXES	124
EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION ON MAXIMAL ISOMETRIC VOLUN- TARY CONTRACTIONS	124
DISCUSSION	129
EFFECTS OF REPETITIVE TENS APPLICATIONS IN SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS	130
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS	133
CHAPTER 6 SUMMARY AND STATEMENT OF ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTIONS	134
BIBLIOGRAPHY	140

XI

947 2. .

1

CHAPTER 1

r

þ.

و المسالح الم

فلأفخلا والمكلاء كالدرا والالارك والمرار

÷

1

INTRODUCTION

SPASTICITY

1

The presence of spasticity is one of the principal factors affecting the rehabilitation of patients following cerebrovascular accidents (Twitchell, 1951; Moscowitz et al., 1972; Waylonis et al., 1973). In a traditionally accepted view, spasticity has been defined as hyperactivity of the stretch reflex arc manifested by a velocity dependent increase in tonic and phasic stretch reflexes, sometimes accompanied by clonus (Lance, 1980) Spasticity differs from the phenomenon of 'rigidity', which is characterized by a plastic resistance throughout the entire range of passive joint movement, equally distributed in flexor and extensor muscles (Denny-Brown, 1966). In contrast to rigidity, spasticity is found predominantly in one muscle group or synergy and is dependent on the velocity of stretch (Burke and Lance, 1973) and initial muscle length (Burke et al., 1970). Two types of spasticity have been defined, based on the lesion in the central nervous system (CNS). In spinal spasticity resulting from a lesion in the cord, hypertonicity is present predominantly in flexors more than extensor muscles (Riddoch, 1917; Kuhn, 1950, Shahani and Young, 1980) Lesions of the motor cortex and lower brain structures (see below) result in central (hemiplegic) spasticity, characterized by hypertonia in physiological extensors (i.e. antigravity muscles such as upper extremity flexors and lower extremity extensors) and weakness in physiological flexors (Pederson, 1974; Yanagisawa and Tanaka, 1978). The review below will focus on the anatomical and physiological basis of central spasticity and its related clinical signs and symptoms.

1. Anatomical Basis of Hemiplegic Spasticity

Hemiplegic spasticity with motor paresis was originally attributed to the disruption of corticospinal (pyramidal tract) fibres. This was based on the findings from post-mortem examinations of the spinal cord showing degeneration only in these fibres (Hines, 1960). However, Tower (1940) had demonstrated that lesions restricted to the bulbar pyramids in non-human primates resulted, not in hypertonia, but in hypotonia and hyporeflexia. Muscular tone was increased only after an additional lesion of the motor cortex. Considerable efforts

ş

were made to determine the exact location of the lesion responsible for the disturbance in muscle tone and voluntary motor control similar to that in human hemiplegia. The work of Kennard and Fulton (1933) established that removal of the pre-motor cortex (area 6) resulted in contralateral spasticity in monkeys. The spasticity was maximal only when the lesions were bilateral and included both pre-motor and motor (area 4) areas. It has subsequently been repeatedly demonstrated that spasticity results from the ablation of the primary motor cortex (Hines, 1936, 1937). The severity of spasticity and muscular weakness is enhanced following additional lesions to the ipsilateral supplementary motor area and the contralateral motor cortex (Mettler, 1943; Welch and Kennard, 1944, Travis, 1955a,1955b, Tasker et al., 1975). Purely cortical lesions appear to result in spasticity only when they are bilateral (Tasker et al., 1975). Interestingly, Fulton (1935) reported that bilateral ablation of both motor and supplementary motor areas, resulted in total and unrecoverable paralysis and spastic posturing However, if a portion of one motor area was spared, the animal showed some degree of recovery of voluntary function.

The investigation into the specific descending pathways contributing to spasticity began with Sherrington's work (1897, 1898) in the decerebrate cat Intracellular recordings in the spinal cord of the cat have shown considerable convergence of signals from segmental and descending pathways onto spinal interneurons and motoneurons (Baldissera et al., 1981, Rudomin et al., 1983; Alstermark et al., 1984; Rudomin et al., 1986). Two major centrifugal systems facilitate extensor motoneurons. The first is the reticulospinal pathway from the diencephalon to the medulla projecting bilaterally in the lateral funiculus (Eccles and Lundberg, 1958; Engberg et al., 1968). The second is the vestibulo-spinal tract from Dieter's nucleus descending ipsilaterally in the ventral funiculus (Hongo et al., 1969, Grillner et al., 1970). Counterbalancing these facilitatory effects is inhibitory output from the extrapyramidal cerebral cortex, the striatum, the ventromedial reticular formation and the anterior lobe of the cerebellum (Baldissera et al., 1981). This influence is channelled through the reticular inhibitory system, predominantly in the ipsilateral ventrolateral funiculus of the spinal cord (Lawrence and Kuypers, 1965; Goldberger, 1969; Kuypers, 1974). Another major output from the motor

٠.

cortex descends in the crossed lateral and uncrossed ventral corticospinal or pyramidal tracts. Excitatory and inhibitory effects of pyramidal tract stimulation on monosynaptic reflexes have been reported in a number of animal preparations (Preston et al., 1967; Gilman et al., 1971; Feldman and Orlovsky, 1972; Hultborn et al., 1976c; Chapman and Wiesendanger, 1982a; Kerfer and Kalil, 1989). Pyramidal tract stimulation has been found to suppress monosynaptic reflexes in the cat (Preston et al., 1967; Hultborn et al., 1976c) and in *in vitro* hamster preparations (Keifer and Kalil, 1989). In the monkey, however, both facilitatory and inhibitory influences on stretch reflexes have been reported (Gilman et al., 1971; Chapman and Wiesendanger, 1982a).

Interruptions of descending pathways at the level of the brainstem or spinal cord upsets the balance of the descending control of muscle tone. Thus, in hemiplegia, hypertonia can partly be explained by the interruption of the inhibitory extrapyramidal pathways (Tasker et al., 1975). This would result in a release of stretch reflex activity from normal inhibitory control together with a net increase in descending excitation to segmental interneurons (Chapman and Wiesendanger, 1982b).

2. Physiological Basis of Spasticity

ł

7

Both non-neural and neural factors may contribute to the hypertonia and hyperreflexia in spasticity. It is well established that changes occur in extrafusal muscle fibres following central nervous system lesions (Edstrom, 1970). In at least one report, it has been suggested that non-reflexogenic factors such as motor unit changes, may contribute to the hypertonia associated with locomotion (Dietz and Berger, 1983). These changes will be discussed in detail below in relation to voluntary movement. Neural factors such as enhanced spinal stretch reflexes are thought to contribute to hypertonia. Furthermore, the magnitude of short-latency stretch reflexes is found to be broadly correlated with the severity of spasticity (here defined as resistance to passive movement) in the wrist (Cody et al., 1987) and the ankle (Berardelli et al., 1983). The mechanisms underlying the hyperreflexia of spasticity are complex and more than likely involve a combination of pathological processes.

١

Enhanced and irradiating reflexes may result from altered segmental afferent input to propriospinal reflex circuitry or from abnormal processing of otherwise normal input from the periphery. To date however, there is no evidence indicating abnormally increased activity in cutaneous or muscular afferents in spasticity. Alternatively abnormal processing may result from altered central drive increasing 'gamma' and/or 'alpha' motoneuronal excitability (Foerster, 1927; Granit, 1955). However, given the formidable convergence on Ia interneurons and alpha motoneurons from descending pathways and from segmental and heterosegmental afferents (Hultborn et al., 1976a,b,c; Baldissera et al., 1981; Alstermark et al., 1984; Rudomin et al., 1986), other possibilities may also be considered. These include alterations in presynaptic, reciprocal and/or recurrent inhibition, changes in reflex thresholds and plastic changes in the central nervous system as a result of lesions. Each of these possible contributing factors will be discussed below.

(i) Gamma Motoneuronal Hyperexcitability

A quick stretch of the intrafusal muscle fibres excites primary (Ia) spindle afferents. These, in turn, have strong monosynaptic excitatory connections to homonymous alpha motoneurons in the ventral horn of the spinal cord. The result is a short latency contraction of the extrafusal muscle fibres (Liddell and Sherrington, 1924). One way to enhance alpha motoneuronal responsiveness would be to increase gamma motoneuronal drive, thus increasing the sensitivity of the Ia afferents (Granit, 1955). The hypothesis of enhanced gamma bias was supported by findings that 'selective' block of gamma efferents led to a reduction in spasticity and rigidity in the decerebrate cat (Matthews and Rushworth, 1957) and in man (Rushworth, 1960). Spasticity was therefore attributed to a selective disorder of dynamic fusimotor neurons and rigidity to a selective disorder of static fusimotor neurons (Jansen and Matthews, 1962; Rushworth, 1964; Dietrichson, 1971, 1973).

Several lines of evidence have put the hypothesis of enhanced gamma motoneuronal excitability in doubt. Firstly, this mechanism was implicated as the major contributor to spasticity since decreases in muscle tone were observed after 'selective' blockade of

fusimotor efferents by the injection of local anaesthetic (Rushworth, 1960). However, these findings should be interpreted with caution, since Burke (1983) has pointed out that injection of local anaesthetic into or around a motor nerve may not selectively block gamma motoneurons, especially in man Furthermore, similar studies attempting to block fusimotor activity using intrathecal and epidural injections of local anaesthetic or tibial nerve block did not alter spasticity (Landau et al., 1960, Gassel and Diamantopoulos, 1964) Secondly, direct spindle recordings from spastic hemiplegic monkeys indicated that spindle sensitivity decreased during the period of hypotonia but never increased to a level greater than normal even after the development of spasticity (Gilman et al., 1974). The advent of microneurographic recordings offered a more reliable and direct method of assessing spindle changes in man in the only study comparing a small number of spastic (n=2) with normal subjects (n=8), Hagbarth et al (1973) recorded from single la afferents in the medial gastrocnemius nerve They revealed no excessive spindle activity during dynamic and static stretch in triceps surae. On the other hand, Szumski et al. (1974) found a decreased latency of spindle responses during the relaxation phase of contractions induced by manual tendon taps during voluntary reinforcement (Jendrassik manoeuvre) in spastic patients. However, this heightened spindle activity at the onset of the tap and during relaxation of the reflex induced twitch, was qualitatively not different from that evoked in normal subjects at rest (Szumski et al., 1974) or during the Jendrassik manoeuvre (Hagbarth et al, 1975), although the responses were highly variable. Thus, equivocal evidence suggests that in spastic muscles at rest, spindle responses are not different from normal. Nonetheless, in the absence of spindle recordings from actively contracting spastic muscles, it would be premature to conclude that hyperreflexia is not the result of enhanced gamma motoneuronal activity. The bulk of the evidence to date, however, leads to reservations about this hypothesis.

(ii) Alpha Motoneuronal Hyperexcitability

Alpha motoneuronal hyperexcitability can result from an increased net descending excitatory drive due to the interruption of supraspinal pathways. To investigate this possibility,

Matthews (1959) analyzed the size of the tonic stretch reflex in the decerebrate cat He described a family of tension-length curves in the soleus muscle elicited by a variety of segmental reflexes with and without paralysis of gamma motoneurons. He found that only the threshold of the stretch reflex changed while the slope of the tension-length relationship did not. Investigating the same question, Feldman and Orlovsky (1972) examined the effects of stimulation of various supraspinal structures (Dieter's nucleus, pyramidal tract, medial medullary reticular formation) in unanesthetized intercollicularly decerebrated cats. They found that continuous stimulation (70 Hz) of Deiter's nucleus, which is excitatory to hindlimb extensors, resulted in a shift of the tension-length curve to the left, i.e. initial tension developed at a shorter muscle length. This suggested a lowering of the stretch reflex threshold. Combining the excitatory input (Dieter's nucleus stimulation) with that of different descending inhibitory systems resulted in a decrease of the stretch reflex threshold, but did not change the slope (reflex gain or stiffness) of the relationship. Similar results were obtained from the hindlimb flexors. These findings suggested that an increased excitatory drive could lower the motoneuronal threshold, resulting in the their earlier activation for the same afferent input. Theoretically, such a shift in motoneuronal excitability may also be manifested in lowered stretch reflex thresholds (Feldman, 1966, 1986) and could account for all of the findings of hyperreflexia and hypertonia associated with spasticity. The decrease in stretch reflex threshold is illustrated schematically in Fig. 1 The normal torque-angle relationship is shown by the thick solid line. Spasticity could arise from 1) a reduction in the stretch reflex threshold indicated by the thin solid line labelled Lt, 2) an increase in joint stiffness depicted by the dotted line, S; or 3) a combination of both disturbances, shown in the dashed curve Lt,S. Recent empirical evidence has lent support to this hypothesis (Lee et al., 1987; Powers et al., 1988, 1989). In a series of experiments on spastic elbow flexor muscles in hemiparetic subjects, stretch reflex thresholds were lowered while reflex gains were not different from normal (Powers et al, 1988, 1989). Thus, Powers et al (1988) found a negative linear relationship between the evoked elbow torque and the threshold angle of EMG activity, measured during stretch of the elbow flexors at 0.5 radians/sec. There was no



Fig. 1. The torque-angle relationship for eliciting the stretch reflex. The normal relationship is shown by the thick solid line. The theoretical changes in spasticity are depicted as a shift in stretch reflex thresholds (line Lt), an increase in joint stiffness (line S), or a combination of both (Lt,S).

Ţ

systematic relation between stiffness and threshold angle Furthermore, when threshold influences were eliminated by requiring all subjects to generate a low level of active torque prior to stretch (thereby bringing most moton-eurons above their threshold levels), they found a considerable overlap in the average dynamic and static stretch-evoked torque and EMG activity between spastic and normal subjects. This suggested that reflex gain was not enhanced in spasticity (Powers et al., 1988, 1989). Reflex threshold changes were also found to be correlated with the severity of clinical spasticity, although the calculated correlation coefficient was not reported. Thus, alpha motoneuronal excitability, as reflected by stretch reflex threshold levels, appears to be increased in spasticity However, the physiological mechanisms mediating this enhancement are, as yet, unclear

(iii) Presynaptic Inhibition

Excitability of the monosynaptic stretch reflex (MSR) is thought to be subject to presynaptic inhibition exerted via an axo-axonic synapse between an interneuron and an la afferent terminal prior to the latter's projection to the alpha motoneuron. The interneuron depolarizes the la afferent terminal, thereby reducing the amount of transmitter released by an impulse in this axon (Eccles, 1964). Axo-axonic GABAergic presynaptic contacts have been demonstrated by electron microscopy between la and lb primary afferent fibres in Clarke's column (Walmsley et al., 1987), and on group la boutons in the motor nuclei of the cat (Curtis and Lodge, 1982; Fyffe and Light, 1984).

The presynaptic hypothesis is based on three types of observations in animals: 1) Conditioning volleys in the flexor nerve reduce the size of the monosynaptic excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) in extensor motoneurons without changing the properties of the postsynaptic membrane (Eccles et al., 1961, 1962; Eide et al., 1968). 2) There exists a close relationship between the magnitude and time course of the inhibition, and the depolarization of the primary afferent (PAD) terminals (Eccles, 1964; Rudomin et al., 1983; Brink et al., 1984). 3) Depolarization of the presynaptic fibres during PAD reduces the presynaptic spike responsible for transmitter release (Eccles et al., 1962; Hubbard and Willis, 1962; Llinas, 1968).

Based on latency calculations, the presynaptic pathway is presumed to consist of a minimum of two interneurons, first proposed by Eccles et al. (1961), and later identified by intra-axonal recordings and dorsal root potentials (Jankowska et al., 1981) Interneurons mediating PAD of cutaneous and group I muscular afferents have been located in separate laminae of the cat spinal cord (Jankowska et al., 1981). The relative effectiveness of pathways mediating PAD related to flexors and extensor muscles appears to be selectively controlled by peripheral and descending influences on these different last-order interneurons (Lundberg, 1964; Rudomin et al., 1983, 1986; Brink et al., 1984, Jimenez et al., 1988) For example, the low-threshold afferent evoked PAD from flexors to extensors in the cat may be differentially controlled by volleys in cutaneous nerves, stimulation of the ipsilateral reticular formation, the contralateral red nucleus or pyramidal tracts (Rudomin et al., 1983, 1986) Furthermore, spatial facilitation from various combinations of flexor and extensor la afferents produced larger dorsal root potentials than stimulation of either afferents alone (Brink et al, 1984). Similar convergence was demonstrated between flexor and extensor lb, as well as flexor la and lb, but not between extensor la and lb afferents (Brink et al., 1984) That presynaptic control has been found to be mediated at the interneuronal level is not surprising, given the extensive convergence of peripheral and descending pathways onto common interneurons located in laminae III - VII of the spinal cord (Lundberg, 1964; Baldiserra et al, 1981, Rudomin et al., 1981, 1983; Brink et al., 1984)

Early investigations of presynaptic inhibition focused on the identification of PAD pathways mediated by la afferent fibres selectively activated by electrical stimulation. Subsequently, longitudinal low-amplitude, high-frequency vibration was found to be a powerful natural stimulus for the selective activation of primary muscle spindle endings in the cat (Brown et al., 1967, Gillies et al., 1969; Barnes and Pompeiano, 1970a). This was based on findings that vibration activated primary endings without significantly increasing the mean firing frequency of secondary spindle endings or Golgi tendon organs (Brown et al., 1967). In addition, inhibition of the MSR in the decerebrate cat was correlated with the appearance of

10

PAD and dorsal root potentials (Barnes and Pompeiano, 1970a,b) The vibration evoked inhibition was unaffected by removal of the skin or by section of the ventral roots, ruling out its mediation by cutaneous afferents or other muscular afferents activated by muscle contraction (Gillies et al., 1969) In these initial studies, it was further noted that, while monosynaptic reflexes of extensors could be inhibited by vibration of flexors, they were facilitated by vibration of extensor synergists (Barnes and Pompeiano, 1970a,b) This suggested a differential control over presynaptic inhibitory pathways to flexors and extensor motoneurons

In man, there is only indirect evidence for presynaptic inhibition evoked by muscle or tendon vibration. In contrast to the cat, a 2 mm amplitude vibratory stimulus of between 80-100 Hz applied to the homonymous Achilles tendon, was found to decrease the amplitude of soleus tendon jerks and H reflexes (DeGail et al., 1966, Rushworth and Young, 1966, Marsden et al., 1969, Desmedt and Godaux, 1978). The inhibition is not fully developed until 100 msec after vibration begins and may outlast it by several seconds (Somerville and Ashby, 1978), even though spindle responses are immediate (Burke et al., 1976). These findings suggested a central mechanism mediating the inhibition which may act at the segmental level, since the effect was still present in spinal cord injured subjects.

In contrast to longitudinal vibration in the cat, perpendicularly applied vibration in man may be less selective for primary afferent fibers in the intact limb. Using microelectrode recordings, Burke et al. (1976) showed that 1.5 mm amplitude vibration between 20 and 220 Hz activated spindle primary and secondary endings as well as Golgi tendon organs and Pacinian receptors. The relative selectivity of the stimulus for primary afferent excitation appears to be related to the frequency and amplitude of vibration. Primary endings have been found to be much more sensitive than Golgi tendon organs or secondary endings to low-amplitude vibration (0.2 to 0.5 mm) in non-contracting muscles, the latter being relatively unresponsive (Roll et al., 1989). In addition, using either high- or low-amplitude vibration, primary endings were capable of following higher frequencies (up to 100 Hz) than secondary endings (Burke et al., 1976; Roll et al., 1989). These findings suggested that in man, a

relative stimulus for primary spindle endings consists of low-amplitude, high-frequency vibration.

In a further attempt to identify the mechanisms responsible for presynaptic inhibition, Ashby et al (1987) found that vibration applied to the homonymous muscle or tendon reduced the facilitation of voluntarily activated single motor units from low-threshold muscular but not cutaneous afferents. Vibration alone however, did not alter the firing probability of soleus motor units, suggesting that the mechanism of the depression was likely to be presynaptic. However, in that study, spindle primary endings may not have been the dominant receptors activated. This is suggested since the investigators used a large amplitude of vibration (6 mm), which is likely to stimulate more than just the primary afferents (Burke et al., 1976) Secondly, a significant contribution from lb afferents cannot be ruled out, since the response to vibration has been found to increase greatly during contraction of the receptor bearing muscle (Roll et al., 1989). Furthermore, the inhibition of the MSR may be enhanced by the spread of vibration to antagonist muscles. For example, Dindar and Verrier (1975) found that the inhibition of the soleus MSR was decreased in man, when the Achilles tendon was vibrated during a complete block of the peroneal nerve innervating the muscles of the anterior compartment of the leg. This suggested that the inhibition was enhanced by the activation of receptors in the antagonistic flexor muscles

Thus, presynaptic inhibition may not be the only mechanism which contributes to the depression of monosynaptic reflexes during vibration in man. In fact, during prolonged vibration, other contributory factors may include refractoriness of the la fibres (Hagbarth, 1973), transmitter depletion of the la terminals (Katz et al., 1977), and postsynaptic non-reciprocal group I inhibition (la mediated lb inhibition; Fetz et al., 1979). In other words, although the inhibition of the MSR evoked by vibration may in part be due to a presynaptic mechanism mediated by the activation of la afferents, additional contributions could originate from postsynaptic and reciprocal inhibition, as well as from mechanisms mediated by the activation of other muscular and cutaneous afferents.

An intriguing finding is that the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex, expressed as a percentage of the control H reflex response (Hvib/H), is altered in patients with spasticity (Gillies et al., 1969, Burke and Ashby, 1972, Delwaide, 1973, Ashby and Verrier, 1975, 1976) More specifically, the Hvib/H ratios were found to be higher ($64.3 \pm S.D.12.6\%$, Ashby and Verrier, 1976, $83.2 \pm 20.6\%$ Hale and Chan, 1986a) in chronic hemiplegic spasticity than in normals (41.5%, Ashby and Verrier, 1976, $44.6 \pm 32.4\%$ Hale and Chan, 1986a). Based on the mechanisms reviewed above, an increase in the Hvib/H ratio may partly result from a reduction in presynaptic inhibition. Furthermore, diazepam, which has been found to increase presynaptic inhibition in animals (Stratton and Barnes, 1971), decreased Hvib/H ratios in spastic man (Delwaide, 1971, 1985). Consequently, indirect evidence suggests that reduced presynaptic inhibition, demonstrated by increased Hvib/H ratios and the response to diazepam, may be one factor contributing to spasticity in man.

(iv) Plastic Changes

Following lesions in the central nervous system, new or altered synaptic connectivity may occur due to plastic changes. As early as 1911, Cajal presciently suggested 'na' prolonged morphological and physiological changes in synaptic connections between nerve cells could occur. Subsequently, plasticity has been defined as any persistent change in the functional properties of single neurons or neuronal aggregates (Tsukahara, 1981) This section will focus on the plastic mechanisms which may contribute to the development of spasticity.

Plastic changes associated with CNS lesions include altered effectiveness of synaptic usage due to 'unmasking' of latent synapses, release of transmission in existing reflex pathways, denervation supersensitivity and/or collateral sprouting resulting in the formation of new synapses. Each of these mechanisms may contribute to the development of spasticity Unmasking and release may occur immediately following CNS lesions, while denervation supersensitivity and sprouting appear within several days to weeks (Mendell, 1984)

Unmasking. Within several hours of spinal cord transection in the intact anesthetized cat, the population of motoneurons in the medial gastrocnemius responding to single la fibre stimulation increased from 80% to 99% (Nelson et al., 1979; Nelson and Mendell, 1979) These authors also reported an increase in EPSP amplitude that took hours to develop but returned to normal 5 days after transection. The short time course of these changes in projection frequency and EPSP amplitude suggested the activation of already existing but previously 'masked' synapses. This mechanism could also explain the early finding of recovery of diaphragm paralysis due to cervical hemisection in the dog following transection of the contralateral phrenic nerve (Porter, 1895). This recovery may have resulted from the activation of a weak, normally ineffective, crossed descending pathway, caused by the sudden increase in respiratory drive. Unmasking may also have been the mechanism responsible for the immediate increase observed in reflex function following acute spinal transection in the cat (Wall, 1967; Mendell, 1972). Thus, unmasking appears to be a likely mechanism for immediate changes in reflex function which may contribute to spasticity. However, alterations in non-neuronal humoral mechanisms may also have contributed to these effects (Wall, 1988).

Release of Transmission in Reflex Pathways. There is also much evidence for 'switching' or release of transmission in reflex pathways following CNS lesions. This may result in changes in the adequate stimulus for evoking some reflex behaviour. For example, the normal pathway for bladder emptying in the cat consists of a spino-bulbospinal reflex initiated by a proprioceptive stimulus (distension). Following spinal transection interrupting this reflex arc, bladder emptying recovers but the pathway becomes a segmental one mediated by a cutaneous stimulation (Thor et al., 1986). Another example of reflex switching derives from flexor reflex afferent pathways (FRA). These afferents share a common polysynaptic reflex pathway which serves to predominantly facilitate the flexor and inhibit the extensor

14

ł

motoneurons. However, transmission in these FRA pathways is under differential supraspinal control (Holmqvist and Lundberg, 1961; Baldissera et al., 1981). It is suppressed by descending monoaminergic and non-monoaminergic dorsal reticulospinal systems, and facilitated by the corticospinal and rubrospinal tracts. Lesions in the inhibitory dorsal reticulospinal tract and the pyramidal tract may 'release' the FRA from supraspinal control. The relative degree to which the balance between inhibitory and facilitatory descending control is upset by supraspinal lesions may contribute to the appearance of either flexor or extensor hypertonicity. Thus, the release from descending control may explain either the enhanced flexor tone reported in spinal spasticity (Kugelberg, 1962, Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1968, Young, 1973), or the excessive extensor spasticity following brain lesions (Bobath, 1978).

Denervation Supersensitivity Denervation supersensitivity may result from changes in the physiology or morphology of presynaptic boutons responsible for neurotransmitter release or of postsynaptic receptors mediating transmitter action. While several studies have demonstrated increased sensitivity to neurotransmitters following CNS lesions, conclusive evidence for either a presynaptic or postsynaptic locus of this effect is lacking. Following lesions of the serotonergic and catecholeaminergic pathways in the rat spinal cord, the terminals of the descending fibres disappeared from the ventral horn. This degenerative process developed during the initial two weeks following injury and was accompanied by an increased sensitivity to neurochemical agents such as the noradrenergic agonist, clonidine (Nyaren et al., 1974). Similarly, in the first few days after spinal cord transection in the rat, an increased spontaneous hindlimb EMG activity was observed following the administration of 5-hydroxytryptophan. This sensitivity progressively increased by up to 1000% during the subsequent 30 days (Bedard et al., 1979). This suggested an enhanced sensitivity of serotonergic receptors. More direct evidence for a postsynaptic locus of denervation supersensitivity may be derived from binding studies. Nakata et al (1979) investigated the binding of ³H-labeled substance P in deafferented rabbit spinal cord. They demonstrated an increased number of receptor sites while the affinity of these sites for substance P was unchanged

Denervation supersensitivity is a mechanism which has a similar time course as sprouting and may very well contribute to the development of spasticity

á

5

Sprouting. In the peripheral nervous systems, after partial transection of a motor nerve, collateral sprouts of intact motor fibres can reinnervate the deafferented muscle and re-establish functional connections (Edds, 1953; Brown and Ironton, 1987). Sprouting also occurs in the CNS, but it is far less prolific in the adult than in the neonate, and is restricted to specific neuronal pathways. For example, after destruction of the nucleus gracilis, the number of cells responding to forelimb stimulation in the ventral posterior lateral nucleus of the rat thalamus expanded to occupy almost 60% of the area previously representing the hindlimb (Wall and Egger, 1971). Sprouting has been described in noradrenergic bulbospinal (Bjorklund et al., 1971) and corticospinal fibres (Kalil and Reh, 1978) It is present in the hippocampus, the thalamus (Wall and Egger, 1971), the red nucleus (Tsukahara, 1981; Nieoullon and Dusticier, 1983), and the cerebral cortex (Purpura, 1961; Tsukahara, 1981) Sprouting has not been demonstrated in sensory relay nuclei such as spinal trigeminal nuclei (Kerr, 1972), nor in the rubrospinal fibres (Castro, 1978).

Evidence for sprouting may be derived anatomically, physiologically and functionally An increase in the number of afferent fibres on the affected side of the hemisected cord was originally demonstrated by light microscopy in adult rats, cats and primates (Liu and Chambers, 1958; McCouch et al., 1958). The finding of an increased density of dorsal root projections was later confirmed in cats (Murray and Goldberger, 1974) but not in rats (Malmsten, 1983; Rodin and Kruger, 1984), indicating some species differences. The original morphological evidence for sprouting awaited the development of higher resolution techniques for confirmation. Thus, it was found by electron microscopy that, in the rat septum, the sprouting axons made apparently functional morphological connections with vacated synaptic sites after interruption of fimbrial fibres (Raisman and Field, 1973). There is also some evidence for sprouting of the interrupted descending terminals following cord lesions (Prendergast and Misantone, 1980). That the new connections made in the spinal cord may be functional has been demonstrated by an increase in the size of the cord dorsum potential (McCouch et al., 1958; Mendell et al., 1978), or an increase in the amplitude of the EPSP (Nelson and Mendell, 1979) associated with morphological evidence for sprouting

The slow time course of sprouting may be consistent with the gradual recovery of function simultaneously with the development of spasticity. There are however, disagreements in the actual time course of sprouting between species and between different parts of the CNS. The rise in synaptic contacts in the rat septum occurred at most at once following fimbrial lesions and reached completion by one month (Raisman and Field, 1973). In the dorsal horn, however, the increased fibre count following midthoracic hemisections in the cat appeared only after a period of 2 weeks (McCouch et al., 1958) This is similar to the time course of recovery of motor function following spinal transection (Goldberger and Murray, 1978), although a degree of variability has been reported. Some investigators noted the return of a certain level of motor control over a 4 to 21 day period (Hultborn and Malmsten, 1983), while others, only after a minimum of 2 weeks (Murray and Goldberger, 1974) The latter and not the former time course coincides with the time course of sprouting in several brain and spinal cord structures (Tsukahara, 1981) In contrast, the increase in segmental reflex excitability may precede the return of motor function Enhancement of spinal reflexes has been alternatively reported after periods of hours to days (Hultborn and Malmsten, 1983), and up to two weeks (Murray and Goldberger, 1974) following spinal hemisection or transection in the cat. On the other hand, polysynaptic reflexes (e.g. crossed extensor reflexes) were found to increase only after 7 days in the transected, hemi-dealferented cat. This increase appeared to be correlated with an increased dorsal root projection (Murray and Goldberger, 1974; Goldberger and Murray, 1974), suggesting a sprouting mechanism

From the findings to date, therefore, it seems likely that the gradual development of spasticity may be related to sprouting mediating some recovery of motor function and of polysynaptic reflexes rather than the mere return of segmental reflex activity.

17

(v) Other Mechanisms

In spasticity, other reflex pathways also undergo characteristic changes. Reciprocal inhibition mediated by a disynaptic pathway via the la inhibitory interneuron is altered. For example, in the lower limb of herniplegic subjects, reciprocal inhibition from spastic ankle extensors to pre-tibial flexors is enhanced. This mechanism may contribute to the marked weakness in the latter muscle group (Yanagisawa et al., 1976, Tanaka, 1983). In the upper limb, Day et al. (1987) and Nakashima et al. (1989) used radial nerve conditioning of spastic wrist flexor H reflexes, to show that disynaptic reciprocal inhibition from extensors to spastic flexors of the forearm is reduced.

Recurrent (Renshaw) inhibition may also be altered in spasticity. Renshaw cells are small interneurons in the ventromedial horn of the spinal cord. They are monosynaptically excited by axonal recurrent collaterals and form inhibitory synapses with neighbouring motoneurons (Renshaw, 1941). One of the functions of Renshaw inhibition may be to limit the firing frequency of motoneurons and confine activity to a specified motoneuronal pool (Veale et al., 1973). In addition to their direct inhibitory effects on other motoneurons, Renshaw cells inhibit la inhibitory interneurons (Hultborn et al., 1971). This may cause an indirect disinhibition of the antagonistic motoneurons. Katz and Pierrot-Deseilligny (1982) compared the presumed Renshaw inhibition of conditioned M responses at rest and during voluntary activation between normal and spastic subjects. They used a complex methodology involving the conditioning of maximal M responses with a preceding H reflex stimulus timed to block the test motoneuronal antidromic volley. There was no evidence for a decrease in the excitability of Renshaw cells in spastic patients at rest, suggesting that a lack of recurrent inhibition may not contribute to hypertonicity. However, in contrast to normal subjects, Renshaw inhibition was absent during postural and voluntary contractions. Thus, although probably not contributing to the development of spasticity per se, altered recurrent inhibition may contribute to changes in voluntary muscular activation in patients with spasticity.

In summary, central projections to la inhibitory interneurons and Renshaw cells may

be disturbed following central nervous system lesions. These alterations in the descending control of reflex pathways may contribute to the development of spasticity.

(vi) Non-reflexogenic Contributions to Hypertonia

Although spasticity can largely be attributed to changed excitability in reflex pathways, altered mechanical properties and behavior of motor units may also be contributory. Following upper motor neuron lesions, there may be a redistribution in the types of remaining motor units. Mayer et al. (1984) examined the behaviour of individual gastrocnemius motor units via direct motoneuronal recording in chronic spinal cats up to 23 weeks following complete spinal transection. They found that all motor units, including FF (fast-fatiguable) type, exhibited some decreases in force output, mean fibre area, and isometric twitch contraction times. They also found that the proportion of F (int; fast-intermediate) motor units was greater than normal FR (fast, fatigue-resistant) and S (slow-twitch) units were less numerous, while the proportion of FF units did not differ from normal. Histochemical examination revealed similar changes in the corresponding fibre types. In contrast, several studies have reported an equal decrease in the number of motor units of all histochemical types following spinal cord transection in cats and rats (Cope et al, 1986; Eidelberg et al., 1989).

In man, however, different patterns of motor unit changes occur depending on the location of the CNS lesion. In patients with spasticity due to complete spinal cord transection, an equal decrease in fast- and slow-twitch fibres has been reported (Edstrom et al., 1973). In contrast, in hemiparetic patients, Edstrom (1970) found a greater proportion of slow-twitch fibres in antigravity muscles (i.e. ankle plantarflexors, elbow flexors). This was possibly due to a selective atrophy of fast-twitch fibres (McComas et al., 1973). Dietz et al (1986), while unable to demonstrate an altered proportion of motor unit types, similarly reported a selective atrophy in fast-twitch fibres in the gastrocnemius muscles of 4 hemipare-

tic subjects. These few studies in man classified the fibres only into fast or slow types. Thus, the apparent discrepancy between animal and human findings may be attributable to changes in the number of F(int) fibre types, as suggested by Mayer et al. (1984), but this possibility has not yet been investigated in man.

In hemiplegic spasticity, the total number of functioning motor units was found to be decreased on the affected side to 50% of control in extensor digitorum brevis (McComas et al, 1973) and to 57% of control in soleus muscles (Sica and Sanz, 1976) This is consistent with recent results in the rat, indicating significant decreases (approximately 69% of control) in the total number of functioning motor units following bilateral ablation of the motor cortex (Eidelberg et al, 1989). Mean contraction times of the remaining fast-twitch units may also be slower in hemiparetic patients (Young and Mayer, 1982).

Mechanisms which may be responsible for motor unit and muscle fibre changes in spasticity include disuse atrophy (Edstrom et al., 1973, McComas et al., 1973), interconversion between slow- and fast-twitch muscle fibres (Lomo et al., 1980), and trans-synaptic degeneration of motoneurons induced by contical lesions (McComas et al., 1973, Eidelberg et al., 1989).

The changed proportions of motor units may be partially responsible for the increased tone of spastic muscle. From animal experiments, it has been shown that slow-twitch muscle fibres themselves offer a small but slightly greater resistance to stretch than fast-twitch fibres, due to their viscoelastic properties alone (Browne, 1976). The increased proportion of slow-twitch muscle fibres found in spastic muscle could be, therefore, partly responsible for the production of increased muscular tension in spastic hemiplegia. Some support for this hypothesis derives from recent findings of increased Achilles tendon tension during the stance phase of gait (Dietz and Berger, 1983; Berger et al., 1984). Tension was recorded from the Achilles tendon by a laterally attached transducer. Compared to the unaffected side, tension in the tendon was augmented without concomitant increases in triceps surae EMG. The possibility that the increased tension may have been due to decreased co-contraction was ruled out by concomitant tibialis anterior EMG recordings. These findings suggest that

20

changes in tendon characteristics and/or muscle fibre types alone could augment muscle tone, but the extent of this possible contribution is unknown

Although changes in motor unit types and muscle fibres may contribute only a small amount to the increased resistance in spastic muscle, their possible contribution cannot be overlooked. As it will emerge below, alterations in the distribution and characteristics of motor unit types following upper motor neuron lesions may also contribute to problems in voluntary muscle activation.

VOLUNTARY MOTOR FUNCTION

Several abnormalities in muscle activation patterns have been described in patients with spasticity due to central lesions. Qualitative studies have reported an inability to maintain a steady motoneuronal discharge (Kranz, 1981) and, specifically, an impaired control of motor unit frequency (Petaian, 1983). These deficits may contribute to the reported impairment in whole muscle recruitment and termination during various active tasks (Benecke et al., 1983, Schieppati et al., 1985, Hammond et al., 1988b). Hammond and her group (1988b) studied maximal isometric contractions of wrist flexor and extensor muscles in hemiparetic subjects with the use of monopolar needle electromyography. They reported abnormally prolonged recruitment of EMG activity. Earlier termination of EMG activity was attributed to an inability to maintain a prolonged contraction. The duration of contraction in paretic wrist extensor muscles was reduced to half of that obtained in age-matched control subjects (308 sec compared to 5.94 sec for a 6 sec contraction) Although, in general, the ability to maintain prolonged contractions was better in spastic wrist flexors than in paretic extensors, it was nonetheless significantly less than that in controls (approximately 45 sec, Fitts et al, 1989) In a study of spastic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients performing quasi-isometric ankle plantarflexions, the termination of soleus EMG activity was delayed and this was associated with an abnormal facilitation of the soleus H reflex (Schieppati et al., 1985) This finding suggests that an inhibitory mechanism was reduced or absent in these patients. Termination of muscular activity is also abnormally prolonged during rhythmic functional activities in patients with spinal paraparesis. For example, in two separate studies using similar measurement techniques, lower limb extensors and flexors displayed enhanced and prolonged activity during normally quiescent phases of the bicycling and gait cycles (Benecke et al., 1983; Fung and Barbeau, 1989)

Normally, contraction of a muscle group is associated with reciprocal inhibition of its antagonists (Hultborn et al., 1976c). In spastic patients, abnormal co-contraction of agonist and antagonist muscles is frequently observed. However, some of the findings are contradictory and the mechanism(s) are unclear. Abnormal co-contraction in spasticity has been reported during some isolated movements in the upper (Prevo et al., 1982; Hammond et al., 1988a) and lower limb (McLellan, 1977, Knutsson, 1983), and during complex behaviours such as locomotion (Knutsson and Richards, 1979).

Co-contraction, expressed as the ratio of the antagonist to the total (agonist plus antagonist) EMG activity, was reportedly increased during both wrist extension and flexion Co-contraction ratios were 0.30 in spastic compared to 0.07 in normal controls for wrist extension, and 0.08 compared to 0.02 respectively for wrist flexion (Hammond et al., 1988a) Other studies have expressed co-contraction as the ratio of EMG area when the muscle acted as antagonist to its activity when acting as agonist (McLellan, 1977; Prevo et al, 1982). Abnormal co-contraction has also been described during isolated knee flexion and extension movements, and in the stance phase of gait in spinal cord injured (Fung and Barbeau, 1989) and in some hemiparetic subjects (Knutsson and Richards, 1979).

Several mechanisms may contribute to the abnormal motor control in spasticity. The deficit in voluntary motor control following cortical lesions has been partly attributed to alterations in the control of motor units following upper motor neuron lesions as discussed above. In decerebrate, dorsally hemisected cats, for example, the slope of the EMG/force relationship was found to be increased tourfold compared to control (Rymer et al, 1979). The changed relationship was attributed to a fall in the mean motor unit discharge rate so that the force output for each unit was substantially decreased. Thus, the production of a given level of force necessitated the recruitment of a greater number of motor units. These animal

findings were also extended to 17 hemiplegic subjects in whom, at least half had increased EMG/force relationships in spastic biceps-brachialis muscles (Tang and Rymer, 1981). Indeed, functional alterations in motor units may contribute to changes in EMG/force relationships in spastic muscle. However, these changes alone do not adequately explain the abnormalities in recruitment patterns of agonist and antagonistic muscles. Clearly, there are other factors involved.

In this connection, deficits in voluntary control of movement have been attributed to alterations in the organization of segmental reflex activity, such as enhanced stretch reflexes (McLellan, 1977; Knutsson and Martensson, 1980; Corcos et al., 1986), disordered reciprocal inhibition (Yanagisawa et al., 1976), and abnormal descending commands (Feldman, 1986) These possible contributory factors will now be discussed

The evidence that hyperactive reflexes interfere with voluntary movement is contradictory. Part of the controversy may be related to the possibility that the relationship between reflex and motor function may be differentially organized in the upper and lower limbs. For example, Corcos et al. (1986) studied ballistic ankle dorsiflexions in the lower limbs of a mixed group of spastic subjects. Attempts to dorsiflex rapidly were impeded by abnormal antagonist EMG bursts in 3 out of 8 subjects. The abnormal activity appeared to be reflex in origin, since it was velocity dependent and occurred at a latency consistent with stretch reflexes in the calf muscle (50 msec). Furthermore, the antagonist bursts may have contributed to reversals in movement direction evident in the position trace and reported previously by others (Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1967). Evidence to the contrary has been found in the upper limb of spastic subjects. Sahrmann and Norton (1977) reported that isotonic elbow flexion and extension movements were slower and of smaller amplitude in spastic hemiparetic patients compared to normal controls. In these patients, EMG activity in the spastic elbow flexors during isotonic flexion movements was not correlated with hyperactive reflex activity evident in the EMG of the antagonist muscle triceps. This suggested that enhanced reflex activity did not contribute to the movement deficit. Instead, the deficit was associated with limited and prolonged recruitment and delayed termination of agonist contraction as well as

some degree of co-contraction. McLellen et al. (1985) also showed that the disorder in voluntary motor control may not be related to hyperactive stretch reflex activity. Their conclusion was based on the finding that pharmacological amelioration of reflex hyperactivity in the lower limb was not necessarily correlated with improved voluntary movement (Duncan et al., 1976, McLellan, 1977) However, in these studies, the reflex hyperactivity was measured at rest. It is well known that reflexes are modulated differently at rest from that during voluntary movement. In contrast to the resting condition, stretch reflex gains (measured as stiffness) are increased during voluntary movement, at least at low and intermediate force levels up to 50% maximal voluntary contraction in normal subjects (Marsden et al., 1976, Matthews, 1986; Gottlieb et al., 1970, Toft et al. 1989). In spasticity, reflex gains are similarly modified during voluntary effort and do not appear to differ from normal (Lee et al., 1987) Therefore, it is not surprising that a decrease in hyperactive stretch reflexes measured at rest did not result in an improvement in voluntary motor function in spastic subjects. In summary, the contribution of abnormal stretch reflexes to disturbed voluntary motor control in spasticity remains unclear

Along with the possible contribution of increased stretch reflexes, the deficit in voluntary activation in hemiparesis can also be ascribed to a disruption in descending commands. This may be expressed as a disordered supraspinal control of spinal interneurons responsible for reciprocal inhibition (see section (v) on Other Mechanisms), or as an imbalance between descending reciprocal and coactivation commands. Two theories of motor control have emerged, based on early observations of reciprocal activity and coactivation Sherrington's (1909) work suggested that movements were organized in a reciprocal manner Later, Tilney and Pike (1925) proposed that muscular coordination depended primarily on synchronous coactivation of opposing muscle groups. Movements requiring precision or made at high velocities with heavy loads are characterized by some degree of co-contraction (Bouisset and Lestienne, 1974; Patton and Mortensen, 1971). On the other hand, reciprocal patterns of activation are more likely to accompany isometric contractions (Smith, 1981). A coordinated theory of motor control proposed by Feldman (1980a,b), based on these con-
cepts, suggests that movement is organized according to different combinations of reciprocal and/or co-contraction commands originating from higher centres Empirical support for this theory comes from the work in non-human primates. Overlapping regions of the pre-central motor cortex controlling reciprocal and coactivation commands for movements of the wrist, have been demonstrated (Humphrey and Reed, 1983) These control regions functioned independently of somatosensory feedback Similarly, other researchers have found that specific areas of the cortex (Cheney et al., 1982), cerebellum (Smith, 1981) and red nucleus (Cheney and Mewes, 1986) can be selectively activated during upper limb movements requiring reciprocal movement or coactivation. Thus, in man, lesions of the pre-central cortex may result in disturbances of the proposed coordinated system between reciprocal and coactivation commands

In summary, disordered voluntary activation of spastic muscle in hemiplegic subjects may result from altered physiological properties of motor units, decreased stretch reflex thresholds leading to hyperactive and inappropriate stretch reflex activity, and/or disrupted descending commands resulting in increased co-contraction and decreased reciprocal inhibition.

Further research oriented towards a greater understanding of the mechanisms underlying spasticity is still needed. In addition, since spasticity is a complex phenomenon, future studies should incorporate comprehensive and representative measurement

MEASUREMENT OF SPASTICITY

۰,

It seems to be of general consensus that no single measure is a fully adequate descriptor of the changes associated with spasticity. As discussed above, the nature of spasticity is probably multifactorial. The relative contribution of each factor to the clinical manifestation of spasticity has not been clearly elucidated. Due to both the tonic and phasic nature of spasticity, recent investigators favour a barrage of measures, to achieve a composite index of spasticity (Dimitrijevic et al., 1983, Delwaide, 1985). This section will review commonly used clinical and physiological measures

1. Clinical Measures of Spasticity

1

Clinically measured hypertonia is by itself only one manifestation of spasticity, yet it is often used as the sole indication of this complex phenomenon. Muscle tone is measured as the resistance felt by the examiner to passive movement of the limb A widely employed three-point scale rates 1' for mildly, '2' for moderately, and '3' for severely increased tone (Ashworth, 1964) This resistance has been attributed to increased tonic stretch reflex activity. which varies linearly with the velocity of the ramp stretch over a wide range of velocities (80-400°/sec, Burke and Lance, 1973) Stretch reflex responses are also correlated with initial muscle length in the cat (Houk et al, 1981) and in man (Burke et al, 1970) Indeed, direct recordings of primary and secondary spindle afferents during ramp and hold stretches in the cat, revealed that both types of receptors responded to the product of muscle length and velocity of stretch (Houk et al., 1981). Thus, variability in clinical measurement of tone is related to the initial position of the limb being tested (Burke et al., 1970) and the velocity of the passive displacement (Burke and Lance, 1973; Meyer and Adorjani, 1980). Whether or not the velocity of displacement remains constant throughout the movement can be another contributing factor. As well, the position of the subject (Bobath, 1978), his alertness and the environmental conditions in the testing room such as temperature and noise (Stam and Tan, 1987), may also influence the reflex output. Finally, in subjective testing, factors such as the examiner's perception of the resistance being offered to the movement and the total time required for testing may contribute to the low reliability.

Other clinical measures used to assess spasticity include the excitability of tendon reflexes, the presence and severity of clonus, and clasp-knife reflexes. Tendon reflexes, evoked by a rapid stretch of the tendon via a hand-held reflex hammer, are employed clinically to assess the excitability of phasic stretch reflexes. Clinical evaluation consists of estimating the amplitude of the reflex response. This is expressed either qualitatively (i.e. 'sluggish' to 'brisk') or quantitatively via numerical rating scales. The amplitude of this reflex is reported to be proportional to the intensity of tendon percussion for soleus and quadriceps

(Stam and Tan, 1987), but not for biceps brachel (Stam and van Crevel, 1989) In these studies, the intensity of the stimulus was measured by a piezo-electric transducer attached to the hammer, which delivered a signal proportional to its deceleration during the tap. The variability of the responses in soleus or quadriceps was found to be similar when using either a hand-held (coefficient of variation, CV = 17.9% and 25.5% respectively in the two muscles) or a mechanically-driven hammer (CV = 19.3% and 31.7% respectively). Clinical testing, however, should be done using maximal tendon percussion, since the examiner cannot reproduce a constant sub-maximal stimulus intensity.

I

Clonus, a rhythmical (5-8 Hz) self-sustaining muscular contraction, is elicited by a sudden and maintained stretch. Conflicting evidence about the modifiability of clonus due to peripheral factors such as a change in the mass of the foot (Dimitrijevic et al., 1980, Rack et al., 1984) has been reported. In the former study, no change in clonus frequency was found after a weight was added to the foot or an external viscous drag was created. However, the location and effect of the imposed load on the foot was unclear. These made the results difficult to evaluate. In the latter study, the external load was attached to the foot in such a way that the mass was increased, while the velocity of the perturbation evoking the clonus was unchanged. Under these conditions, clonus frequency was reduced to 2.6 Hz with increasing loads. These findings suggest that clonus can be influenced by peripheral factors. Notwithstanding these results, it is generally agreed that clonus is due to a central mechanism such as a self-sustaining oscillation in the stretch reflex pathway (Dimitrijevic et al., 1980; Rack et al., 1984). Clinically, clonus is quantified by numerical scales indicating its presence or absence and the number of clonic beats elicited.

The clasp-knife phenomenon is an example of autogenic inhibition manifested by a steadily increasing resistance to passive stretch of the limb, which suddenly releases after a critical tension is reached (Burke and Lance, 1973). It has been demonstrated in lower limb extensors of the decerebrate cat, and is dependent on muscle length and initial force (Burke et al, 1970; Rymer et al., 1979). Findings in the cat suggest that clasp-knife reflexes are mediated by non-spindle group II, III and IV muscle afferents which are normally inhibited by

27

tonic activity in descending pathways (Rymer et al., 1979). Following upper motor neuron lesions, clasp-knife reflexes may be released from descending inhibitory control (Burke et al., 1972; Rymer et al., 1979). Clinical scales have been used to note the presence or absence of these reflexes.

Other clinical tests evaluate disturbances in voluntary motor activity due to spasticity. The electromyogram can be used to qualitatively analyze motor function in terms of the temporal patterns of muscular activity during functional tasks such as locomotion or bicycling (Knutsson and Richards, 1979). Measures such as functional scales (e.g. Barthel index, Mahoney and Barthel, 1965) are also commonly used. Such measures of overall motor performance are, however, difficult to interpret with respect to the quantification of abnormal muscle tone, as there is usually some degree of paresis or paralysis associated with spasticity.

2. Physiological Measures of Spasticity

÷,

Early studies of spasticity attempted, unsuccessfully, to quantify the separate contributions of reflexogenic and non-reflexogenic factors to abnormal muscle tone. Non-reflexogenic factors are defined as the passive resistance offered by spastic muscles to joint displacement due to muscle rheologic factors (inherent stiffness of muscle fibers) alone (Long et al., 1964; Nashold, 1966; Norton et al., 1972). Only recently has a method been developed to separate the passive properties from the reflex components of the stretch response in man (Sinkjaer et al., 1988), but it has not yet been applied to patients with spasticity.

More reliable approaches use torque- or servo-motor controlled limb displacements. These studies have focused on the quantification of the reflex behaviour of spastic muscles, largely due to exaggerated short and long-latency stretch reflexes (Chan et al., 1979; Gottlieb et al., 1978). Analysis of stretch reflex activity provides information about mono- and polysynaptic segmental and propriospinal pathways. Stretch reflex parameters are changed in hemiplegic spasticity. Thresholds are decreased (Powers et al., 1988), while reflex magnitudes are increased in terms of peak-to-peak amplitude, area and durations (Berardelli et

al., 1983; Hale and Chan, 1986a; Dichgans and Diener, 1987). Although the magnitude of stretch reflexes have been reported to be broadly correlated with the severity of spasticity (Berardelli et al., 1983; Cody et al., 1987), this relationship has not been convincingly quantified and presented. The stretch reflex response is dependent on the initial muscle length (Burke et al., 1970), the velocity of stretch (Burke and Lance, 1973) and the level of background EMG (Powers et al., 1988). Caution should be employed when interpreting changes in stretch reflexes evoked at rest, since the excitability of the population of motoneurons may not be at a uniform level. To avoid this possible source of variability, motoneuronal excitability could be brought to a constant level by requiring the subject to maintain a steady contraction. This, however, would preclude the study of stretch reflex threshold changes. Thus, although stretch reflexes are increased in spasticity, these changes must be interpreted with caution. As well, their relationship to the seventy of clinically measured spasticity is unclear.

Hoffmann (H) reflexes are related to phasic reflex activity and reflect the excitability of the motoneuronal pool via the activation of the presumed monosynaptic stretch reflex arc (Hoffmann, 1918; Schiepatti, 1987). At least the first component of the soleus H reflex is believed to be monosynaptic, but polysynaptic inputs from the activation of group Ib, II, and cutaneous afferents can also influence the waveform and magnitude of the response (Burke, 1983; Burke et al., 1983, 1984). Furthermore, the volley eliciting H reflexes in the calf is not limited to the activation of the afferents in the tibial nerve. It has also been shown to excite afferents from the intrinsic muscles and skin of the foot (Burke et al., 1983). The H reflex in the calf has traditionally been accepted as the electrical equivalent of the Achilles tendon jerk. There are, however, important differences in the ankle is passively dorsiflexed, whereas tendon jerks are enhanced (Burke et al., 1983). In addition, percussion of the Achilles tendon gives rise to a dispersed volley in soleus afferents which can begin 35-7.0 msec following percussion and last up to 30 msec. The percussion wave can spread to synergist and antagonist muscles, as well as the skin (Burke et al., 1983). In contrast, the afferent volley in

÷

response to electrical stimulation is more synchronous and the spread of the current is limited (Burke et al., 1983). Thus, H reflexes and tendon jerks are neither entirely equivalent nor exclusively monosynaptic.

In normal individuals at rest, H reflexes can be evoked consistently in the calf muscles (Magladery and McDougal, 1950), quadriceps (Magladery et al., 1951), masseter (Godaux and Desmedt, 1975), extensor digitorum longus (Deschuytere and Rosselle, 1971) and some of the intrinsic muscles of the hand and foot (Thomas and Lambert, 1960; Upton et al., 1971). Whereas H reflexes have been repeatedly elicited in the tibialis anterior in patients with upper motoneuron lesions (Teasdall et al., 1952; Hohmann and Goodgold, 1961; Mayer and Mawdsley, 1965), they are rarely present in normal adults at rest (Deschuytere and Rosselle, 1971).

H reflex testing is susceptible to a large number of methodological influences. When used alone, they display a wide inter-subject variability and low reliability. Methodological issues contributing to this variability include: electrode placement, the anatomical distribution of sensory and motor fibres in the nerve being stimulated, the amount of subcutaneous tissue (Hugon, 1973; Ashby et al., 1974), and changes in baseline EMG level (Verrier, 1985). Other factors such as attention, affect, and the position of the subject (Paillard, 1955; Mayer and Mawdsley, 1965), as well as the degree of agonist and antagonist contraction or stretch (Magladery et al., 1951; Angel and Hofmann, 1963; Burke et al., 1983), also contribute to the variability of the H reflex amplitude. Therefore, attempts have been made to normalize H reflexes as H/M ratios. The maximal H reflex is expressed as a percentage of the maximal M response thought to represent the activation of the total motoneuronal pool and has been used as a more reliable measure of segmental motoneuronal excitability (Paillard, 1955; Landau and Clare, 1964; Ongerboer de Visser et al., 1989). In hemiplegic spasticity, H/M ratios are increased (Garcia-Mullin and Mayer, 1972; Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Hale and Chan, 1986a) although a large variability in this measure too, has been reported (i.e. 4.4% to 85.5% in 21 chronic hemiplegic patients; Garcia-Mullin and Mayer, 1972). Some studies have also shown a considerable overlap of the values obtained in spastic and normal limbs. Therefore, their use as a measure of motoneuronal excitability has been disputed However, some of this variability may be due to the effects of age on H/M ratios (Delwaide, 1971, Ongerboer de Visser et al., 1989). Both normal and spastic subjects show a significant decline in H/M ratios with increasing age. In normal subjects, H/M ratios reportedly decrease from a mean of approximately 80% at age 25 to 40% at age 75 (Ongerboer de Visser et al., 1989). Thus, aside from methodological considerations, controlling for age should increase the reliability of this measure.

I

The amount of the H reflex inhibition during vibration, expressed as a percentage of its control value (Hvib/Hctl), has been used as an indicator of the amount of presynaptic inhibition of the presumed monosynaptic stretch reflex arc (Gillies et al., 1969). However, some caution is recommended in the interpretation of Hvib/Hctl ratios as a measure of presynaptic inhibition alone (Burke et al., 1976; and see discussion in section (iii) Presynaptic Inhibition). In spastic hemiplegic subjects, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex is reduced compared to normals. This finding is interpreted by some investigators to mean that presynaptic inhibition may be diminished in spasticity (Delwaide, 1971; Burke and Ashby, 1972). Although Hvib/Hctl ratios may be partial indicators of the amount of presynaptic inhibition, they have been found to correlate only poorly with the degree of spasticity (Hayat, 1979).

The above measures describe changes in segmental and plurisegmental reflex pathways during static conditions or at rest. Other physiological measures examining interneuronal pathways include flexor reflexes and H reflex recovery curves, conditioned by homonymous and/or heteronymous afferent input. Not surprisingly, none of these measures of static reflex function correlate very highly with the degree of clinically measured spasticity, possibly reflecting the more dynamic nature of the disorder. Indeed, measures of static reflex function alone provide little information about the extent to which changes in excitability of spinal circuitry affect everyday functional activity. Due to the diverse manifestations of upper motor neuron lesions with spasticity, recent investigators favour the use of multiple indicators which assess clinical, reflex and voluntary function simultaneously (Dimitrijevic et al., 1983, Delwaide, 1985). Attempts to correlate spasticity with functional activity have likewise met with little success. This may be partly due to the heterogeneity of the spastic populations studied and the lack of comprehensive investigations. Some aspects of impaired voluntary motor function in spasticity have already been discussed (see section on Voluntary Motor Function). Here, the studies relating the deficit in voluntary function to the level of spasticity will be reviewed.

One of the features distinguishing the activation of spastic muscles has traditionally been the presence of an abnormal amount of co-contraction. Co-contraction normally occurs during movements requiring precision or made at high velocities with heavy loads (Bouisset and Lestienne, 1974; Patton and Mortensen, 1971). In some patients with spasticity, however, an abnormal degree of co-contraction has been found during both isometric (McLellan and Hazan, 1982) and isotonic movements (McLellan, 1977; Knutsson and Martensson, 1980). McLellan (1977) recorded the electromyograms from the quadriceps and hamstring muscles during active and passive cyclical knee flexion and extension movements. He found that most patients with mild to moderate spasticity showed little or no co-contraction during voluntary movement. Co-contraction was expressed as the area ratio of the EMG recorded when the muscle acted as antagonist to its activity when acting as agonist. Ratios in quadriceps were elevated in all 11 patients with spasticity (mean ratio approximately 48%) compared to normal (17%), but these values were not derived from movement performed at equal velocities. The effects of oral baclofen was contrasted with placebo in 6 patients. Co-contraction ratios were found to decrease in only half of the patients, despite a significant reduction in passive stretch reflexes and spasticity in all six. Thus, although spasticity was decreased, the amelioration did not appear to be related to an improvement in voluntary knee function in all subjects.

Complex behaviours such as bicycling (Benecke et al., 1983) and locomotion (Knutsson and Richards, 1979; Fung and Barbeau, 1989) have also been studied, in an attempt to correlate the degree of spasticity with functional impairment. In one study, three categories of disturbed gait in hemiparetic subjects were classified according to the patterns of movement and muscle activation. The authors found that differential response to therapeu-

32

tic interventions may be related to the type of motor disturbance (Knutsson and Richards, 1979). Using a dynamic index of spasticity, however, Benecke et al. (1983) and Fung and Barbeau (1989) recently reported the opposite finding. The dynamic index, which expressed the ratio of integrated EMG in a pre-determined 'off' window (when EMG is usually silent) of the normalized bicycling or gait cycle, to that in an 'on' window, was sensitive to improvements in spasticity following the administration of diazepam, and cyproheptadine respectively. Furthermore, dynamic indices during bicycling were correlated with the severity of spasticity in 62 spastic patients (Benecke et al., 1983). This index appears promising as a means of evaluating functional improvement during rhythmical movements in spastic patients.

In summary, evaluation of spasticity has traditionally focused on hyperactive monoand polysynaptic reflex activity in the resting state, which addresses only one aspect of this multifaceted phenomenon. Both static and dynamic reflex activity and voluntary muscle activation are clearly disturbed in hemiplegic spasticity. To date, however, only a few studies have correlated these abnormalities with the severity of clinically measured spasticity. The latter would be desirable, especially in establishing the effectiveness of various pharmacologic and physiotherapeutic treatment regimes.

Despite the numerous investigations of reflex and voluntary motor function, the underlying mechanisms of spasticity remain controversial. Some clues may be derived from an understanding of the mechanisms underlying the relief of spasticity by therapeutic intervention.

PROBLEM FORMULATION

It is clear that the phenomenon of spasticity is complex and probably multifactorial. For example, it is characterized by both 'positive' symptoms, such as hyperactive reflexes and co-contraction, and 'negative' ones, such as weakness and loss of dexterity (Burke, 1988). One of the principal problems in understanding spasticity is that, to date, neither the cat nor the primate model adequately reflect the disorder in man. Furthermore, studies of spasticity in man raise other concerns. For example, measures used in the characterization of spasticity range from the properties of motor units to polysynaptic reflexes to rhythmical movements such as gait. Several of these measures are clearly changed in spasticity, and an examination of their deviation from normal provides insights into the underlying mechanisms of the disorder. However, the research in spasticity has also revealed a large variability in responses and, in some cases, contradictory findings. One source of variability may be due to the study of heterogenous patient populations with etiologies ranging from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis to brain tumours, all having some signs of 'spasticity'. However, the pattern of hypertonicity and weakness may vary depending on the site of the lesion.

In spite of the large variability of responses and their often inconsistent correlation with the severity of spasticity, reflex and voluntary measures have, nevertheless, been used to measure the effects of therapeutic interventions on spasticity. However, little attention has been paid to their reproducibility, an issue that is particularly important when assessing the effects of treatment over a period of days or weeks. A brief overview of the treatment of spasticity is given in the next section.

Modifiability of Spasticity

Methods intended to reduce spasticity include pharmacological, surgical and physiotherapeutic treatment. Manipulation of muscular and/or cutaneous peripheral afferent input has been used to retrain motor pathways (Rood, 1956; Bobath, 1978). Indeed, low threshold afferent conditioning has been found to modulate ongoing motoneuronal activity through segmental, propriospinal and/or supraspinal pathways. For example, low-intensity electrical stimulation of the median nerve inhibited the la mediated excitation in oligo-synaptic pathways during voluntary wrist flexion (Malmgren and Pierrot-Deseilligny, 1988a,b). Similarly, low threshold afferent activation by vibration has been shown to augment voluntary power in paretic and normal muscles (Hagbarth and Eklund, 1968). A reduction in spasticity is reported following low-threshold afferent stimulation applied directly over antagonistic muscles (Duchenne, 1855; Levine et al., 1952; Alfieri, 1982; Vodovnik et al., 1984) or remotely over the dorsal columns of the spinal cord (dorsal column stimulation; Nashold and Friedman, 1972; Cook and Weinstein, 1973) An improvement in spasticity and voluntary motor control may also be achieved by a decrease in afferent input, such as a temporary nerve block with local anaesthetic, or local cooling of the spastic muscle (Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1967, Knutsson, 1970b).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain these effects. Firstly, presynaptic inhibition could be involved, given the extensive convergence of descending pathways and of Ia, Ib and cutaneous afferents on common presynaptic inhibitory interneurons (Baldissera et al., 1981; Brink et al., 1984) Furthermore, Foreman et al (1976), studying the inhibitory effects of dorsal column stimulation on spinothalamic tract neurons in anaesthetized monkeys, suggested that it may be acting via a presynaptic inhibitory mechanism. They demonstrated dorsal root potentials concurrently with inhibitory postsynaptic potentials in both high and low threshold spinothalamic tract neurons. If, indeed, presynaptic inhibition is decreased in spasticity (Ashby and Verrier, 1976), then enhancing low-threshold afferent input, as in dorsal column stimulation, may be one way of 'switching on' presynaptic inhibitory mechanisms.

Secondly, plastic changes can account for some of the reported changes in certain cases, the reduction of spasticity by repetitive electrical stimulation appeared to be long-lasting. For example, Alfien (1982) reported that spasticity continued to improve with repeated (5 - 16 daily, 10 min treatments) stimulation of antagonist muscles. Also, the results of dorsal column stimulation suggest that the improvements develop slowly over time and may outlast the period of stimulation (Siegfried et al., 1978). The possibility of the occurrence of plastic changes in reflex pathways is reinforced by several findings of adaptive plasticity in the CNS For example, the vestibulo-ocular reflex, once thought to be 'hard-wired', can be modified following 2-3 weeks of altered vision conditions (Melvill Jones, 1983) Similarly, H reflex amplitudes in monkeys can be altered by 2-3 months of classical conditioning, resulting in what appear to be permanent changes in spinal cord responsivity (Wolpaw, 1987; Wolpaw and Lee, 1989). Finally, plastic mechanisms may be implicated, since the time course of the changes in motor function and spasticity following treatment are consistent with that needed for the development of sprouting in the CNS (Murray and Goldberger, 1974; Hullborn and Malmsten, 1983).

Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), a non-invasive afferent stimulation technique similar to dorsal column stimulation, has also been observed to affect spasticity and voluntary motor control According to clinical reports, TENS reduced subjective spasticity and improved bladder function in multiple sclerosis patients awaiting implantation of dorsal column stimulators (Fredriksen et al., 1986). In leed, TENS may be acting via mechanisms similar to dorsal column stimulation. There is some evidence that TENS may be enhancing presynaptic inhibition. This was suggested by our previous finding of a significant increase in the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex in spastic hemiparetic subjects following nine daily, 30 min TENS applications to the low back (Hale and Chan, 1986b) These findings also suggested the possibility of plastic changes due to the slow time course of the treatment effect. Lastly, TENS may trigger the release of inhibitory neuromodulators. For example, TENS has been reported to release inhibitory neuromodulators or opioids in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood plasma of normal and pain patients (Almay et al., 1985; Salar et al., 1981). Thus, TENS may be acting via an augmentation of presynaptic inhibition, plastic changes, or the release of inhibitory neuromodulators. The latter may account for the delayed onset and prolonged effects observed for pain relief during and following TENS (Fredriksen et al , 1986; Chan and Tsang, 1987).

To date, the few studies investigating TENS do not fully describe its concurrent effects on spasticity, reflex and motor function. Indeed, a more comprehensive approach is needed. Thus, these studies were aimed at elucidating the effects of single (immediate) and repetitive (longer-term) applications of TENS on spasticity, reflex function and motor control in a homogeneous group of hemiparetic subjects. However, before studying the effects of TENS applied over a period of several weeks, preliminary studies were designed to address the problems of the reliability of and correlation between these measures. The first study examined reflex responses and is described in Chapter 2. The purposes of this study were three-fold. The first aim was to compare an aggregate of reflex responses of the lower limb between spastic hemiparetic and normal subjects. These findings should provide insights into

the underlying mechanisms of spasticity by elucidating the possible differences in the organization of segmental reflex pathways. The second goal was to examine the reliability of the reflex measures obtained from the same group of hemiparetic subjects on different days. These results should help to determine which measures could confidently be used to compare the effects of treatment over time, e.g. several weeks. The third goal was to correlate these measures with clinical spasticity to better understand the relationship between the different reflex pathways. The second paper, <u>Chapter 3</u>, examined the same issues with the added dimension of a measure of <u>voluntary function</u> namely, isometric ankle plantarflexion and dorsiflexion in the functional position of standing. This could help to elucidate the relationship between reflex and voluntary pathways in spasticity.

Once the reliability and characteristics of the measures were established, we undertook two further studies to elucidate the modifiability of spasticity in hemiparetic patients, as a result of manipulating somatosensory input. The focus is on the use of low-intensity, high-frequency TENS which has been shown by our previous study to excite large diameter fibres (Levin and Chan, 1988) <u>Chapter 4</u> reports on the third study undertaken to elucidate the influence of one (45 min) application of TENS on hemiparetic spasticity. The goals of this study were three-fold. The first goal was to examine the possible changes in stretch reflex excitability following one application of TENS. The second aim was to map out the time course of these changes. The third objective was to determine the role of segmental versus non-segmental mechanisms involved in mediating these changes.

The final study, described in <u>Chapter 5</u>, examined the effects of longer-term TENS (after 15 daily, 60 min treatments) on spasticity, reflexes and voluntary control in hemiparetic subjects. This study investigated whether repetitive TENS would lead to a reduction in clinical spasticity. A second goal of the study was to discover whether this reduction was associated with a decrease in stretch reflex excitability and an improvement in voluntary motor function.

The last chapter, <u>Chapter 6</u>, provides a summary of the studies and their major findings. In it, the conclusions are reiterated and the contributions to original knowledge are indicated.

37

CHAPTER 2

DISORDERS IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS:

I. CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX RESPONSES.

38

The second second

SUMMARY

1

The underlying pathophysiology of the disturbed reflex functions in spasticity is poorly understood. The present study was thus aimed at elucidating the possible differences in segmental reflex function between spastic and normal states. The second aim was to examine the reliability of these measures in spastic hemiparetic subjects to determine which ones could confidently be used to chart the effects of treatment over time. The third aim was to correlate the possibly altered reflex function with spasticity, in order to delineate clinically meaningful physiological measures. This was achieved by comparing an aggregate of lower limb reflexes between ten spastic hemiparetic and seven normal subjects. Lower limb reflexes examined were H/M ratios, Hvib/Hctl ratios and the soleus stretch reflexes (SR) in terms of latency, area and duration. Our results showed that, firstly, H and SR latencies were shorter (p<0.05), and reflex amplitudes were significantly greater (H/M ratios, p<0.05, SR/M areas, p<0.005) in spastic subjects Secondly, H/M ratios, Hvib/Hctl ratios, SR/M areas and SR onset angles showed high reproducibility. Thirdly, only some physiological measures showed consistent but non-significant relationships with clinical spasticity. The findings of decreased reflex latencies and increased reflex responses in the hemiparetic subjects suggested that the underlying mechanisms of spasticity may be related to reduced reflex thresholds. These physiological measures, together with clinically assessed tone, were both valid and reproducible when the same patients were tested on separate occasions. Therefore, they can be used to evaluate the long-term effects of pharmacological or physiotherapeutic treatment. Results of the correlational study between physiological and clinical measures further indicated that the severity of spasticity may not be fully described by static reflex measures alone

INTRODUCTION

The presence of spasticity is often one of the principal factors affecting the rehabilitation of patients suffering from upper motor neuron lesions, such as cerebrovascular accidents (Waylonis et al., 1973) According to the traditional view, spasticity is due to hyperactivity of the stretch reflex arc manifested by a velocity-dependent increase in toric and phasic stretch reflexes, sometimes accompanied by clonus (Lance, 1980)

The multiple manifestations of this neurological disorder have been measured clinically and neurophysiologically, in order to describe how the integrity of various segmental and plurisegmental pathways may be altered in the spastic state. Indeed, many researchers now agree that no single measure is an adequate descriptor of spasticity. They therefore purport the use of aggregate measures to describe concurrent changes in diverse pathways (Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Dimitrijevic et al., 1983; Delwaide, 1985). For instance, clinical measures could be employed in patient evaluation to assess the resistance to passive displacement of the limb (Ashworth, 1964) and changes in functional activity (e.g. Bobath, 1978). More objective neurophysiological measurements provide quantitative indicators of alterations in segmental pathways (e.g. H reflexes, tendon jerks, stretch reflexes, vibratory inhibition of monosynaptic stretch reflexes; Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1967, Ashby and Verrier, 1976), inter-segmental pathways (e.g. irradiation of stretch reflexes, flexor reflexes, Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1968; Dimitrijevic et al., 1983) and long-loop reflex pathways (e.g. functional stretch reflexes; Chan et al., 1979, Verrier et al., 1984).

Mapping of these reflex changes may provide more insight into the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying spasticity. To elaborate: H reflex and tendon jerk amplitudes are increased with respect to maximal M responses recorded in the spastic muscle. These findings suggest that excitability in the monosynaptic stretch reflex arc is enhanced in hemiplegic spasticity (Angel and Hofmann, 1963; Ashby and Verrier, 1976). This enhanced excitability, according to some microneurographic findings, cannot be attributed to increased muscle spindle activity (Hagbarth et al., 1973, 1975; Burke, 1983; however, Szumski et al., 1974).

Nonetheless, the magnitude of the short-latency stretch reflex and its rate of increase with increasing velocity of stretch was found to be augmented in spasticity (Burke and Lance, 1973, Berardelli et al., 1983; Powers et al., 1989) Another observation was the diminished inhibition of the H reflex amplitude during vibration of spastic muscles. It is thought to reflect reduced presynaptic inhibition on la fibres in the spastic state, though additional contributing factors are recognized (Delwaide, 1971, Burke and Ashby, 1972, Burke et al., 1976) Furthermore, exteroceptive polysynaptic (flexor) reflexes were reported to be altered in spasticity and their irradiation was often observed clinically (Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1968, Dimitrijevic et al., 1983). This can probably be attributed to disrupted descending control of transmission through the flexor reflex afferents (FRA; See review in Chapter 1). Undoubtedly, certain reflex measures are changed in spasticity when compared to normal controls. Yet, a comprehensive neurophysiological profile, based on concurrent measures of activity in various pathways has yet to emerge. Evaluation of concurrent changes may give us better insights into the pathophysiology of spasticity. This became the first objective of the present study.

The reproducibility of these measures is an important issue, especially when they are used to assess the results of a given treatment over a period of weeks or months. In a preliminary study, we examined the reproducibility of clinical spasticity scores and H reflex measures, on two separate occasions, in a small group of hemiparetic and normal subjects (n=3 each; Hale, 1987). Spasticity scores, H/M ratios, and the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex (Hvib/Hctl) showed very high inter-session consistency with r=0.9, 1.0 and 1.0 respectively. The second goal of this study was to extend these findings to a larger population.

It appears, however, that isolated reflex measures do not adequately reflect the <u>severity</u> of clinically measured spasticity. Indeed, rather poor correlations have been reported to date, between clinical measures of tone and the magnitude of stretch reflexes. For example, in a series of 84 spastic patients, Delwaide (1985) failed to find a systematic relationship between clinically measured spasticity (Ashworth scale) and physiological measures of myotatic reflex arc excitability (H/M ratio, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex, and

H reflex recovery at 100 ms). The amplitude of the stretch reflex in the wrist (Cody et al., 1987) and ankle (Berardelli et al., 1983) were reported to be correlated with tone. However, as pointed out by Cody et al. (1987), there was considerable intersubject variability and important exceptions, which further complicated meaningful interpretation of these findings. Thus, the third goal of the study was to correlate the activity in various reflex pathways with the severity of clinically measured spasticity.

To reiterate, the objectives of our study were three-fold. The first aim was to compare an aggregate of lower limb reflex responses between spastic hemiparetic subjects and normal age-matched controls. These findings should provide insights into possible differences in the organization of segmental reflex pathways between spastic and normal states. Our second aim was to examine the reproducibility of these reflex measures obtained in the same group of hemispastic subjects on different days. The results should help to determine which measures could confidently be used to examine the effects of treatment over time, e.g. several weeks. The third aim was to correlate the reflex activities with clinically measured spasticity, in order to delineate clinically meaningful physiological measures. A companion paper focuses on these same issues with regard to reflex and voluntary motor function in the lower extremity of a similar group of spastic hemiparetic patients. Some of these data have previously been published in abstract form (Levin and Chan, 1989).

METHODS

SUBJECTS

Ten patients with spastic hemiparesis (mean age = $56.2 \pm S.D. 13.5$ years) and 7 age-rnatched normal subjects (mean = 63.0 ± 14.7 years) participated voluntarily in the study. Of the normal subjects, three were female and four were male. All patients had spasticity in the lower extremity, a minimum of 10° of passive ankle dorsiflexion, no history of a previous stroke or other neurological disorder, no pain in the lower extremity, and no major

sensory impairment. They were ambulatory, and followed a stable pharmacological regime where applicable. Subjects were advised as to the nature of their participation and gave their informed consent.

Demographic data for the hemiparetic and normal subjects are presented in Table I together with separate scores of the three clinical measures of spasticity and their "spasticity scores" (by simple addition). The three clinical measures were measured while subjects were comfortably seated. They were recorded in the following manner: 1) <u>Achilles tendon jerks</u> were scored using a widely applied 5-point scale, where '0' denoted 'no response' and '4' indicated 'maximally hyperactive response'. 2) <u>Resistance to full-range passive ankle dorsiflexion</u> at a moderate speed was scored on a modified 5-point Ashworth Scale (Ashworth, 1964). Since this measure most closely represents 'tone' (Berardelli et al., 1983), it was doubly weighted. Thus, a score of '0' indicated 'no resistance', and a score of '8' corresponded to 'maximally increased resistance'. 3) <u>Clonus</u> was scored on a 4-point scale. where '1' indicated 'clonus not elicited' and '4' represented 'sustained clonus'. This evaluation was carried out to provide a composite (albeit subjective) index of spasticity. Based on our clinical experience, the computed 'spasticity scores' ranging from 0 to 9, 10 to 12 and 13 to 16 corresponded to 'mild', 'moderate' and 'severe' spasticity respectively.

EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL

Four of the normal subjects and all of the hemiparetic subjects were tested on at least 3 to 5 different days, with an interval of one week between sessions. The remainder of the normal subjects were tested once. Test battery consisted of the clinical evaluation as described above and three physiological measures. The latter involved recording the. 1) maximal amplitude of the H reflex as a percentage of the maximal M response, termed here the H/M ratio (Hoffmann, 1918; Schiepatti, 1987); 2) the amount of inhibition of the H reflex during vibration, expressed as a percentage of the control H reflex amplitude (Hvib/Hctl); and 3) the excitability of the soleus stretch reflex (SR) in terms of latency, duration and magnitude (SR/M area).

No.	. Age Sex			Composit	e Spasticity Sco	re		Degr ee of spast- icity
		Etiology	Time since injury (mos)	ATR	Resist- ance	Clonus	Spast- icity score	
No	rmal Subje	ects						
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	72 F 64 F 64 M 72 F 71 M 68 M 30 M							
Mean = S.D.=	63.0 14.7							
He	miparetic	Subjects						
1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10	67 F 48 F 49 F 43 M 67 M 67 M 75 M 31 M 57 M 57 M 5. 58 M⁵	L.CVA R.CVA L.CVA R.CVA R.CVA L.CVA R.CVA R.CVA R.CVA R.Trauma	56 11 26 7 22 37 15 24 50 15	1 4 2 3 3 4 3 4 3 4 3 4	2 2 4 4 4 4 6 6 7 8	1 1 3 3 3 2 2 3 4 4	4 7 9 10 10 10 11 13 14 16	mild mild moderate moderate moderate moderate severe severe severe severe
Mean= S.D.=	56.2 13.5		26.3 16.5					
• ;	Spasticity s Subject on	core: stable regim	0-9 = mild 10-12 = mo 13-16 = sev e of anti-spa	d spasticity oderate spasticit vere spasticity smodic medicat	y ion (Dantroline	Sodium)		
A٦ L./ F	FR /R.CVA / M	= Achilles t = left/right = female/m	lendon reflex cerebrovascu jale	lar accident		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Table I. Demographic profile of hemiparetic and normal subjects

44

1

*

SUBJECT FIXATION

-1-

Subjects reclined in a comfortable semi-supine position on a specially adapted treatment table (Fig. 1). Their thigh and calf were strapped into adjustable sandsplint casts, so that the knee was fixed at 30° flexion. The foot was attached to a footplate held in the neutral position (Hugon, 1973). The fixed position of the knee and ankle ensures that: 1) that the two-joint gastrocnemius muscle is relaxed, thus minimizing possible contributions from its afferents onto the soleus motoneuronal pool (Hugon, 1973). 2) The initial ankle angle was constant. The latter precaution reduced possible contributions from joint and muscle afferent stimulation consequent to changes in initial (soleus) muscle length (Brunia et al., 1973). The axis of the ankle joint was aligned with the axis of rotation of the footplate (Inman, 1976). Ankle joint angles were monitored and recorded with a custom made electrogoniometer (Beckman 5311 potentiometer, R5K L.5) which was mounted on the same axis.

STIMULATION PROCEDURES

H reflexes. H reflexes in the soleus muscle were elicited according to the procedure described by Hugon (1973). One msec square-wave pulses were delivered at 0.1 Hz via a cathode (a 2 cm Medi-Trace FC-26 surface electrode) placed over the posterior tibial nerve in the popliteal fossa, and an anode (a 20 cm² tin plate) positioned superior to the patella for selective stimulation of the nerve trunk (Hugon, 1973). For each stimulus intensity investigated, 10 consecutive responses were collected and averaged on-line by a laboratory developed program written for the PDP 11/23 plus computer. The intensity of the stimulation was gradually increased to record maximal H reflexes, termed here 'H', followed by maximal M responses ('M' or Mmax) The intensity was then decreased to register control H reflexes (Hctl) which were set at approximately 30% of the Mmax across all subjects. This procedure ensured that similar motoneuronal pools were being accessed by the stimulation, and that both increases and decreases in the excitability of the H reflex could be observed.



•

Fig. 1 Experimental set-up. Subjects reclined on an adjustable table with the knee and ankle angles fixed by posterior splints. See text for a full explanation.

.

Vibration. The effects of vibration of the Achilles tendon on control H reflex amplitudes were investigated by applying a vibrator (Ling Dynamics 101) on the skin at a right angle to the inferior third of the Achilles tendon. Vibration with a maximal amplitude of 2 mm was applied at 100 Hz to preferentially activate la afferent fibres (Hagbarth, 1973, Burke et al., 1976; Desmedt and Godaux, 1978, Roll et al., 1989). However contributions from the activation of cutaneous and other muscular afferents cannot be completely avoided (Burke et al., 1976). Following a one-minute accommodation period, during which the response to vibration reached a steady state, 10 H reflexes were elicited and collected on-line, while the vibration was continued. After the cessation of vibration, H reflexes were monitored until they returned to at least 90% of the control value before continuing with the experiment

Stretch Reflexes. To assess stretch reflex activity evoked in the soleus, the ankle was rapidly dorsifiexed by a mechanical stretching device at a velocity greater than 360°/sec through a ramp of 30° This was done while subjects were given the instruction "Do not intervene voluntarily" (Asatryan and Feldman, 1965). The mechanical stretching device consisted of a footplate attached to an overhead bar by 50 lb springs, and a mechanical stop which arrested ankle dorsiflexing movement at 10° past the neutral position of the joint. The procedure for evoking stretch reflexes was as follows: The footplate and ankle were manually displaced to 20° plantaflexion past the neutral position and maintained for 10 sec. During this time, soleus and tibialis anterior EMG were monitored on the oscilloscope. The subject was instructed to eliminate any active muscle contraction. When the background EMG was sufficiently quiet, the computer data collection program was triggered and the footplate was released 500 msec later. This was done in order to have adequate baseline EMG for subsequent analysis. Movement beyond the experimental range (past 10° dorsiflexion) was prevented by a chain connecting the distal end of the footplate to the table. To allow sufficient recovery in the reflex pathways, at least 30 sec of rest was permitted between trials. In order to ensure that the testing procedures remained constant across days, we assessed the reproducibility of the stretch perturbations presented to the subjects. The mean

2

velocities of these stimuli, delivered to hemiparetic subjects on five separate testing sessions, ranged from $450.2 \pm 58.8^{\circ}$ /sec to $511.0 \pm 77.5^{\circ}$ /sec, and were not significantly different across days (p>0.10). Mean maximal displacements also did not differ across days (range = $31.4 \pm 2.2^{\circ}$ to $34.0 \pm 3.6^{\circ}$; p>0.10). In addition, there was no difference in the values obtained between normal and hemiparetic subjects (p>0.10). These findings thus demonstrated the consistency with which the mechanical input was presented across different sessions and subject groups.

EMG RECORDING

Ś.

4

After preparing the skin, disposable silver-silver chloride surface electrodes (Medi-Trace 1801) were positioned on the soleus and tibialis anterior muscles of the right (for normal subjects) or the affected (for hemiparetic subjects) lower extremity. For soleus EMG, the electrodes were placed 3 cm apart, 4 cm below the intersection of the medial and lateral heads of uastrocnemius and the Achilles tendon (Hugon, 1973). For tibialis anterior EMG, the electrodes were oriented longitudinally along the muscle bulk, 3 cm apart, 7 cm below and 5 cm lateral to the antero-superior border of the tibia. A common reference electrode was positioned over the head of the fibula. Soleus and tibialis anterior EMG signals were amplified with a gain of 1,000 for H reflex and of 5,000 for stretch reflex trials, and filtered (10 to 500 Hz) by Disa 15CO1 amplifiers. They were then monitored on a storage oscilloscope (Textronix R5115) before being digitized at 2,000 and 1,250 Hz respectively for H and stretch reflexes, and stored in a PDP 11/23 plus microprocessor. In order to have adequate baseline values, soleus EMG activity was recorded for 200 msec following the H reflex stimulation. The EMG activity from the soleus and tibialis anterior muscles, as well as the ankle displacement, were recorded from 500 msec before and up to 900 msec following the stretch perturbation.

DATA ANALYSIS

.

H reflexes and M responses. Individual and mean peak-to-peak H reflex and M response amplitude values were calculated on-line. Maximal M response areas were computed off-line, by rectifying and integrating the M wave within a window, determined from the response onset to its offset (the point at which the trace exceeded, or returned to, 3 standard deviations of the baseline). Since EMG values can vary according to skin preparation and electrode placement in the same subject on different days, a means of normalizing EMG amplitude and area values was sought. The maximal M response is presumed to represent the total motoneuronal pool activated by a maximal stimulus (Schiepatti, 1987) Assuming that recording conditions remain constant, it should display a strong intra-session stability. EMG amplitude and/or area values were therefore expressed as ratios of the appropriate parameter of the maximal M response (i.e. H/M amplitude, SR/M area) The amplitude of the H reflex during vibration was calculated as a percentage of the control H reflex amplitude (Hvib/Hctl). These normalization procedures were done so that mean values could be compared across subjects.

Stretch Reflexes. Individual stretch reflex trials were analyzed off-line for latency, onset angle, response duration, and area Trials were screened qualitatively prior to inclusion in the analysis, to eliminate those in which the subject intervened voluntarily or was unable to relax completely. Rejected trials included those which had inappropriate transients in the displacement trace or a large amount of background EMG respectively EMG signals were first rectified and background baseline activity was removed. Figure 2 shows a typical stretch reflex trial. EMG latency was determined from the onset of displacement (i.e. when the displacement surpassed 2° or approximately 7% of total displacement), to the time when the EMG signal exceeded 3 standard deviations of the baseline value. The latency was then used to determine the onset angle from the displacement trace. Figure 2 also shows the duration of the stretch reflex, calculated from the EMG onset (defined above) to the time when the EMG returned to 3 standard deviations from the baseline Finally, the areas of the

10

50uV

. 50uV



100uV

Fig. 2. Typical stretch reflex responses recorded in a normal subject (left) and a spastic hemiparetic subject (right). From top to bottom: angular displacement of the ankle (dorsiflexion indicated by upward deflection), soleus EMG, tibialis anterior EMG. The stretch reflex latencles were measured from the onset of the displacement (open arrow in top trace) to the onset of the soleus EMG (open arrow in middle trace). Stretch reflex onset on angles were extrapolated from the displacement trace (filled arrows in top traces) at the point where soleus EMG activity began (open arrow) in middle traces). The duration of the soleus stretch reflex was measured from the EMG onset (open arrow) to EMG offset (closed arrow) as shown in the middle traces.

50msec

soleus and tibialis anterior responses (when the latter were present) were calculated by a computer algorhythm that determined the maximal integral of the EMG over the 150 msec following its onset. These were expressed as percentages of the maximal M response areas evoked in the same muscles.

Statistical Analysis. H/M ratios, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex and parameters of the stretch reflex were compared between the normal and hemiparetic group Non-parametric statistics (Mann-Whitney U test) were used due to the non-homogeneity of variances in the two groups. Reproducibility of the data was evaluated by interclass correlation coefficients which take into account the proportion of the variance of an observation due to subject-to-subject variability (Fleis, 1986) Pearson's correlations were computed between the clinical and physiological measures of spasticity in the hemiparetic subjects. A significance level of 0.05 was used for all two-tailed tests.

RESULTS

CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX RESPONSES IN SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC AND NOR-MAL SUBJECTS

H reflexes. Figure 3 shows electromyographic reflex responses recorded in one normal (Fig. 3, left column) and one moderately spastic hemiparetic subject (Fig. 3, right column). Ten maximal H reflex responses (Fig. 3, first row) were elicited, followed by ten maximal M responses (Fig. 3, second row). In this example, the H/M ratios were 49.2% in the normal and 88.2% in the spastic subject. In Fig. 3 (third row), recordings of the H reflex during vibration are superimposed on their control H reflexes. These examples reflect the extremes in the range of responses, such that the normal subject had an Hvib/Hctl ratio of 6.2%, while the hemiparetic subject had a much higher ratio (76.5%), denoting a markedly reduced amount of H reflex inhibition during vibration (but see Table II below)

The means of 10 responses (H reflex latencies, H/M and Hvib/Hctl ratios) for each of the hemiparetic and normal subjects recorded in one session are listed in Table II. H reflex



Fig. 3. Examples of maximal soleus H reflexes (first row), maximal M responses (second row), and H reflex during vibration (third row) in one normal (left column) and one spastic hemiparetic subject (right column). Maximal H reflexes were expressed as a percentage of the maximal M responses (H/M). For these subjects, the H/M ratios were 49.2% and 88.2% respectively. H reflex responses during vibration are superimposed on control H reflexes in the third row of traces. These values were 6.2% and 76.5% respectively in the normal and hemiparetic subjects. An example of clonus elicited by the H reflex stimulus is shown for the same subject in the bottom trace.

			Hvib/ Hctl (%)	Stretch Reflex (SR) Response Parameters					
No.	H reflex latency (msec)	H/M (%)		Onset latency (msec)	Onset angle (deg)	Dura- tion (msec)	SR/M area (%)		
Norma	Subjects				<u></u>				
1.	30.2	23.3	50.0	70. 0	30.0	48.0	2.9		
2.	26.7	42.1	49.3	66.6	31.4	79.6	42.0		
3.	30.9	51.8	6.2	63.2	34.0	44.5	15.7		
4.	31.0	35.3	55.5	72.4	29.8	53.4	19.5		
5.	32.2	21.1	79.3	45.6	20.1	77.6	32.0		
6.	31.0	68.1	14.5	44.7	30.1	58.6	12.4		
7.	30.0	53.6	72.1	77.6	30.1	40 8	14.0		
ean =	30.3	42.2	46.7	62.9	30.1	57.5	19.8		
.D. =	1.7	17.0	27.3	12.9	4.7	15.5	13.1		
Hemip	aretic Subjects	•							
1.	28.0	100.0	27.4	34.8	14.0	58.8	62.0		
2.	28.4	65.9	40.0	42.4	15.5	61. 8	25.0		
3.	29.4	83.8	34.5	30.1	8.6	71.7	46.0		
4.	28.2	17.5	17.4	70.5	32.1	49.3	27.0		
5.	25.5	76.5	33.3	45.0	12.4	76.0	48.0		
6.	31.0	50.9	81.9	85.5	23.1	63.4	41.0		
7.	27.9	16.4	55.3	37.6	7.0	99.5	46.0		
8.	28.5	78.7	-	44.1	19.9	93.5	63.0		
9.	30.4	90.0	64.4	38.6	15.2	88. 9	44.0		
10.	27.7	88.2	76.5	•	7.3	82.1	59.ປ		
lean =	28.6*	66.8*	47.9	47.6*	15.5*	74.5*	47.1**		
	4 0	00 5							

Table II. Reflex profile of hemiparetic and normal subjects

Subjects are listed in order of increasing spasticity as in Table I Mann-Whitney U test, p < 0.05 Mann-Whitney U test, p < 0.0052

٠

**

1

l

53

latencies were shorter in the hemiparetic subjects (p<0.05, U=14.8), and H/M ratios were significantly increased ($\bar{x} = 66.8 \pm S.D. 29.5\%$, p<0.05, U=1.0, Mann-Whitney U test), when compared to the control group ($\bar{x} = 42.2 \pm 17.0\%$). In contrast to the individual responses shown in Fig. 3 (third row), the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex was not different between our normal and hemiparetic subjects, possibly due to the wide range of responses in both groups

Á.

Stretch Reflexes Four parameters of stretch reflexes were measured latency, onset angle, duration, and SR/M area (Fig. 2). Figure 2 shows that SR latencies and onset angles were significantly smaller in hemiparetic than in normal subjects (compare the time between the open arrows in Fig 2. A,B for latencies, and the closed arrows for onset angles) As a group, the data from Table II shows that SR latencies were significantly shorter in hemiparetic (47.6 \pm 18.2 msec) than normal subjects (62.9 \pm 12.9 msec; p<0.05). Since latency and onset angle are highly correlated, it was not surprising that onset angles showed a similar relationship. The duration of the stretch reflex was slightly longer in the hemiparetic patients (74.5 \pm 16.4 msec) compared to normal subjects (57.5 \pm 15.5 msec; p=0.05) Finally, SR/M area values were significantly (p<0.005) larger in the hemiparetic (47.1 \pm 13.1%).

In all ten hemiparetic subjects, fast ramp stretch of the plantarflexors resulted in a shortening or Westphal reaction in the antagonist tibialis anterior which was consistently seen on repeated testing days (Fig. 2, bottom right trace). These shortening reactions were also present in 4 of the 7 normal subjects.

Three of the 10 hemiparetic subjects had sustained clonus that was triggered by the stretch perturbation and, in one case, by the H reflex stimulus (Fig. 3, bottom trace). The frequency of this stretch-evoked clonus was in the order of 3 to 5 Hz.

REPRODUCIBILITY OF MEASURES

Table III shows that a high degree of inter-session consistency was found in the measures from hemiparetic subjects tested on three separate occasions Clinical ratings of spasticity (r=0.87), H/M ratios (r=0.94), Hvib/Hctl ratios (r=0.91) and SR onset angles (r=0.93) and areas (r=0.71) showed high reliability through interclass correlation coefficients Stretch reflex latencies (r=0.44) and durations (r=0.20), however, did not demonstrate significant day-to-day stability.

CLINICAL CORRELATES

5.4

Intercorrelations between clinical and physiological measures of spasticity are shown in Table IV. Correlations were calculated on all the measures recorded in the same subjects on three different days. For clarity, only the results of two analyses are presented in the Table. Correlations equal to or greater than 0.63 and 0.71 were significant (p<0.05) respectively for the first (top number) and second group of values (bottom number). From Table IV, it is apparent that high correlations between certain measures of spasticity could have occurred by chance alone. For example, H/M ratios and Achilles tendon jerks (ATR) were negatively correlated on one occasion (-0.35), but were highly positively correlated on the other day (0.77). Therefore, only those values which showed consistency over two testing days were considered to be meaningful.

Our findings on the clinical measures of spasticity were that the severity of clonus varied with that of the resistance to passive stretch (r=0.82 and 0.65). Contrary to traditional expectations, another commonly used clinical indicator, the ATR, was not associated with any other measure. The total spasticity score, derived from simple addition of the three clinical measures, was more dependent on the resistance to passive stretch and clonus than on the Achilles tendon reflex.

Not surprisingly, high correlations (0.90 and 0.92) were found between two physiological measures of stretch reflex excitability (latency and onset angle). However, stretch reflex latencies showed only weak negative associations with other measures resistance to passive

Measures	Day X	Day Y	Day Z	* 1
Spasticity	10.4 (3.4) ⁶	10.0 (3.3)	10.0 (3.4)	0.87 n=10
H/M (%)	68.9 (39.8)	61.8 (34.9)	74.2 (39.6)	0.94 n= 9
Hvib/Hctl (%)	48.7 (25.0)	55.8 (26.8)	46.9 (21.0)	0.91 n= 7
SR latency (msec)	43.0 (9.7)	40.5 (9.4)	38.3 (10.5)	0.44 n= 9
SR onset angle (deg)	19.3 (7.1)	16.5 (5.5)	17.6 (5.3)	0.93 n= 9
SR duration (msec)	75.0 (26.8)	71.5 (14.5)	74.5 (14.7)	0.20 n= 9
SR/M area (%)	45.6 (18.5)	41.5 (19.4)	41.8 (23.0)	0.71 n= 8

Reproducibility of spasticity and reflex measures recorded in the same group of spastic hemiparetic subjects on three different days Table III.

interclass correlation coefficient
values are Mean (+ S.D.)
stretch reflex
degree . b

SR

deg

t

	ATR	ATR	AT R	Resist- ance	Clonus	Spast- icity score	H reflex latency	H/M	Hvib/ Ectl	SR onset latency	SR onset angle	SR dura- tion
					(Esec)	(1)	(\$)	(msec)	(deg)	(asec)		
Resist- ance	0.41 0.36	, <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>										
Clonus	0.25 0.55	0.82 0.65										
Spast- icity [®]	0.60 0.65	0.94 0.89	0.85 0.86									
E reflex latency	0.42 -0.03	0.08 0.51	-0.08 0.05	0.32 0.16								
H/M	-0.35 0.77	-0.06 0.09	0.01 0.20	-0.18 0.27	0.32 -0.45							
Hvib/ Hctl	0.31 0.42	0.48 0.41	0.23 0.50	0.42 0.43	-0.01 0.38	-0.34 0.22						
SR latency	0.13 -0.24	-0.37 -0.54	-0.16 -0.27	-0.13 -0.41	-0.20 0.13	-0.54 -0.50	-0.34 -0.01					
SR angle	0.20 -0.49	-0.44 -0.55	-0.06 -0.33	-0.30 -0.54	-0.13 0.01	-0.28 -0.60	-0.36 0.06	0.90 0.92				
SR duration	-0.04 -0.60	0.59 -0.31	0.41 -0.76	0.47 -0.53	0.09 0.14	-0.04 -0.54	0.39 -0.58	0.63 0.32	0.31 -0. 73			
SR/M	-0.45 0.55	-0.01 0.6	0.07 0.44	0.55 0.46	0.52 0.11	0.76 0.75	-0.16 0.44	-0.53 -0.84	-0.73 -0.73	0.30 -0.55		

Table IV. Correlation matrix between clinical and physiological measures of spasticity based on scores from two different testing days

Spasticity score = Achilles tendon reflex (ATR) + resistance + clonus See Table I

SR = stretch reflex

يني. مە

57

۰,

stretch (-0.37, -0.54), H/M (-0.54, -0.50) and SR/M area ratios (-0.53, -0.84). Interestingly, SR/M areas varied significantly with H/M ratios (0.76, 0.75) and SR onset angles (-0.78, -0.78).

Although not statistically significant, clinical spasticity scores bore fairly consistent relationships only with Hvib/Hctl ratios (0.42, 0.43), SR/M areas (0.55, 0.46) and SR onset angles (-0.30, -0.54).

DISCUSSION

COMPARISON OF RESPONSES BETWEEN HEMIPARETIC AND NORMAL SUBJECTS

In spastic hemiparetic subjects, H and ctretch reflex latencies were chorter, H/M ratios and SR/M areas were greater and stretch reflex durations were longer than in normal controls (Table II). Except for H reflex latencies, these relationships have previously been reported by separate investigators (Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Berardelli et al., 1983; Hale and Chan, 1986a). These results agree with previous reports of enhanced motoneuronal excitability in the spastic state (Angel and Hofmann, 1963; Pierrot-Deseilligny and Mazieres, 1985; Schiepatti, 1987).

Specifically, reduction of H and stretch reflex latencies could be due to decreased reflex thresholds, leading to an earlier firing of motoneurons (Powers et al., 1988). These findings in the lower limb muscles are consistent with recent reports in the upper limb muscles of spastic hemiparetic subjects (Lee et al., 1987; Powers et al., 1988, 1989), al-though the latter studies investigated only stretch but not H reflexes. Reduced reflex thresholds in spasticity may be due to several mechanisms (Burke, 1988). In the following paragraphs, two possibilities: 1) enhanced peripheral afferent input and 2) increased central motoneuronal drive, will be discussed.

One can argue that the increased reflex activity in spasticity is due 13 abnormal segmental afferent input such as enhanced fusimotor drive (Dietrichson, 1973). Abnormalities in some segmental pathways have been identified e.g. reciprocal inhibitory pathways

(Yanagisawa et al., 1976). However, there is mounting evidence to suggest that at least group la afferent input to the spinal cord is essentially unaltered in spasticity. The latter is based on findings from a primate model of hemiplegia (Gilman et al., 1971, 1974) and from microneurographic recordings in man (Hagbarth et al., 1973, 1975).

An alternate explanation for hypertonia may be derived from the lambda hypothesis of motor control elaborated by Feldman (1966, 1986) According to this hypothesis, a shift in the average resting membrane potential of alpha motoneurons, caused by a net increase in descending excitation (central command), would result in the earlier activation of motoneurons Such a shift in resting membrane potential could lead to lowered H and stretch reflex thiesholds which could account for all the changes described in this study. In support of this interpretation, Powers et al. (1988, 1989) proposed that increased motoneuronal excitability (lowered threshold) may have been the mechanism responsible for the steep velocity dependence of the stretch-evoked EMG activity in initially inactive human spastic elbow flexors. Assuming a lowered motoneuronal threshold in spasticity, H reflexes could have shorter latencies, since the motoneurons could be recruited earlier by the electrical stimulus, and the response could be larger due to recruitment of more motoneurons Similarly, stretch reflexes could occur at a shorter initial muscle length, resulting in a decreased stretch reflex latency and a reduced onset angle As well, more motoneurons could be recruited at a shorter length, causing an increase in the EMG response (SR/M area). An increased after-discharge due to a maintained stimulus, and/or a tendency to more asynchronous firing, could contribute to the prolongation of the stretch reflex in spasticity This hypothesis for the changes in reflex responsivity in spasticity warrants further investigation

In contrast to previous reports (Delwaide, 1985), the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex was not different between the normals and our group of hemiparetic patients. In normal subjects, inhibition of the soleus H reflex has been reported to be maximal when a 2 mm amplitude vibratory stimulus of between 80 and 100 Hz is applied to the homonymous Achilles tendon (Desmedt and Godaux, 1978). Using these parameters of vibration, the inhibition of the H reflex is believed to be partially mediated by presynaptic inhibition of the la terminals (Gillies et al., 1969, Burke et al., 1976) Thus, our findings of a lack of difference between groups could indicate that our patients did not have a deficit in presynaptic inhibitory processes. An alternate explanation could be that the difference was not apparent, due to the high inter-subject variability of our samples.

REPRODUCIBILITY OF MEASURES

The highly consistent clinical spasticity scores, H/M ratio, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex, and SR/M area measures shown in Table III, may reflect both the reproducibility of our experimental paradigm as well as the chronicity of our patient population. Our results and those of our previous study (Hale, 1987) thus indicated that these measures are valid and reliable indicators of speciacity in hemiparetic subjects. Consequently, they can be used to assess the effects of treatment interventions repeated over days or weeks. However, soleus stretch reflex latency and duration did not appear to display high reproducibility across testing days (Table III) Although care was taken to ensure that subjects remained completely relaxed throughout the testing session by monitoring the background EMG, the variation in onset latency could be attributed to different degrees of resting motoneuronal excitability in the same subjects on different testing days (Lee et al., 1987; Powers et al. 1988, 1989) In order to bring all of the motoneurons to the same level of excitability, subjects could have been required to actively contract the soleus muscle to a pre- determined percentage of maximal voluntary force (Lee et al., 1987). However, this would, in fact, preclude the possibility of measuring threshold changes. Our results and these considerations suggest that inter-session changes in stretch reflex latencies and durations measured in relaxed subjects should be interpreted with caution.

The stretch reflex onset angle appeared to be a more stable indicator of stretch reflex excitability, as it showed a correlation of 0.93 across three testing sessions (Table III). This may possibly be explained by the fact that the calculation of the onset angle depended only on the determination of the onset of EMG activity. The latency calculation, however, was also

60
dependent on the onset of displacement and thus, took into consideration the rise time as a function of the velocity of the displacement (see Fig 2). The possibility that either onset measure may have been correlated with the total displacement, velocity or acceleration of the perturbation was not investigated in the present study.

CLINICAL CORRELATES

Some correlations were found between stretch reflex excitability, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex and the clinical assessment of spasticity, but many of these were non-significant (Table IV). These correlational data are consistent with previously reported findings on H reflexes and their modulation by vibration (Ashby and Verrier, 1976, Hale and Chan, 1986a)

Stretch reflex amplitudes in the relaxed limb have been correlated with tone measured at the ankle (Berardelli et al., 1983), and at the wrist, (r=0.77, Cody et al., 1987) However, our results showed that stretch reflex areas correlated only weakly with the spasticity score (0.55, 0.46; Table IV). This finding suggested that this measure alone did not adequately represent clinically assessed tone. Although not significantly related to spasticity, stretch reflex areas (SR/M) were highly correlated with the amplitude of the H reflex (H/M). This observation suggested that the magnitude of these two reflexes may, to a large extent, be determined by reflex excitability involving similar segmental pathways.

The stretch reflex onset angle also showed a consistent, if not significant, relationship with clinically measured resistance to passive stretch (r=-0.44, -0.55). This finding agreed with the recent report of a broad negative correlation between reflex threshold and clinically measured tone (Powers et al., 1988). However, stretch reflex onset angles showed a much stronger correlation with stretch reflex areas (r=-0.78, Table IV). This is in keeping with the suggestion of lowered stretch reflex thresholds in spasticity. Lowered thresholds could account for both the earlier onset of the stretch reflex and the recruitment of more moto-neurons resulting in a larger response.

The weak correlation between reflex and clinical measures was not surprising Indeed, if spasticity can be attributed to a decrease in stretch reflex threshold, a more rigorous clinical measure of this parameter must be designed. None of the three clinical measures commonly in use is particularly sensitive to threshold changes. Rather, they are more indicative of response magnitudes. These results pointed to the need for more specific clinical testing to be developed.

¥ arrest

CHAPTER 3

f

DISORDERS IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS:

SUMMARY

The underlying pathophysiology of the disturbed reflex function and motor control in spasticity is poorly understood. In spite of this, measures of reflex and voluntary motor function are often used to investigate the effects of long-term therapeutic intervention in the control of spasticity. In this study, reflex and voluntary EMG and force measurements from the lower limbs were compared between thirteen spastic hemiparetic and seven normal subjects. In addition, the reproducibility of the measures and their correlation with clinical spasticity manifested in the hemiparetic subjects was also investigated. H and stretch reflexes were first elicited in the calf. Then, subjects were required to generate maximal isometric plantarflexion and dorsiflexion force in the standing position. The results showed that maximal agonist EMG areas and forces were significantly decreased in the affected leg of hemiparetic subjects During dorsiflexion, agonist EMG and force were decreased to 39% and 33% of the non-affected limb respectively. For plantarflexion, agonist EMG was 63% of the non-affected leg while force was decreased to 59%. Measures of maximal and mean force, force onset and dorsiflexion co-contraction ratios were highly reproducible (r=0.78 to 0.99), while raw and normalized EMG area measures were less reliable. Good correlations were found between the degree of clinically measured spasticity and the function of the dorsiflexors on the affected side (r=-0.65). The decreased force of the dorsillexors was related even more strongly to the amount of co-contraction (r=0.91), but not to the hyperactive reflexes in the calf. The high reproducibility of the force measurements suggested that they could be used to evaluate the effects of therapeutic intervention over time. The findings also suggested that in hemiparetic subjects, the motor deficit in the non-spastic dorsiflexors was a reliable and valid indicator of the severity of spasticity. However, plantarflexion function and reflex measures in the calf were not. The changes in voluntary and reflex function of the leg muscles suggested that the motor deficit in spasticity may be related to altered descending commands.

INTRODUCTION

Spastic hemipares's resulting from cerebrovascular accidents may be associated with hyperactive phasic and tonic reflexes, clonus, as well as disordered sensory and motor function (Burke, 1988) The disorganized motor control in spasticity is typically characterized by altered electromyographic activity e.g. prolonged EMG recruitment and derecruitment patterns, as well as abnormal agonist/antagonist co-contraction (Conrad et al. 1985, Hammond et al. 1988a.b) Despite extensive investigation, the origins of these motor deficits remain controversial. They may result from impaired supraspinal control (central command) of spinal interneurons. Alternatively, they may be due to hyperactive stretch reflexes, independent of central voluntary commands. The hypothesis that the central command may be altered in hemiparetic spasticity is supported by findings of abnormal co-contraction in flexors and extensors of the upper extremity during isometric force tracking tasks (McLellan et al, 1985). Since the spastic muscles were not stretched under isometric conditions, the reported motor deficit may not have been related to excessive stretch reflex activity. On the other hand, there is evidence to suggest that hyperactive stretch reflexes could also be parily responsible for movement deficits relating to uniarticular motor activity at the knee (McLellan, 1977) and ankle (Corcos et al., 1986) joints, as well as multiarticular motor control such as bicycling (Benecke et al., 1983) and gait (Knutsson, 1970a, Knutsson and Richards, 1979, Fung and Barbeau, 1989).

A previous study focused on the measurement of segmental reflex functions mediated primarily by muscle stretch receptors (Levin and Chan, 1990a) Measures of segmental and plurisegmental stretch reflexes generally correlate poorly with the severity of clinical spasticity (Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Lee et al., 1987; Hale and Chan, 1986a, Levin and Chan, 1990a) Measures of reflex function are significantly increased in spasticity, yet these measures alone provide little information about the origins of the deficits in voluntary motor control. Since the presence of spasticity is often associated with disordered motor control, a more comprehensive approach would be to use multi-system measures (Dimitrijevic et al., 1983, Delwaide,

1985). These measures could simultaneously assess reflex as well as voluntary function. Furthermore, measures of spasticity are often carried out without attention to their reliability, a matter that must be addressed when assessing the effects of long-term pharmacological and physiotherapeutic intervention (but see Delwaide, 1985; and Levin and Chan, 1990a).

Having resolved these questions for reflex measures in spasticity in the previous paper, we turned our attention to voluntary motor functions. Our objectives were three-fold. The first aim was to examine the underlying pathophysiology of the disturbed voluntary motor control. This was done by comparing EMG and force measurements of the lower extremity during maximal isometric voluntary contractions between spastic hemiparetic and age-matched normal subjects in the functional position of standing. The second aim was to examine the reliability of these measures. The third aim was to correlate aspects of voluntary motor activity with clinically measured spasticity on the one hand, and reflex function on the other. The correlation data will help to delineate clinically meaningful physiological measures of spasticity. The latter results could provide some insight into how changes in stretch reflex excitability may affect voluntary motor control.

METHODS

SUBJECTS

Thirteen patients with spastic hemiparesis (mean age = $59.1 \pm S.D. 13.6$ yr) and seven age-matched normal subjects (mean age = 63.0 ± 14.7) participated in the study. Criteria for inclusion of the hemiparetic subjects were the same as those outlined in the previous Chapter. All subjects were given details about the nature of their participation before signing an informed consent form.

Demographic and clinical data for the spastic hemiparetic subjects are presented in Table I. Note that the clinical assessment of their spasticity consisted of the three commonly used measures already described in detail in the previous Chapter (Levin and Chan, 1990a).

Subject	Age (yr)	Etiology	Time since injury (mos)	Spas- ticity score ^e	Degree of spas- ticity
1. M	75	L.CVA	18	6	mild
2. F	49	L.CVA	27	9	mild
3. M	67	L.CVA	8	9	mild
4. M	31	L.CVA	25	10	moderate
5. F	76	R.CVA	43	10	moderate
6. M	43	L.CVA	8	11	moderate
7. M	67	R.CVA	23	12	moderate
8. M	58	L.CVA	50	12	moderate
9. M	57	L.CVA	85	13	severe
10. M	73	R.CVA	26	13	severe
11. M	67	R.CVA	37	13	severe
12. M	58	R.CVA	16	15	severe
13. M	47	L.CVA	11	16	severe
Mean=	59.1		29.0	11.5	
S.D.=	13.6		21.2	2.7	

Table I. Demographic profile and clinical features of spastic hemiparetic subjects

The spasticity score is based on 3 clinical measures of spasticity:
1) Achilles tendon reflex
2) resistance to passive stretch
3) clonus

. *

L./R. CVA = left/right cerebrovascular accident F / M = female/male

٧

-ir

EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL

Normal subjects were tested once and hemiparetic subjects at least twice, one week apart. The test battery consisted of five measures, four of which have been described in detail in the previous Chapter (Levin and Chan, 1990a). Briefly, they involved recording: 1) the clinical score of spasticity; 2) the maximal amplitude of the H reflex as a percentage of the maximal M response (H/M ratio); 3) the amount of inhibition of the H reflex during vibration, expressed as a percentage of the control H reflex amplitude (Hvib/Hctl); 4) the excitability of the soleus stretch reflex (SR) in terms of its latency, response duration and magnitude (SR/M area); and 5) the maximal isometric force generated by voluntary ankle plantarflexion and dorsiflexion in the standing position.

For all hemiparetic subjects, spasticity about the ankle joint was assessed at the beginning of each testing session. Subjects then practised making single sustained, two second maximal isometric contractions in response to a <u>response signal</u>, which was preceded by a <u>warning signal</u> after a fixed brief interval (500 msec). In each ensemble of six trials, two 'catch trials' were randomly interspersed. During a 'catch trial', no response signal was presented following the warning signal, so that only baseline EMG and force were recorded. Since it was not known when the 'catch trials' would occur, subjects could not anticipate the response signal. Upon hearing the response signal, subjects made the appropriate muscular contraction as forcibly as possible. Most subjects required between 3 to 6 practice trials, to voluntarily generate contractions with consistent force profiles in terms of onset and the maximal force attained. Generally, more practice trials were required for the affected than the non-affected leg in the hemiparetic subjects. All in all, four dorsiflexing and four plantar-flexing maximal isometric contractions were collected from the right leg of the normal subjects, as well as from both the affected and non-affected legs of the hemiparetic subjects.

Following the recording of voluntary contractions, reflex data were collected in the manner described in the previous Chapter. They were recorded last because the time consuming procedure could have caused varying degrees of fatigue in our patients. Fatigue was closely controlled since it could result in variability of the maximal voluntary contractions.

Note that the duration of the entire testing protocol was approximately two and a half hours.

SUBJECT FIXATION

For the voluntary contraction task, subjects stood on a standing platform shown in Fig. 1. The platform had a fixed back support to which the subject's trunk was centred and secured by a wide canvas strap. This procedure helped to ensure that the subject's weight was equally distributed on each leg. Subjects stood without shoes. Both feet were fixated by heel cups and velcro straps to aluminum footplates 30.5 cm apart with ankle joints in the neutral position between plantar- and dorsiflexion (90°). The height of the standing platform was adjusted so that the ankle joint aligned coaxially with the axis of rotation of the footplate (Inman, 1976). The footplates were free to rotate due to frictionless bearings at each axis. Movement of either plate could be prevented, however, by a transverse bar that fixed the footplate to a force transducer (see below) mounted below it on an immovable platform. The rigid steel bar transmitted compressive (plantarflexing) or distractive (dorsiflexing) torque generated at the ankle to the force transducer Positioning the bar under the right or the left footplate allowed for independent evaluation of plantarflexion or dorsiflexion force generated by either leg.

Subjects then reclined in a semi-supine position with the affected leg fixated in the manner described in the previous Chapter, for eliciting soleus H and stretch reflexes (Levin and Chan, 1990a).

EMG RECORDING

After preparing the skin overlying the soleus and tibialis antenor muscles, disposable silver-silver chloride surface electrodes (Medi-Trace 1801) were applied. For recording the soleus EMG, the electrodes were positioned 3 cm apart, 4 cm below the intersection of the medial and lateral heads of gastrocnemius and the Achilles tendon (Hugon, 1973). For tibialis anterior EMG, the electrodes were oriented longitudinally along the muscle bulk, 3 cm apart, 7 cm below and 5 cm lateral to the antero-superior border of the tibia. A common reference electrode was placed over the head of the fibula.



Fig. 1. Experimental apparatus for recording maximal contraction force produced by voluntary ankle plantarflexion and dorsiflexion in the standing position. See text for a full description.

For the voluntary contraction trials, EMG signals were amplified with a gain of 5,000 and filtered (10 to 500 Hz) by Disa amplifiers. They were monitored on a storage oscillo scope (Textronix R5115) before being digitized (1,250 Hz) and stored on computer disks. In order to obtain adequate baseline values, soleus EMG, tibialis anterior EMG, plantarflexion and dorsiflexion force were recorded from 500 msec before to 2,000 msec following the response signal.

EMG signals from reflex measures were processed as described in the previous Chapter (Levin and Chan, 1990a)

FORCE RECORDING

Compressive or distractive forces applied to the footplate were transmitted by a rigid transverse steel bar to the force transducer (Lebow 3132) whose maximal range was \pm 225 kg. The signal from the 4 arm strain gauge (wheatstone bridge) of the load cell v is amplified by a strain gauge conditioner (Daytronic model 3170) with a gain of 10,000 and then sampled on-line at 1,250 Hz by a PDP 11/23 plus computer (Digital) Force data were considered proportional to torques, since for our apparatus, the distance from the axis of rotation to the site of force recording was fixed for all subjects regardless of the point of application of the force.

DATA ANALYSIS

H reflexes, M responses and stretch reflexes were analysed in the same way as previously described (Levin and Chan, 1990a)

Individual trials of voluntary contraction were analyzed off-line Analysis included maximal and mean agonist and antagonist EMG areas, maximal and mean force, force onset, and time to half-maximal force. Trials were screened qualitatively prior to inclusion in the analysis, to eliminate those in which force development was inconsistent.

A specially designed computer program was employed for the data analysis. Soleus and tibialis antenor EMG were first full-wave rectified. Their baseline activity, obtained during

quiet standing was then removed. Figure 2 shows an example of typical EMG (top two traces) and force records (bottom trace) registered during a voluntary ankle plantarflexion (Fig. 2A) and a catch trial during quiet standing for one normal subject (Fig. 2B). The maximal and mean area values of the agonist (soleus) and antagonist (tibialis anterior) EMG response were calculated over a 500 msec window placed where the force attained a plateau, as shown by the shaded areas in Fig. 2A. This time window was chosen for analysis instead of the dynamic phase of force production, due to the high variability of the latter phase in hemiparetic subjects. The plateau in the force recording usually included the maximal force obtained. However, some hemiparetic subjects could not maintain the maximal force on the affected leg for more than a few milliseconds.

Co-contraction ratios were calculated from the maximal agonist and antagonist EMG areas defined by the above windows for active contraction (Fig. 2A) and for quiet standing (Fig 2R). It was recognized, however, that area and amplitude values of raw EMG signals may have varied between subjects and sessions according to skin preparation and electrode placement. Thus, individual EMG signals obtained on the same day were normalized by expressing the antagonist EMG area as a ratio of the total agonist plus antagonist EMG areas:

Co-contraction ratio = <u>Antagonist EMG area</u> Agonist + Antagonist EMG area

This technique permitted comparison of data obtained on different days for each subject, or between different subjects.

The force trace was further analyzed over the 500 msec window denoted in Fig. 2A to extract 1) the mean and maximal force, 2) the latency of the force onset, defined as the time lapse from the response signal to when the force exceeded three standard deviations from the baseline; and 3) the rate of force development, taken as the time from the onset of force to half-maximal force. The half-maximal instead of the maximal force latency was used since force development was often quite prolonged in the affected leg of hemiparetic subjects. In some cases, it occurred later than the force plateau. Prior to recording, the force transducer was recalibrated to zero to eliminate the subjects' body weight.



Fig. 2. Typical raw soleus EMG (upper traces), tibialis anterior EMG (middle traces) and force records (lower traces) obtained during (A) voluntary isometric ankle plantarilexion, and (B) a catch trial in one normal subject. During maximal voluntary contraction, mean EMG and force values were calculated over a 500 msec window when the force attained a plateau (shown by the shaded area in A). This was done after subtraction of baseline activity computed from a similar window during a corresponding catch trial (shown by the shaded area in B). Statistical Analysis. Agonist EMG and force distributions were determined by constructing frequency histograms with appropriate class intervals. Comparisons of data between the two subject groups were made via two-tailed t-tests. The reliability of the voluntary contraction force and EMG data was determined by interclass correlation coefficients. Correlations between clinical, physiological and EMG measures were computed by Pearson's correlation statistics. A significance level of 0.05 was used for all two-tailed tests.

RESULTS

COMPARISON BETWEEN NON-AFFECTED LEGS OF HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS AND NORMAL SUBJECTS

Examples of the raw EMG and force recorded during plantarflexion in the nonaffected leg of one hemiparetic subject are shown in Fig. 3A. Compare these values to those obtained from a normal subject, shown in Fig. 2A on a different scale. The maximal plantarflexion force was 21.4 kg and 24.0 kg respectively for the non-affected and the normal leg. In fact, the ranges of forces and the mean forces generated by the non-affected legs of the hemiparetic subjects were not different from normal controls for both plantar- and dorsiflexion. These relationships are graphically depicted in the histograms of Fig. 4 and the values are listed in Table II. For the normal and non-affected legs, mean maximal forces were 29.14 and 25.71 kg respectively for the plantarflexion task, and 13.65 and 10.36 kg respectively for the dorsiflexion task. However, the non-affected leg did differ from normal subjects in two of the characteristics measured 1) an increased amount of raw antagonist. EMG during plantarflexion but not dorsiflexion, and 2) a prolonged time to half-maximal force during both tasks.

COMPARISON BETWEEN NON-AFFECTED AND AFFECTED LEGS OF HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS

Given the overall similarity between normal and non-affected legs, data from the hemiparetic subjects were compared to their non-affected legs, instead of normal control legs.

ų,



Fig. 3. Typical raw soleus (upper traces) and tibialis anterior (middle traces) EMG and force (lower traces) records for the non-affected (A,C) and affected legs (B,D) of one moderately spastic herniparetic subject. Plantarflexing contractions are depicted in A and B, while dorsiflexing contractions are shown in C and D

Ŧ

ŝ



those in the affected legs were shifted towards lower values during both tasks.

1 - 3

55%

This is because data comparison carried out among a matched group of muscles having similar length and mass (non-affected and affected legs of the same subjects) is more valid than that among a non-matched group (hemiparetic legs in one group of subjects and legs from a different group of normal subjects).

Examples of raw agonist and antagonist EMG and force records obtained from the non-affected and affected legs of one hemiparetic subject with moderate spasticity are shown in Fig. 3 A,B for the plantarflexion task, and in Fig. 3 C,D for the dorsiflexion task. Note the remarkable decrease in the amount of plantarflexion and dorsiflexion force on the affected leg (Fig. 3 B,D), and the increased co-contraction during dorsiflexion (Fig. 3D) when compared to the non-affected leg (Fig. 3C).

These comparisons showed that the group mean maximal force was significantly smaller in the affected than the non-affected legs, being 15.05 and 25.71 kg respectively for plantarflexion, and 3.40 and 10.36 kg respectively for dorsiflexion (Table II) This relationship is also depicted by the leftward shift towards reduced maximal forces generated in the affected legs by both voluntary plantar- and dorsiflexion in Fig. 4 A and B (filled histograms) The temporal characteristics of force production also showed abnormalities in the affected legs Force onsets were prolonged for both tasks (Table II) For plantarflexion, the mean force onset was 369.9 ± 128.6 msec for the affected leg compared to 282.8 ± 72.53 msec for the non-affected leg (p<0.001). For dorsiflexion, the mean force onset was 409.3 ± 199.1 msec compared to 280.9 ± 67.7 msec respectively for the affected and non-affected legs (p<0.001). Thus, force onsets were prolonged by 131% and 146% for plantarflexion and dorsiflexion respectively. Lastly, the time to half maximal force was similarly prolonged for both plantarflexion (299.3 ± 67.8 msec compared to 209.3 ± 37.5 msec, 143%, p<0.001) and dorsiflexion (238.5 ± 234.6 msec compared to 156.0 ± 76.2 msec; 153%, p<0.001)

Co-contraction Ratios During Voluntary Effort

The affected leg of the hemiparetic subjects showed decreased agonist EMG compared to the non-affected leg for both voluntary plantarflexion (mean area = 512 ± 182

	Normal controi leg (n=20)	Non-Affected leg (n=68)	Affected leg (n=85)
Plantarflexion			
Agonist EMG area (uV.s)	95.75 (36.52) ^{NB}	81.43 (28.97)	51.20 (18.15)*
Antagonist EMG area (uV.s)	20.40 (1.91)	34.48 (25.05)**	20.47 (14.01)*
Co-contraction ratio (%)	21 30 (7.00)	28.20 (8.00)	26.30 (9.00)**
Maximal force (kg)	29.14 (8.51)	25.71 (10.05)	15.05 (6.90)*
Force onset (msec)	268.10 (83.57)	282.80 (72.53)	369.90 (128.60)*
Time to half maximal force (msec)	111.80 (27.53)	209.30 (37.48)***	299.30 (67.84) *
Dorsiflexion			
Ayonist EMG area (uV.s)	168.00 (119.90)	161.10 (46.30)	63.47 (33.88) [*]
Antagonist EMG area (uV.s)	26.74 (25.59)	24.85 (8.64)	28.30 (21.43)
Co-contraction ratio (%)	12.40 (5.00)	13.80 (5.00)	42.10 (26.00)*
Maximal force (kg)	13.65 (6.04)	10.36 (3.22)	3.40 (2.90)*
Force onset (msec)	299.60 (80.68)	280.90 (67.69)	409.30 (199.10)*
Time to half maximal force (msec)	79.89 (28.71)	156.00 (76.16)**	238.50 (234.60)*

Comparison of maximal voluntary contractions of the ankle muscles between the normal subjects and the non-affected and affected legs of hemiparetic subjects Table II.

N B 32

Ξ

** ==

Values are Mean (\pm S.D.) p< 0.001 compared to non-affected legs p< 0.05 compared to normal control legs p< 0.001 compared to normal control legs *** 72

uV.s compared to 81.4 ± 29.0 uV.s; 63%, p<0.001) and dorsiflexion (63.5 ± 33.9 uV.s compared to 161.1 ± 46.3 uV.s; 39%, p<0.001, Table II). Antagonist EMG areas were also decreased for plantarflexion but remained similar for dorsiflexion. Consequently, co-contraction ratios were unchanged during plantarflexion, being $26.3 \pm 9.0\%$ and $28.2 \pm 8.0\%$ respectively for the affected and non-affected leg (Fig. 5, third histogram). However, they were markedly increased from $13.8 \pm 5.0\%$ in the non-affected leg to $42.1 \pm 26.0\%$ in the affected leg, that is, by 305% (p<0.001) during dorsiflexion (Table II and Fig. 5, fourth histogram). This was not due to a difference in co-contraction ratios during quiet standing. Indeed, when the subject's 'motor set' (Friedli et al., 1984) was to dorsiflex, there was no difference between co-contraction ratios in the non-affected legs during quiet standing (Fig 5, first and second histograms).

Figure 6 describes the relationship between the mean co-contraction ratios and maximal voluntary force for each leg and each movement direction. As expected, there was no relationship between co-contraction and maximal force either in the non-affected or the normal control legs (not shown) for both tasks. However, a clear relationship existed between these parameters in the affected leg of hemiparetic patients during ankle dorsiflexion and is depicted by the linear regression line in the figure (r=0 91). Thus, subjects with the largest co-contraction ratios generated the least dorsiflexing force Indeed, three subjects who could produce only plantarflexion force when attempting to dorsillex the ankle had the highest co-contraction ratios. These are depicted as negative forces in the figure. Despite quite similar co-contraction ratios during ankle plantarflexion (Table II), greater forces were generated by the non-affected leg of the hemiparetic subjects than the affected leg (see also Fig. 6).

Temporal Characteristics of Force Generation

Affected legs required more processing time to generate maximal forces (Table II). Furthermore, maximal forces were generally smaller than the non-affected leg for each movement direction. However, correlational analysis revealed no relationship between the

CO-CONTRACTION RATIOS* IN HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS



*antagonist /(agonist + antagonist EMG)

Fig. 5. Co-contraction ratios during quiet standing (left) and maximal voluntary contractions (right) in non-affected (hatched bars) and affected hemiparetic legs (filled bars). The amount of co-contraction was expressed as the ratio of the antagonist/agonist + antagonist EMG here and in Fig. 6. Note that the co-contraction, normally present at rest is still apparent, but reduced, during isometric contractions in both plantarflexing (PF) and dorsiflexion (DF) directions. Compared to non-affected legs, co-contraction ratios were increased during dorsiflexion in hemiparetic legs.

CO-CONTRACTION RATIO vs MAXIMAL FORCE



*antagonist /(agonist + antagonist EMG)

Ŧ

×.

Fig. 6. Relationships between co-contraction ratios and maximal force generated by voluntary ankle plantarflexion (PF) and dorsiflexion (DF) in non-affected (+,□) and affected (..., (X)) legs. The linear relationship (df=11, y=0.75 - 0.09x, r=0.91, p<0.05) between force and co-contraction ratios during dorsiflexion is depicted by the solid line. The graph shows that despite quite similar co-contraction ratios, more force was generated by the non-affected than the affected legs of hemiparetic subjects particularly during plantarflexion.

processing time and the magnitude of force for plantar- and dorsiflexion for either the affected or non-affected legs A significant relationship did exist between force onset and the time to half maximal force during dorsiflexion (r=0.72, p<0.05) but not during plantarflexion (r=0.16). Thus, the more rapid the onset of dorsiflexing force, the shorter the force development time

REPRODUCIBILITY OF THE PARAMETERS OF MAXIMAL VOLUNTARY CONTRACTION

Our second aim was concerned with the reproducibility of the EMG and force data recorded in the hemiparetic subjects. Parameters of the maximal voluntary contractions recorded on two different days during ankle plantarflexion and dorsiflexion are shown in Table III and IV respectively. Values for each parameter are the means of four trials recorded per session. For both tasks in both legs, maximal and mean force recordings were highly stable with interclass correlation coefficients ranging from 0.78 to 0.97. Force onset was also highly reproducible in the affected and in the non-affected leg, with respective values being 0.79 and 0.75 during plantarflexion (Table III), and 0.83 and 0.73 during dorsiflexion (Table IV). The other temporal characteristic, the time to half maximal force, however, was not reliable for plantarflexion (0.21 for the affected and 0.23 for the non-affected leg; Table III) nor for dorsiflexion in the affected leg (0.57; Table IV).

In spite of the well-known cautions in comparing raw EMG area values recorded on different days, raw tibialis anterior (agonist) EMG areas were surprisingly reproducible during dorsiflexion, the r values being 0.91 and 0.77 respectively for the affected and non-affected legs (Table IV) Computation of the co-contraction ratios further yielded a high correlation of 0.99 (Table IV) for dorsiflexion in the affected leg. In sum, measures of magnitude and timing of force generation by the same hemiparetic patients were highly reproducible across days for both movement directions. However, raw agonist EMG area values and co-contraction ratios were largely stable only during dorsiflexion but not plantarflexion in the affected leg.

	Affected L	.eg	Non-Affected Leg		
Measure	Day X	Day Y	Day X	Day Y	
Maximal force (kg)	13.1 (5.9) ^ª r = 0.78 ^b	11.7 (6.1)	27.0 (12.1) r = 0.97	26.1 (9.4)	
Mean force (kg)	11.7 (5.6) r = 0.87	10.7 (6.0)	25.5 (11.9) r = 0.95	24.4 (9.2)	
Force onset (msec)	387.0 (133.1) r = 0.79	365.7 (183.2)	330.7 (92.8) r = 0.75	246.0 (74.0)	
Soleus ^c EMG area (uV.s)	51.8 (17.5) r = 0.27	54.2 (32.5)	76.0 (29.3) r = 0.71	81 2 (26.3)	
Tibialis ^d Anterior EMG area (uV.s)	22.8 (13.6) r = 0.62	19.4 (12.7)	28.2 (21.4) r = 0.23	40.5 (30.7) S	
Co-contraction ratio (%)	30.4 (12.6) r = 0.53	25.2 (9.5)	26.4 (10.8) r = 0.16	31.1 (11.8) S	
Time to half maximal force (msec)	302.1 (120.2) r = 0.21	311.9 (95.5)	215.2 (52.8) r = 0.23	213 0 (41 6) 3	

Table III. Reproducibility of maximal plantarflexion force and EMG characteristics recorded on two different days from the affected and non-affected legs of the same hemiparetic subjects

values are Mean (<u>+</u> S.D.)
interclass correlation coefficient
agonist muscle
antagonist muscle

ŧ

	Affected	Leg	Non-Affected Leg		
Measure	Day X	Day Y	Day X	Day Y	
Maximal* force (kg)	5.2 (2.5)° r = 0	4.4 (2.4) 9.95°	10.6 (3.0) r = 0.92	108 (36)	
Mean* force (kg)	4.5 (2.4) r = 0	3.2 (2.0)).87	9.8 (2.9) r = 0.94	10.1 (3.7)	
Force* onset (msec)	369.3 (152.6) r = (277.6 (57 .7)).83	304.0 (89.1) r = 0.73	280.9 (64 <i>.</i> 7)	
Tibialis ^c Anterior EMG area (uV.s)	48.6 (42.1) r = (59.0 (46.5)).91	153.6 (44.2) r = 0.77	157.9 (38 4) ,	
Soleus⁴ EMG area (uV.s)	25.7 (11.7) r = (38.0 (23.8)).04	25.9 (9.0) r = 0.28	22.1 (8.2) 3	
Co-contraction ratio (%)	47.6 (33.4) r = (47.9 (31.9)).99	15.1 (5.2) r = 0.53	12.4 (4.6) 3	
Time to half maximal force (msec)	184.4 (311.1) r = (142.1 (153.3) 0.57	147.7 (69.1) r = 0.85	161.3 (95.6) 5	

Table IV.	Reproducibility of maximal dorsiflexion force and EMG characteristics recorded on two
	different days from the affected and non-affected legs of the same hemiparetic subjects

does not include negative or zero values values are Mean (+ S.D.) interclass correlation coefficient agonist muscle antagonist muscle

١

ŗ -**a**i

CLINICAL CORRELATES

1

Intercorrelations between reflex measures, parameters of maximal voluntary contraction and the degree of clinically measured spasticity (Tables I, II and V) were calculated for the two complete sets of data collected from the same hemiparetic subjects on different days. Because high correlations among the various data may have occurred by chance (Levin and Chan, 1990a), only those relationships which showed significant correlations on both testing days were considered to be meaningful and are highlighted below.

As previously reported (Levin and Chan, 1990a), the total spasticity score showed consistent but non-significant relationships with physiological measures of reflex function. However, in the affected leg, spasticity in the plantarflexors wes significantly related to the ability of their antagonists, the pre-tibial flexors, to generate EMG and force during dorsiflexion. Specifically, it varied inversely with the maximal dorsiflexion force (-0.65, p<0.05, Fig 7A) and increased linearly with increasing amount of co-contraction recorded in the agonist/ antagonist muscle pair (0.68, p<0.05, Fig. 7B). The findings suggest that the greater the degree of spasticity in the plantarflexors, the greater the degree of co-contraction in the ankle muscles during dorsiflexion and the smaller the dorsiflexing force. Indeed, the degree of cocontraction was also highly correlated with the maximal force generated by voluntary ankle dorsiflexion (r=0.91, p<0.05; see also Fig. 6). In contrast, no relationship was found among spasticity, co-contraction ratios and maximal force during voluntary ankle plantarlexion in the affected leg. Nor was there a relationship between co-contraction ratio and maximal force during either task in non-affected legs of hemiparetic and normal control subjects. Moreover, parameters of maximal voluntary contraction of the dorsiflexors was not correlated with any reflex measures in the plantarflexors of the affected leg in hemiparetic subjects.

Reflex Profile				Maximal Voluntary Contraction	
Hvib/ Hctl (%)	SR onset (msec)	SR/M area (%)	Plantar- flexion force (kg)	Dorsi- tlexion force (kg)	
22.0 17.0	25.5 41.0	59.0 60.0	 16.1 16.7	5.0 7.3	
99.4 51.9 71.7 21.8	58.9 32.0 37.2 39.8	35.0 59.0 98.0 13.0	10.7 22.4 10.4 28.9	4.2 5.8 7.9 1 4	
15.8 74.5 89.1	53.5 53.5 28.5 35.8	66.0 53.0 65.0	23.8 9.5 3.1	6.4 1.2 0.0	
30.4 64.9 90.1 87.6	29.9 34.1 31.3 31.5	85.0 61.0 28.0	12.4 13.5 10.5 17.6	0.0 4.4 1.2	
	36.8	59.5	15.0	3.4	
	Reflex Hvib/ Hctl (%) 22.0 17.0 99.4 51.9 7 21.8 15.8 74.5 89.1 30.4 64.9 90.1 87.6	Reflex Profile Hvib/ SR Hctl onset (%) (msec) 22.0 25.5 17.0 41.0 99.4 58.9 51.9 32.0 7'./ 37.2 21.8 39.8 15.8 53.5 74.5 28.5 89.1 35.8 30.4 29.9 64.9 34.1 90.1 31.3 87.6 31.5	Reflex ProfileHvib/ HctlSR onset (%)SR/M area (%)22.0 25.5 25.5 59.0 22.0 17.0 99.4 58.9 51.9 21.8 39.8 13.0 21.8 15.8 53.5 53.5 66.0 74.5 28.5 53.0 51.9 32.0 21.8 39.8 13.0 39.8 13.0 15.8 91 35.8 65.0 30.4 90.1 31.3 31.3 28.0 87.6 56.7 36.8 59.5	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	

Table V. Reflex and isometric maximal voluntary force prolile of spastic hemiparetic subjects

SR = stretch reflex

1

100 N

Ĩ

ř.



Fig. 7. Relationships between the severity of spasticity and A) maximal dorsiflexing force (df=11, y=11.48 - 0.7x, r= - 0.65, p<0.05), and B) the co-contraction ratios (df=11, y=1.23 - 0.06x, r= 0.68, p<0.05) during voluntary ankle dorsiflexion in spastic hemiparetic subjects.

DISCUSSION

COMPARISON BETWEEN NON-AFFECTED LEGS OF HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS AND NORMAL LEGS

The morphological and physiological properties of motor units on the non-affected side of hemiparetic subjects are not different from normal subjects (McComas et al., 1973, Sica and Sanz, 1976). This has lent justification to the use of non-affected limbs of hemiparetic subjects as appropriate matched controls in studies investigating motor unit properties (McComas et al., 1973) and gross motor behaviour (Lee et al., 1987, Bourbonnais et al., 1989). In our hemiparetic subjects, the activity in the non-affected plantarflexors and dorsiflexors did not differ from age-matched normals in terms of agonist EMG areas, co-contraction ratios or the ability to generate maximal force (Table II). Thus, we felt confident in comparing the activity of the affected legs with that of non-affected legs from the same group of patients. This was preferable to comparisons with potentially more heterogeneous limbs from a different group of normal subjects.

The non-affected legs did differ from normal legs in demonstrating a significantly prolonged time to half maximal force during both voluntary ankle plantar- and dorsiflexion (Table II). This has been previously reported in the upper limb by Hammond et al (1988b) However, since all other parameters of force and EMG were similar to normal (with the exception of antagonist EMG area during ankle plantarflexion), the delayed force development time may not have been related to changes in motor unit properties in non-affected limbs of hemiparetic patients. An alternative explanation may be that the hemiparetic leg was unable to provide adequate stabilization for rapid force generation on the non-affected side during standing. Thus, deficits of postural stability in stroke patients (Bobath, 1978, Horak et al., 1984) may well have contributed to the longer recruitment times

CHARACTERISTICS OF VOLUNTARY CONTRACTION IN HEMIPARETIC LEG MUSCLES

Changes in motor unit properties in the affected limb of hemiparetic subjects could

have contributed to the disordered motor function (see below). However, changes in the gain of stretch reflexes during voluntary movement could also have contributed to the motor deficit. On the other hand, the decreased agonist recruitment (39% of the non-affected leg; Table II) and impaired inhibition of antagonists (114% of the non-affected leg; Table II) in the dorsiflexors further suggested that descending commands may be modified in central spasticity Thus, alterations in motor unit properties, stretch reflexes, and/or descending commands could all have contributed to the motor deficits in central spasticity. Each of these considerations will now be discussed in light of the findings in our present study.

Altered Motor Unit Properties

Alterations in motor unit properties, such as the number and types of remaining motor units as well as changes in their discharge rates, may partially explain the altered voluntary function. At the motor unit level, the interference pattern of the EMG is proportional, at least to the number of recruited units and to their discharge rates (Fuglsang-Frederiksen et al, 1977, 1987). In hermiplegic spasticity, there is a selective loss of fast twitch motor units predominantly in antigravity muscles (i.e. ankle plantarflexors, elbow flexors; Edstrom, 1970). The total number of functioning motor units is decreased on the affected side to 50% and 57% of control values in the extensor digitorum brevis (McComas et al., 1973) and the soleus muscles respectively (Sica and Sanz, 1976). Mean contraction times of the remaining fast twitch motor units may also be slower in hemiparetic patients (Young and Mayer, 1982). These functional alterations, no doubt, help to explain our findings of decreased surface EMG and prolonged recruitment times They do not, however, adequately describe the changes in agonist/antagonist recruitment patterns.

Hyperactive Stretch Reflexes

The activity in several reflex pathways is disturbed in spasticity and may be a factor contributing to the motor deficits (Burke, 1988). One such pathway is that mediating reciprocal inhibition. Reciprocal inhibition from pre-tibial flexors to extensors is decreased in spastic hemiparesis while it is marked from extensors to flexors (Yanagisawa et al., 1976) The latter finding may partly explain the pronounced weakness in the dorsiflexor muscles of hemiparetic patients (Yanagisawa et al., 1976) The reported changes in reciprocal inhibition would, in addition, argue for increased co-contraction during plantarflexion. During dorsiflexion, cocontraction would be decreased. In fact, our findings suggested the opposite. Co-contraction was unchanged during plantarflexion, while it was markedly increased by 305% during dorsiflexion. Thus, it seems unlikely that changes in reciprocal inhibition alone could account for the motor deficits in our subjects.

Alterations in other segmental pathways may also contribute to the disrupted motor control in spasticity. Measures of reflex function are clearly increased in spasticity (Delwaide, 1985; Levin and Chan, 1990a) The relationship between increased reflexes and disordered motor control, however, is unclear. Significant correlations were not demonstrated between these variables in our hemiparetic subjects or by other investigators (e.g. Knutsson and Martensson, 1980; McLellan et al., 1985). The soleus muscle was not stretched during isometric dorsiflexion. Thus, the co-contraction may not have been related to hyperactivity in segmental pathways driven by peripheral afferents. Rather, these findings suggested that peripheral feedback mechanisms may have been impaired at the interneuronal level.

It is generally agreed that measures of segmental reflex excitability at rest may be poor indicators of the amount of disruption of voluntary motor pathways (McLellan et al., 1985). Stretch reflex gains are normally modulated during voluntary movement (Marsden et al., 1976; Toft et al., 1989). One explanation for the changed motor control in spasticity, may be abnormal or increased stretch reflex gains during voluntary movement (McLellan et al., 1985). Recent evidence, however, has suggested that while reflex gains in spasticity are indeed modified during voluntary movement, they do not appear to differ from normal (Lee et al., 1987).

Thus, the motor deficit in spasticity may partly be due to altered reciprocal inhibitory mechanisms. However, it is unlikely that it is related to the enhanced reflex activity at rest or enhanced reflex gains during voluntary movement.

Changes in Central Commands

A coordinated theory of motor control suggests that movement is organized according to different combinations of either reciprocal or co-contraction commands originating from higher centres (Feldman, 1980a,b). This theory has received empirical support from work in primates (Humphrey and Reed, 1983). They demonstrated overlapping regions of the pre-central motor contex controlling reciprocal and co-activation commands for movements of the wrist, which were independent of somatosensory feedback. Lesions of the pre-central cortex, often occurring after cerebrovascular accidents, may result in disturbances of the coordination between the reciprocal and coactivation command systems. The decreased agonist recruitment and increased co-contraction during voluntary ankle dorsiflexion in the lower limb of our subjects is consistent with similar findings in the upper and lower limbs of hemiparetic patients studied by other investigators (Knuttson and Martensson, 1980; McLellan and Hassan, 1982; Hammond et al., 1988a). It is likely that the disturbed motor function arose from disordered descending commands, since activity in afferents mediating stretch reflexes should not have affected voluntary EMG and force during isometric contractions. Thus, our findings of decreased agonist recruitment during isometric ankle plantar- and dorsiflexion, along with increased co-contraction, supports the hypothesis of altered descending commands in spasticity.

REPRODUCIBILITY OF MEASURES

According to our experimental paradigm, measures of maximal and mean force, force onset and dorsiflexion co-contraction ratios were highly reproducible (0.73 to 0.99; Table III and IV). These results suggested that these measures could be used with confidence in comparing the results of treatment over several days or weeks. To our knowledge, this issue has not been addressed by previous investigators.

Raw EMG recorded from different subjects on different days is generally not considered reliable. Variability in recording conditions due to changes in skin resistance and

electrode placement cannot always be avoided. Despite these limitations, efforts were made to duplicate EMG recording conditions in each testing session as closely as possible Surprisingly, raw EMG area values generated in the tibialis anterior muscle during dorsiflexion of the affected leg were highly consistent when the same hemiparetic subjects were tested across two different sessions (r=0.91, Table IV) Soleus EMG areas however, were less stable (Table III). One explanation for the discrepancy may be that tibialis anterior contributed a larger percentage towards dorsiflexing force than did soleus towards the total plantarflexing force. For example, during ankle dorsiflexion, extensor hallucis longus and extensor digitorum longus may have contributed a small amount of force in comparison to tibialis anterior. During plantarflexion, however, gastrocnemius, tibialis posterior and flexor hallucis longus may have contributed a somewhat larger percentage of the force in comparison to soleus (Kendall et al., 1971). Therefore, presuming a selective electrode technique and the lack of significant volume conduction (DeLuca and Merletti, 1988), the relative contribution of the soleus muscle to plantarflexing force may have been more variable than the vibialis anterior's contribution to dorsiflexing force. Another possibility is that a surface recording technique may adequately pick up a significant proportion of the muscle action potentials generated in the superficially located tibialis anterior, but it would be less adequate for the more deeply located soleus (Basmaiian, 1978). This view is supported by the finding that when the EMG potentials were maximal (tibialis anterior acting as an agonist), the raw EMG values displayed more inter-session reliability (r=0.91, 077; Table IV) than when their activity was sub-maximal (r=0.62, 0.23; tibialis anterior acting as an antagonist, Table III)

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Maximal agonist EMG area was significantly decreased in the affected leg of hemiparetic subjects during both plantarflexion and dorsiflexion (to 63% and 39% of the non-affected limb respectively, c.f. Table II) Maximal force for each task was also significantly lower in the affected than non-affected limbs (59% and 33% respectively) These findings of the decreased agonist recruitment and force along with increased co-contraction ratios during

voluntary dorsiflexion suggested impaired inhibition of the spastic antagonist (soleus). Since no relationship was found between voluntary ankle function and hyperactive reflex activity in the calf at rest, it is further suggested that the motor deficit may be related to impaired descending voluntary commands. However, our data does not rule out the possibility that enhanced reflex activity during voluntary effort may also have contributed to the motor deficit.

This study also showed that maximal force, mean force and force onset during both plantarflexion and dorsiflexion, and co-contraction ratios in the affected leg during dorsiflexion were highly reproducible accross testing sessions (r=0.73 to 0.99, Tables III and IV). An important clinical finding was that the increased co-contraction and decreased force during maximal voluntary ankle dorsiflexion correlated highly with the severity of spasticity such that the more severe the spasticity, the greater the co-contraction and the lower the force developed by the antagonist to the spastic muscle. These findings suggested that reliable measures of force and co-contraction for muscles with residual function may be valid instruments of charting therapeutic improvement.

CHAPTER 4

REPETITIVE ELECTRICAL STIMULATION IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS: I. STRETCH REFLEX LATENCY CHANGES.

SUMMARY

Repetitive low-intensity electrical stimulation of the dorsal column reportedly decreases spasticity, although the mechanisms mediating this effect are unclear. A question arises whether activation of large diameter fibres through transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) would also decrease spasticity. Thus, the objectives of this study were (1) to examine possible changes in stretch reflex excitability following 45 min of TENS via both latency and magnitude (amplitude or area) measurements, (2) to map out the time-course of possible post-stimulation effects, and (3) to determine the role of segmental versus non-segmental mechanisms involved in mediating these changes. The effects of 45 min of segmentally and heterosegmentally applied TENS on lower limb reflexes in ten spactic hemiparetic subjects were contrasted with those resulting from placebo stimulation. Our main tinding was that, in contrast to placebo stimulation, both segmentally and heterosegmentally applied TENS caused an immediate increase in the latencies of soleus H and stretch reflexes that was evident for up to 60 minutes following the cessation of stimulation. These results suggested that manipulation of segmental and hetero-segmental afferents for 45 min may lead to a decrease of the otherwise augmented stretch reflex excitability accompanying hemiparetic spasticity. Such a finding has important implications for the rehabilitation of patients with spasticity.

INTRODUCTION

According to the traditional view, spasticity is due to hyperactivity of the stretch reflex arc manifested by a velocity dependent increase in tonic and phasic stretch reflexes, sometimes accompanied by clonus (Lance, 1980). This hyperactivity could result from either abnormal segmental afterent input to proprioceptive reflex circuits in the spinal cord, or from abnormal processing of otherwise normal input from the periphery, or both However, findings from a primate model of hemiplegia (Gilman et al., 1974) and from patients (Hagbarth et al., 1973; 1975) both suggest that afferent input to the spinal cord is essentially unaltered in spasticity. On the other hand, an increase in the average resting membrane potential of alpha motoneurons, caused by a net increase in descending excitation, could result in an earlier activation of motoneurons (Feldman, 1966, 1986). This could lead to a decrease in stretch reflex threshold and the enhanced reflex activity reported in spasticity (Ashby and Verrier, 1976, Levin and Chan, 1990a)

As demonstrated by Dimitrijevic and Nathan (1968) and Dimitrijevic et al. (1983), another principal sign of spasticity is irradiation of reflexes. Consequently, **remote or hetero-segmental** afferents may play an important role in driving spasticity. In this connection, clinical reports indicate that peripheral nerve blocks (Dimitrijevic and Nathan, 1967) and repetitive electrical stimulation of antagonistic muscles (Duchenne, 1855; Levine et al., 1952; Alfieri, 1982, Vodovnik et al., 1984) could both lead to immediate reductions in spasticity. Similarly, large diameter afferent conditioning via dorsal column stimulation has been found to decrease spasticity (Nashold and Friedman, 1972; Cook and Weinstein, 1973).

While dorsal column stimulation requires surgical exposure of the spinal cord, an alternative technique - transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), is non-invasive At low-intensity, high-frequency stimulation, it is thought to predominantly activate large diameter afferents. In fact, using recording of evoked sensory potentials and measurements of conduction velocity, we have shown that such kind of stimulation excited large diameter fibres in the A α B range (Levin and Chan, 1988). It is thus noteworthy that, in a clinical study of 49 multiple sclerosis patients, two weeks of continuous TENS applied heterosegmentally were found to produce a moderate but meaningful reduction in
subjective spasticity, associated with an improvement in the motor performance of knee flexors and extensors (Fredriksen et al., 1936).

-

i i

While the underlying mechanisms remain unclear, an interesting observation is that very brief (several seconds of) dorsal column stimulation could have prolonged effects (up to minutes), which cannot be explained solely by simple synaptic mechanisms. For example, in decerebrate cats, Chapman et al. (1983) found that the suppression of static but not dynamic stretch reflexes outlasted the period of dorsal column stimulation (1 - 10 min) for 5 to 20 min. In three spastic patients, Siegfried et al (1978) reported an elevation of H reflex thresholds for up to 3 min following only one 300 misec conditioning train applied to the dorsal column. Indeed, longer applications of TENS may have even more prolonged effects. For example, Chan and Tsang (1987) found long-lasting inhibition of the lower limb flexion reflex in normal subjects, in some cases for more than one hour, following 30 min of low-intensity TENS applied segmentally to the low back. These findings open up the possibility that TENS may also generate prolonged depression of reflex excitability.

In an earlier study, we investigated the immediate effects of 30 min of **segmentally** applied TENS on the reflex measures of the spastic soleus in hemiparetic patients (Hale and Chan, 1986a) TENS applied to the low back of these patients produced no significant change in the amplitude of H and stretch reflexes. However, the extent to which reflex amplitudes or gains reflect the severity of spasticity has lately been questioned. Recent investigations of stretch reflex activity in the spastic elbow flexors of hemiparetic subjects suggested that spasticity may be characterized more appropriately by a decrease in the stretch reflex threshold than by an increase in gain (Lee et al., 1987; Powers et al., 1988). In these studies, a reduced threshold was implied by the appearance of EMG activity after a smaller elbow joint angle deflection, while stretch reflex gain or stiffness in these patients was not found to be significantly different from the non-affected limb or from normal subjects.

Since threshold changes may be reflected in appropriate latency changes, we re-examined the immediate effects of 45 min of TENS (versus 30 min in the previous study; Hale and Chan, 1986a) on the latency and magnitude characteristics of both the monosynaptic and polysynaptic stretch roflexes in the spastic calf muscles of hemiparetic patients. In an added attempt to determine

the time course of possible post-stimulation effects, measurements of stretch reflex excitability were repeated at 20 min intervals for up to 60 min after the cessation of TENS. To further delineate the respective contribution of segmental versus non-segmental (e.g. propriospinal and descending) mechanisms, the effects of segmentally applied TENS on stretch reflex excitability were contrasted with heterosegmental and placebo stimulation. To reiterate, the objectives of the present study were. (1) to examine possible changes in stretch reflex excitability following 45 min of TENS via both latency and magnitude (amplitude or area) measurements, (2) to map out the time-course of possible post-stimulation effects, and (3) to determine the role of segmental versus non-segmental mechanisms involved in mediating these changes. Some of these data have previously appeared in abstract form (Levin and Chan, 1989).

METHODS

SUBJECTS

Ten patients with spastic hemiparesis (mean = $56.2 \pm S.D. 13.5$ years) participated voluntarily in the study. Specific inclusion criteria, method of subject fixation, stimulation and recording procedures have all been described in detail in a previous publication (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a). Table I summarizes the demographic data for these hemiparetic subjects. As previously described (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a), the evaluation of spasticity consisted of 1) Achilles tendon reflexes, 2) resistance to passive ankle dorsiflexion, and 3) amount and duration of ankle clonus. It provided a composite (albeit subjective) index of spasticity. Based on our clinical experience, the computed 'spasticity scores' ranging from 0 to 9, 10 to 12, and 13 to 16 corresponded to 'mild', 'moderate' and 'severe' spasticity respectively.

EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL

Subjects returned for three randomly ordered sessions in which they received either 45 min of 1) segmentally or 2) heterosegmentally applied TENS, or 3) placebo stimulation, to be described

Subject	Age	Etiology	Time since injury (mos)	Spas- ticity score*	Degree of spas- ticity
1. F	67	L.CV.A	56	4	mild
2. F	48	R.CVA	11	7	mild
3. F	49	L.CVA	26	9	mild
4. M	43	L.CVA	7	10	moderate
5. M	67	R.CVA	22	10	moderate
6. M	67	R.CVA	37	10	moderate
7. M	75	L.CVA	15	11	moderate
8. M	31	R.CVA	24	13	severe
9. M	57	L.CVA	50	14	severe
10. M ^b	58	R.Trauma	15	16	severe
Mean =	56.2		26.3	10.4	
S.D. =	13.5		16.5	3.4	

Table I. Clinical features of spastic hemiparetic subjects

The spasticity score is based on 3 clinical measures of spasticity:
1) Achilles tendon reflex

2) resistance to passive stretch

3) clonus.

Scores ranging from 0-9, 10-12 and 13-16 respectively were classified as mild, moderate and severe spasticity.

* Subject on stable regime of anti-spasmodic medication (Dantro'ene Sodium)

L./R. CVA = left/right cerebrovascular accident

F/M = female/male below. Since no single measure has been definitively correlated with changes in the <u>severity</u> of spasticity, we used multiple indicators to investigate the effects of TENS Pre- and post-stimulation test batteries consisted of the clinical evaluation as described above and three physiological reflex measures. For reflex testing, subjects reclined in a semi-supine position with the knee fixated at 30° flexion and the ankle supported in the neutral position. A full description of the testing procedures have been described (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a). Briefly, they involved recording 1) the maximal amplitude of the H reflex as a percentage of the maximal M response, termed here, the H/M ratio (Hoffmann, 1918; Schieppati, 1987); 2) the amount of inhibition of the H reflex during vibration, expressed here as a percentage of control H reflex amplitudes (Hvib/Hctl), and 3) the excitability of the soleus stretch reflex (SR) evoked at rest, computed as the SR/M area ratio. To further assess the time course of post-stimulation effects, these measures were repeated at three 20 min intervals after the cessation of TENS or placebo stimulation.

TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION

TENS and placebo stimulation were applied via a Selectra 7720 stimulator (Medtronic) for a period of 45 min. Two rectangular rubber surface electrodes (3.8 cm x 5.1 cm) were coupled to the skin with electric conductive gel and hypoallergenic tape. Stimulation consisted of continuous high-frequency (99 Hz), square 0.125 msec electrical impulses delivered at low intensity (twice the sensory threshold) for TENS and at essentially zero intensity (0.1 x threshold) for placebo At the beginning of each testing session, sensory threshold was determined by gradually increasing the intensity of the stimulation to a level when the subject first reported a faint tingling sensation. The intensity was then decreased until no sensation was felt. The average of three such trials was used to determine the threshold intensity for each session. TENS was applied to two sites: 1) the common peroneal nerve (L4-S2) located just posterior to the head of the fibula, which supplies the muscles antagonistic to the spastic calf muscles; or 2) the volar aspect of the contralateral wrist over the median nerve (C6-T1). Placebo stimulation was applied only to the first site. The two sites were chosen in order to determine the differential effects of **segmental** versus **heterosegmental** mechanisms in the possible modification of stretch reflex excitability in spastic hemiparesis

EMG RECORDING AND DATA ANALYSIS

Procedures for recording and anlayzing H/M ratios, Hvib/Hctl ratios and stretch reflexes have previously been described in detail (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a). Briefly, EMG from soleus and tibialis anterior muscles were recorded via disposable surface electrodes. Maximal peak-to-peak H reflex amplitudes were expressed as a percentage of maximal M response amplitudes. The amount of inhibition of the H reflex during vibration was calculated as a percentage of the control H reflex amplitude which was approximately 30% of the maximal M response. Stretch reflex area values were normalized by expressing them as ratios of maximal M response areas. Other parameters analyzed were stretch reflex latencies, onset angles and durations.

Statistical Analysis. Changes in H reflex latencies, H/M and Hvib/Hctl ratios, as well as parameters of the stretch reflex were expressed as percentages of their corresponding pre-stimulation control values for each subject. Changes in each 20 min post-stimulation time interval were compared between treatments. Occasionally, post-stimulation changes in the the three time periods were pooled. Two-way ANOVAs compared the effects of the segmental and heterosegmental TENS stimulation with placebo treatments on each reflex measure. Differences between individual pairs of means were determined by a post-hoc test (least significance difference test). A significance level of 0.05 was used for all two-tailed tests.

RESULTS

CHARACTERISTICS OF REFLEX RESPONSES

1

H/M ratios were generally elevated in our spastic hemiparetic patients. Examples of H/M and Hvib/Hctl ratios for two subjects are illustrated in Fig. 1. The subject shown in Fig. 1 (A-C) was a 48 year old female with left hemiparesis and mild spasticity. This subject had an H/M ratio of 65.9% and an Hvib/Hctl ratio of 40.0%. In contrast, the subject in Fig. 1 (D-F) was a 57 year old male with right hemiparesis and severe spasticity, who had an H/M ratio of 90.0% and an Hvib/Hctl ratio of 64.4%. In spite of the apparent correlation between the H/M ratios and the degree of clinical



Fig. 1 Examples of maximal H reflex (Hmax, A & D), maximal M responses (Mmax; B & E), and vibratory inhibition of the H reflex (Hvib/ Hctl; C & F) in two hemiparetic subjects with mild (A-C) and severe (D-F) spasticity. For these subjects, the H/M ratios were 65.9% and 90.0%, while the Hvib/Hctl ratios were 40.0% and 64.4% respectively.

spasticity (mild versus severe) in the two subjects shown in Fig. 1, this was not the case for all subjects. As reported in a previous paper (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a), the total spasticity score did not show any consistent relationship with H/M or Hvib/Hctl ratios (r=0.27, 0.43 respectively). Similarly, the magnitude of H/M and Hvib/Hctl ratios were not correlated with each other (r=0.22, Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a).

EFFECTS OF TENS ON H REFLEXES

i

Ţ

4

Due to the large inter-subject variability of H reflex measures, we expressed the poststimulation effects as percentages of the control values, in order to compare the results of each treatment across subjects. Figure 2 shows the group mean changes in H reflex latencies, H/M and Hvib/Hctl ratios in the three 20 min post-stimulation time periods (P1, P2, P3) after TENS application to the lower extremity (filled bars), or to the upper extremity (hatched bars), and after placebo stimulation to the lower extremity (open bars). Placebo stimulation had no effect on H reflex latencies in the hemiparetic patients (mean change of the three post-stimulus intervals was 99.6 \pm 8.3%). In contrast, Fig. 2 (left panel) shows that segmental and heterosegmental TENS produced a significant increase in H reflex latencies which was evident in each of the 20 min time intervals following TENS. The mean post-stimulus change in latency was 106.5 \pm 8.7% (p<0.02) following TENS to the lower extremity, and 105 7 \pm 6.2% (p=0.02) after TENS to the upper extremity.

No significant effects of segmental, heterosegmental or placebo TENS were found on the magnitude of either H/M ratios (Fig. 2, center panel) or Hvib/Hctl ratios (Fig. 2, right panel), although segmental TENS tended to decrease H/M ratios. The large inter-subject vanability of Hvib/Hctl ratios may have masked any possible treatment effect. However, no effect was found even after examining the results of those subjects who initially had low (<50%) or high Hvib/Hctl ratios (>50%).

EFFECTS OF TENS ON STRETCH REFLEXES

Neither TENS nor placebo stimulation had any consistent effect on stretch reflex durations, areas, or on stretch-evoked clonus. However, both latencies and onset angles were significantly increased following TENS but not placebo stimulation (F=7.36, p=0.001). An example of the effect of



ş

- 3

Fig. 2. Histograms of the means and standard deviations of post-stimulation changes in H reflex latencies (left), H/M ratios (middle), and Hvib/Hctl ratios (right) for each of the three treatment procedures Solid bars denote TENS treatment to the common peroneal nerve of the leg. Hatched bars represent TENS treatment to the contralateral wrist. Open bars indicate placebo stimulation to the leg. Post-stimulus changes at three 20 min intervals (P1, P2, P3) are expressed as percentages of the control values. Compared to placebo stimulation, the mean H reflex latencies were significantly prolonged after TENS to either site (Post-Hoc test, p< 02).

TENS on the soleus stretch reflex latency is shown in Fig. 3A-D for one subject with moderate spasticity. The mean values of ten stretch reflexes (solid line) and their standard errors (dotted line) are displayed on the same time scale along with the corresponding mean ankle displacement (dashed line) before stimulation (Fig 3A), 20, 40, and 60 minutes (Fig 3B-D) after 45 minutes of TENS stimulation to the common peroneal nerve. The prolongation of stretch reflex latencies is clearly seen in this example, as an increased distance from the vertical line aligned with the onset latency of the control response in Fig. 3A. Group effects are summarized in the histograms of Fig. 4 showing the mean values of stretch reflex latency changes, expressed as a percentage of the control, in the three 20 min time intervals following the applications of TENS or placebo stimulation. The means of all three post-stimulation periods for stretch reflex latencies were 1105 \pm 4.5% for TENS applied to the contralateral upper extremity, and 1098 \pm 92% for TENS applied to the ipsilateral lower extremity. These were significantly longer than the value obtained following placebo stimulation (90.8 \pm 7.7%, p<0.05). It should further be noted that the increase in stretch reflex latencies was evident for at least 60 min post-TENS stimulation.

Ĵ.

í

DISCUSSION

Of all the aspects of segmental reflex circuitry investigated in our spastic hemiparetic subjects, only H and stretch reflex latencies showed any improvement (5 7% to 10.5%) immediately following 45 min of low-threshold afferent conditioning. Of particular interest was that the prolongation of the onset measures was evident after both segmentally and heterosegmentally applied TENS, but not after placebo stimulation. Furthermore, the effect outlasted the period of stimulation for at least 60 min.

TENS or placebo treatment had no significant effects on the magnitude of either H/M ratios or Hvib/Hctl ratios (Fig 2). Since the former reflects the amount of excitability in the alpha motoneuronal pool (Hugon, 1973; Schieppati, 1987), our findings may suggest that 45 min of TENS had no immediate effects on motoneuronal excitability. Nevertheless, H/M ratios showed a tendency to decrease following segmental TENS stimulation, and Hvib/Hctl ratios appeared to be depressed for



Fig. 3. Soleus stretch reflexes in one subject with moderate spasticity (A) before, (B) 20, (C) 40 and (D) 60 min after 45 min of TENS to the common peroneal nerve. Mean EMG values of ten trials are denoted by solid lines and standard errors by dotted lines. Stretch reflex responses are shown on the same time scale as the ankle displacement denoted by dashed lines. Vertical line indicates the control stretch reflex latency. The prolongation of onset latencies in each post-stimulus time interval is clearly seen as an increased distance from this line.

SOLEUS STRETCH REFLEX LATENCY



Fig. 4. Histograms of the means and standard deviations of soleus stretch reflex onset latencies in each 20 min interval for each treatment procedure. Legends are the same as for Fig. 2. Note that, in contrast to placebo stimulation, TENS applied to the leg or wrist significantly prolonged stretch reflex latencies (Post-Hoc test, p<.05).

up to 40 min following heterosegmental TENS stimulation (Fig. 2). H/M ratios would not be altered if the maximal H and M responses increased or decreased together. Therefore, in an effort to determine if TENS affected them in parallel, we measured the changes in each response over time in individual subjects. Both of them were found to increase together slightly regardless of TENS or placebo stimulation. Possible explanations for the increasing trends include changes in limb temperature, skin or electrode resistance (Brunia et al., 1973). However, these factors would not be important in the interpretation of findings in Hvib/Hctl ratios, since control H reflexes were chosen as a constant percentage of the maximal M response evoked in each successive 20 min time interval.

EFFECTS OF SEGMENTAL TENS

Segmental mechanisms may have contributed to the prolongation of reflex latencies observed in this study. A likely mechanism could be reciprocal inhibition. It is well documented that repetitive low-threshold afferent stimulation immediately inhibits spinal reflex activity segmentally, via the activation of reciprocal inhibitory pathways (Eccles and Lundberg, 1958, Tanaka, 1983) Extensive excitatory and inhibitory convergence from segmental, as well as supraspinal systems onto la inhibitory interneurons, has been established by direct interneuronal recording in cats (Hultborn et al., 1976a,b,c). In normal man, reciprocal inhibition from pre-tibial flexors to extensors is present during voluntary activation of the dorsiflexors, as evidenced by suppression of the H reflex amplitude in the antagonist at latencies consistent with a disynaptic pathway (Tanaka, 1983). Reciprocal inhibition is present, although weak, in patients with hemiplegia (Yanagisawa et al., 1976) Thus, one possible explanation for the effects of segmentally-applied TENS could be that repetitive large diameter afferent conditioning may have resulted in an inhibition of the excitability of extensor alpha motoneurons mediated by la reciprocal inhibitory pathways. Our findings of increased H and stretch-reflex latencies are consistent with the view that reciprocal inhibition may modulate the threshold, and consequently the latency, rather than the amplitude of the soleus H reflex in man (Davies, 1985).

EFFECTS OF HETEROSEGMENTAL TENS

TENS applied to the wrist prolonged H and stretch reflex totencies in the contralateral lower

limb by the same order of magnitude as segmental stimulation (Figs. 2 and 4). This heterosegmental stimulation also depressed Hvib/Hctl ratios (see Fig. 2) for up to 40 min post-stimulation, but the effect was not significant (p>0.05). Since both segmental and heterosegmental stimulation affected lower extremity reflexes to a similar extent, it is not likely that these results can be explained by purely reciprocal mechanisms discussed above. Furthermore, the prolonged effects of 45 min of TENS suggested that repetitive electrical stimulation may have triggered the release of long-lasting inhibitory neuromodulators to be discussed below

The immediate effects of remote, heterosegmental conditioning of low-threshold afferents on lower limb reflexes in man has not been previously described, although Walker (1982) observed a prolonged suppression of clonus in the lower extremity of multiple sclerosis patients following percutaneous stimulation of the contralateral radial/median nerve with implanted electrocles. In intact rats, a gradual enhancement of inhibition in spinal lumbar interneurons has been reported following repeated electrical cutaneous conditioning of the ipsilateral hindlimb (MacDonald and Pearson, 1979). In this study, the inhibition outlasted the stimulation from 0.5 sec to 7 min in intact but not spinal rats, suggesting that the development of inhibition depended on descending influences.

Possible mechanisms which may explain the results of remote afferent stimulation on reflex latencies could include 1) an increase in presynaptic inhibition, 2) a non-specific release of inhibitory neuromodulators, or 3) an augmentation of descending inhibition via propriospinal pathways, as it will emerge below.

114

-

Presynaptic Inhibition. In the present study, both segmental and heterosegmental afferent conditioning were found to have no significant effect on Hvib/Hctl ratios in spastic hemiparetic patients. In normal subjects, inhibition of the soleus H reflex is maximal when a 2 mm amplitude vibratory stimulus of between 80 to 100 Hz is applied to the homonymous Achilles tendon (Desmedt and Godaux, 1978). Under these conditions, inhibition of the H reflex is believed to be partially mediated by presynaptic inhibition of the la terminals onto the presumed monosynaptic stretch reflex arc (Gillies et al., 1969, Burke et al., 1976). Vibratory inhibition of the H reflex has been reported to be decreased in spastic hemiplegic subjects (Ashby and Verrier, 1976), suggesting that presynaptic

inhibition may be diminished in spasticity. One of the mechanisms proposed to be responsible for the decrease in spasticity during dorsal column stimulation is an enhancement of presynaptic inhibition at the segmental level (Phillips, 1981) The evidence supporting this contention, however, is quite indirect. Our findings that TENS did not decrease Hvib/Hctl ratios may have been related to the fact that only half of our subjects had Hvib/Hctl ratios that were larger than normal (>50%) However, even in the patients with elevated ratios (n=5), the mean post- stimulus effects of segmental and heterosegmental TENS were not significantly different (p>0.05) from placebo stimulation, being 83.9 \pm 23.0%, 89.1 \pm 33.7% and 96.2 \pm 33.5% respectively. Paradoxically, TENS treatments tended to placebo, the respective values being 124.6 \pm 67.8%, 130.7 \pm 72.5% and 91.5 \pm 65.8%. However, these results were not significant due to the high intersubject variability Despite the difficulty in interpreting these results due to the small size of our sample, the insignificant decrease in the group mean Hvib/Hctl ratio is not consistent with an immediate enhancement of presynaptic inhibition following a single session of TENS stimulation.

Release of Inhibitory Neuromodulators. The prolonged increase in reflex latencies for periods outlasting the TENS stimulation may point to the possible involvement of inhibitory neuromodulators. In this connection, TENS applications for pain control have been reported to increase opioid concentrations in the plasma and cerebrospinal fluid of normal human subjects (Facchinetti et al., 1984; Salar et al., 1981). Furthermore, morphine sulphate injected in the intrathecal space overlying the spinal cord has been found to produce a striking relief of clinical spasticity (Erickson et al., 1989). Thus, the release of neurornodulators triggered by TENS stimulation may be a powerful inhibitory mechanism which could explain the prolonged increase of reflex latencies

Increase in Descending Inhibition. Our results also support the hypothesis that low-threshold afferent stimulation may have raised the threshold of motoneuronal excitability at the segmental level via activation of propriospinal and/or descending inhibitory pathways Assuming that stretch reflex thresholds are decreased in spasticity (Powers et al., 1988), possibly by an increase in segmental motoneuronal excitability produced via descending pathways (Feldman, 1966; 1986), stretch reflex onset latencies would be shorter in spastic hemiparetic subjects. Similarly, one would expect an increase in H/M and SR/M ratios. This indeed was the case in our patient group compared to normal age-matched control subjects (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a). Since both repetitive segmental and heterosegmental stimulation increased stretch reflex latencies, it seems unlikely that the effects were mediated strictly by segmental mechanisms. Rather, non-segmental mechanisms appear to be involved. Feldman and Orlovsky (1972) have shown that stimulation in specific areas of the brainstem of decerebrate cats (Dieter's nucleus, pyramidal tract, reticular formation) resulted in a net inhibition of thresholds but not stiffness or magnitude of stretch reflexes in ankle extensor muscles. Similarly, our repetitive stimulation may have caused a net inhibitory influence at the segmental level via the activation of propriospinal and/or descending pathways, and/or via a triggered release of long-lasting inhibitory neuromodulators. Further investigation of these possible contributing mechanisms seems warranted.

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Our results suggested that peripherally applied TENS may increase reflex latencies via non-segmental mechanisms, since changes of similar magnitude were found following segmental or heterosegmental stimulation. It was not evident, however, that the increase in latencies reflected a concomitant decrease in clinical spasticity. Indeed, clinical measures of spasticity were not correlated with measures of static reflex function in the lower extremities of our patients (Chapter 1; Levin and Chan, 1990a). The lack of correlation however, was not surprising, since none of the clinical measures is particularly sensitive to threshold changes, but rather more indicative of response magnitudes Also, the possible inhibitory effects of a single TENS application on clinically measured spasticity, indeed, may have been subclinical.

Given the encouraging effects on reflex latencies from a single session of TENS, we speculated that prolonged treatment with repetitive low-threshold afferent stimulation may be of therapeutic importance in the reduction of hemiplegic spasticity A companion paper therefore attempts to elucidate possible longer-term effects of afferent manipulation in the management of spasticity.

CHAPTER 5

REPETITIVE ELECTRICAL STIMULATION IN SPASTIC HEMIPARESIS: II. RELIEF OF SPASTICITY IS ASSOCIATED WITH IMPROVEMENT IN REFLEX AND VOLUNTARY MOTOR CONTROL

SUMMARY

ł

In a previous study, we found that single, 45 min applications of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) prolonged H and stretch reflex latencies in hemiparetic subjects. In addition, repeated TENS applications (9 daily 30 min treatments) enhanced vibratory inhibition of the H reflex and tended to decrease hyperactive stretch reflexes. This suggests that longer term TENS may also be effective in the reduction of hemiparetic spasticity. However, the effects of TENS on motor control remain inconclusive. The objectives of this study were: 1) to determine whether longer-term repetitive TENS stimulation would lead to a reduction in clinical spasticity in hemiparetic subjects; and 2) to examine whether such a reduction may be associated with a decrease in stretch reflex excitability and an improvement in voluntary motor function. In this study, the effects of fifteen 60 min TENS treatments to the affected lower limb on clinical spasticity scores, reflex measures and maximal voluntary isometric plantarflexion and dorsiflexion of the ankle in standing were contrasted with those of placebo stimulation in similar groups of hemiparetic subjects. Repeated applications of TENS decreased clinical spasticity (p<0.05), increased vibratory inhibition of the H reflex (p=0.02), and decreased the magnitude of stretch reflexes (p=0.05) in the spastic ankle extensors. These changes occurred concomitantly with a dramatic improvement in voluntary dorsiflexion but not plantarflexion force (up to 920%) and a decrease in co-contraction ratios (p<0.05). These results indicated that repeated applications of TENS can reduce clinical spasticity and improve control of reflex and motor function in hemiparetic subjects Furthermore, the mechanism of the improvement may be partly related to an enhancement in presynaptic inhibition, and a possible 'disinhibition' of descending voluntary commands to flexor motoneurons.

INTRODUCTION

Motor dysfunctions associated with upper motor neuron lesions appear to result from a lack of the coordination between homo- and heteronymous reflex systems on the one hand, and descending supraspinal mechanisms on the other, at least in the cat (Nichols, 1989) The underlying causes of these disorders are, as yet, unclear However, indirect evidence from spastic subjects suggests that it may be partly related to a loss of presynaptic inhibitory mechanisms acting on the muscle spindle afferent terminals (Ashby and Verrier, 1976, Burke, 1988).

Pathophysiological mechanisms aside, there is abundant evidence that low threshold afferent input can reduce the ongoing activity in interneurons and/or alpha motoneurons via segmental, propriospinal or supraspinal pathways (Pierrot-Deseilligny and Mazieres, 1984) Such a possibility has been demonstrated in the cat where descending commands were modified by activity in cervical propriospinal neurons during target-reaching tasks (Alstermark et al., 1981) Similarly, electrical stimulation (0.6 x motor threshold) of low threshold afferents from the median and ulnar nerves has been found to inhibit la afferent mediated excitation in reflexly and voluntarily activated wrist flexor muscles (Malmgren and Pierrot-Deseilligny, 1988a,b).

Furthermore, dorsal column stimulation has been shown to inhibit transmission in spinothalamic tract pathways via both pre-and postsynaptic inhibitory mechanisms (Foreman et al., 1976) Indeed, there is considerable supraspinal and peripheral afferent convergence onto spinal interneurons mediating presynaptic inhibition (Baldissera et al., 1981). If presynaptic inhibition is indeed diminished in spasticity (cf. Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Burke, 1988), then segmental input arising through natural or electrical stimuli may be one way of 'switching on' presynaptic inhibitory mechanisms

Now, remote subcutaneous electrical stimulation of the contralateral wrist has been found to suppress ankle clonus in spastic multiple sclerosis patients (Walker, 1982). This inhibition developed gradually (an hour after 60 min of stimulation) and outlasted the period of stimulation for up to three hours in some instances (Walker, 1982). According to other clinical reports, low-intensity transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) also reduces spasticity and improves motor function in

patients with spinal spasticity. These effects are reported whether TENS is applied directly over spastic muscles (Bajd et al., 1985) or remotely on the skin overlying the dorsal columns of the spinal cord (Fredriksen et al., 1986). The mechanisms by which TENS may be exerting these effects are, as yet, unclear. However, there is some evidence that it may be acting via a combination of several mechanisms. Possible enhancement of presynaptic inhibition was suggested by the finding of a significant increase in the amount of vibratory inhibition of the H reflex in spastic hemiparetic subjects following nine daily, 30 min TENS applications to the low back (Hale and Chan, 1986b). Alternatively, the release of inhibitory neuromodulators or opioids may account for the prolonged influence of TENS (Almay et al., 1985; Salar et al., 1981).

Based on these findings, we recently studied the effects of 45 min of TENS, applied either segmentally to the ipsilateral common peroneal nerve or heterosegmentally to the contralateral median nerve in spastic hemiparetic subjects. As described in the previous chapter (Chan and Levin, 1990), we found a significant and long-lasting (up to 60 min post-stimulation) prolongation of H and stretch-reflex latencies in the spastic calf muscles regardless of the site (segmental or heterosegmental) of stimulation. These findings suggested that a single session of TENS could lead to a prolonged decrease in hyperexcitable stretch reflexes in hemiparetic spasticity, that could be independent of segmental reciprocal inhibitory mechanisms.

Considering that the disorder in spasticity may be partly related to enhanced stretch-reflex excitability (Feldman, 1986; Powers et al., 1988), the above finding led us to speculate that repeated TENS applications over a period of time (weeks) could result in a significant reduction of clinical spasticity. We set out to investigate this possibility in the present study. The effects of a long period of TENS stimulation (fifteen daily 60 min treatments) on subjective spasticity, hyperactive reflexes and maximal voluntary isometric ankle contractions were studied in spastic hemiparetic subjects. These effects were compared with those of placebo stimulation applied for the same period to a similar group of hemiparetic subjects, in an attempt to monitor possible changes in these measures due to mental set and/or time alone. To elaborate, the objective of the present study was to investigate whether repetitive low-threshold afferent stimulation (TENS) over two or three weeks would lead to a reduction in clinical spasticity in hemiparetic subjects. A further objective was to find out whether such a

reduction was associated with a decrease in stretch reflex excitability and an improvement in voluntary motor function.

METHODS

SUBJECTS

Thirteen patients with spastic hemiparesis (mean age = 59.1 + S.D 13.6 yr) participated in the study. Criteria for inclusion of the hemiparetic subjects, method of subject fixation, stimulation and recording procedures have all been described in detail in the previous chapters (Levin and Chan, 1990a,b; Chan and Levin, 1990). For the clinical assessment of spasticity, an evaluation form consisting of three commonly used measures was developed. As already described (Levin and Chan, 1990a), it consisted of: 1) Achilles tendon jerk; 2) resistance to passive ankle dorsiflexion; and 3) amount and duration of ankle clonus. This evaluation provided a composite though subjective index of spasticity. Based on our clinical observations, total spasticity scores ranging from 0-9, 10-12, and 13-16 corresponded to mild, moderate and severe spasticity respectively (Table I). Hemiparetic subjects were stratified according to the level of spasticity thus 'computed' in the affected lower leg. Initially they were randomly allocated to either a treatment or a placebo group. Seven patients were thus assigned to the treatment group and six to the placebo group (mean age 647 ± 10.6 yr). Since the placebo stimulation was later found to have no effect, four of the six patients in the placebo group then underwent a further three weeks of TENS stimulation. This increased the final number of patients in the treatment group to a total of eleven (mean age 58.5 + 14.7 yr). Baseline clinical, reflex and maximal voluntary force data for all subjects are presented in Table I.

EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL

Most subjects were tested on two occasions, with at least one week apart, to acquire baseline measurements. The test battery consisted of five measures which have been described in detail previously (Levin and Chan, 1990a,b) They were: 1) the clinical spasticity scores; 2) the maximal amplitude of the H reflex as a percentage of the maximal M response (H/M, Hoffmann, 1918); 3) the

	<u>Clinical Features</u>				<u>Reflex Profile</u>			Maximal Contractio		
Age	Etiol- ogy	Time since injury	Spas- ticity score	Н/М	Hvib/ Hctl	SR onset	SR/M area	PF force	DF force	
(yr)	(mos)		(%)	(१)	(degree)	(୫)	(kg)	(kg)	
TEN	S Treatme	nt Group								
75	L.CVA	18	6	17.1	53.4	7.0	37.0	16.1	5.0	
49	L.CVA	27	9	98.1	17.0	16.9	82.0	16.7	7.3	
6/	L.CVA	5	9	22.3	42 2	29.5	27.0	10.7	4.2	
31	D.CVA	Z 3	10	10.9	91 7	20.3	20.0	10 1	5.0 70	
43	I. CVA	-15	11	19.9	24.2	12.1	16 0	28 9	7.5	
67	B.CVA	23	12	88.6	29.8	23.2	51.0	23.8	6.4	
57	L.CVA	85	13	100.0	96.3	13.5	60.0	3.1	0.0	
73	R.CVA ^b	26	13	57.9	30.1	11.4	100.0	12.4	0 .0	
58	R.CVA	16	15	77.9	96.3	11.4	48.0	10.5	1.2	
47	L.CVA ^b	11	16	100.0	81.4	10.5	100.0	17.6	0.0	
n=58.5 .=14.7	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , 	26.4	11.2	63.3 36.6	57.7 30.3	15.2	50.3 25.7	15.7 7.3	3.6	
<u>Pla</u> 67 76 58 67	Cebo Grou L.CVA ^b R.CVA ^b L.CVA R.CVA	2 8 43 50 37	9 10 12 13	22.3 19.8 85.9 60.2	80.9 81.7 76.9 75.6	29.5 11.5 8.2 10.6	37.0 65.0 49.0 53.0	11.0 12.3 9.5 13.5	3.1 0.(1.(5.1	
73 47	R.CVA ^D L.CVA ^D	26 11	13 16	57.9 100.0	30.1 84.3	11.4 10.5	100.0 100.0	9.0 14.0	5.0 0.0	
n=64.7		29.2	11.8	57.7	71.6	13.6	68.0	11.6	2.4	
.=10.6		17.2	2.5	32.5	20.6	7.9	27.8	2.1	2.4	
ns		ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	
^a S	pasticity	score:	0-9 10-1 13-1	= mild 2 = moder 6 = sever	spastici ate spas e spasti	ty ticity city				
b F e	our patien ffect was	nts part: demonst	icipated rated.	in both p	lacebo a	nd treatm	ent grou	ps after	no pla	

Table I.A comparison of clinical features, reflex profile and maximalvoluntary force between spastic hemiparetic subjects in TENStreatment and placebo groups

amount of inhibition of the H reflex during vibration (Hvib/Hctl). 4) the excitability of the soleus stretch reflex in terms of latency, response duration and magnitude (SR/M area); and 5) maximal voluntary isometric plantarflexion and dorsiflexion of the ankle (EMG and force) in standing.

The testing procedure was as follows: Spasticity about the ankle joint was assessed at the beginning of each experimental session. Subjects then performed the maximal voluntary isometric contractions in the functional position of standing. Four such contractions in the dorsiflexing and plantarflexing directions were obtained from both the affected and non-affected legs of the hemiparetic subjects. This was followed by reflex data measurements with the subjects in a semi-supine position. The duration of the entire testing protocol was approximately two and a half hours

Following the initial testing session(s) and the allocation to either the treatment or placebo group, subjects and/or their family members were instructed in the use of a portable TENS stimulator. The stimulation (or placebo) was applied for 60 min per weekday during a three week period, for a total of fifteen treatments. The 60 min treatment time was considered optimal based on findings from previous studies investigating the effects of repetitive electrical stimulation in spastic patients (Walker, 1982; Hale and Chan, 1986b; Chan and Levin, 1990). Compliance with the treatment protocol was verified by the examiner via inspection of a log book kept by the subject or subject's family. To assess the time course of the effects of stimulation, the five measures described above were repeated after two and three weeks of stimulation (Days 11 and 16).

STIMULATION PROCEDURES: TENS and Placebo Stimulation

TENS or placebo stimulation was applied via a Selectra 7720 stimulator (Medtronic) and was the same as already described in Chapter 4 (Chan and Levin, 1990). Briefly, low-intensity, high-frequency TENS at twice sensory threshold, or placebo stimulation at 0.1 x sensory threshold, was applied over the common peroneal nerve located just posterior to the head of the fibula on the hemiparetic leg. This nerve supplies the skin and muscles antagonistic to the spastic calf muscles. Correct positioning of the electrodes was confirmed by the subject reporting a tingling sensation in the cutaneous distribution of the nerve along the anterior part of the leg and dorsum of the foot.

EMG RECORDING AND DATA ANALYSIS

The procedures for recording and analyzing H reflexes, M responses, stretch reflexes, and maximal voluntary EMG and force were the same as previously described (Levin and Chan, 1990a,b). Briefly, soleus and tibialis anterior EMG was recorded via surface electrodes. Individual and mean peak-to-peak H reflex and M response amplitude values were calculated on-line. The stretch reflex onset was defined as the angle of ankle displacement corresponding to the onset of the soleus stretch reflex EMG (Levin and Chan, 1990a). Stretch reflex area was calculated by rectifying and integrating the soleus EMG in the 150 msec following its onset. It was expressed as a percentage of the area of the maximal M response recorded in the same muscle by the same electrodes. For maximal voluntary isometric contractions of the ankle muscles, soleus and tibialis anterior EMG, as well as plantarflexion and dorsiflexion force, were measured from 500 msec before to 2 sec after the response onset. EMG areas, maximal and mean force were calculated in a 500 msec window placed where the force trace reached a plateau. EMG areas were used to calculate co-contraction ratios such that antagonist EMG areas were expressed as a percentage of the total agonist plus antagonist EMG areas.

Statistical Analysis. Differences between the baseline data from the two groups of subjects were tested by Student's t-tests. Post-stimulation changes for each of the above measures were expressed as raw data or computed as percentages of the control values for each subject. The effects of TENS on each measure were compared with pre-stimulation control values or with placebo stimulation, using two-way ANOVAs. Differences between individual pairs of means were determined via 'least significant difference' tests. A significance level of 0.05 was used for all tests.

RESULTS

CHARACTERISTICS OF SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS

Based on our clinical evaluation of the subjects comprising the treatment group, three had mild, four had moderate and four others had severe spasticity (Table I). In the placebo group, one subject

had mild, two had moderate and three had severe spasticity. The mean control composite spasticity scores did not differ between the two groups of subjects $(112 \pm 2.9 \text{ and } 11.8 \pm 2.5 \text{ respectively}, t=-0.102 p>0.90$, Fig. 1). There were no initial differences in control H/M, Hvib/Hctl, and stretch reflex values between the TENS and placebo groups (p>0.10, Table I). For maximal voluntary contractions, the mean control values of plantarflexion and dorsiflexion force were not significantly different from those of the placebo group (p)0.05, Table I). Mean control co-contraction ratios during ankle dorsiflexion also did not differ between the TENS and placebo groups (45.2 \pm 25.5% and 53.7 \pm 31.1% respectively, p>0.05).

EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION ON SPASTICITY SCORES AND H REFLEXES

The mean control and post-stimulation spasticity scores after two and three weeks of TENS (filled columns) or placebo (open columns) stimulation for each group are presented in Fig 1. The improvement in spasticity was evident after two weeks of TENS but not placebo stimulation. However, an additional week of TENS stimulation did not lead to a further reduction in spasticity scores. Of clinical importance is the finding that the reduction in spasticity following two and three weeks of TENS was significant when contrasted with placebo stimulation (F=4.66, p<0.05). This result is particularly remarkable in view of the consistancy of the spasticity scores after 2 and 3 weeks of placebo stimulation (Fig. 1).

Neither TENS nor placebo stimulation had any significant effect on the H/M ratios, despite the latter's tendency to decrease after two weeks of TENS (Fig. 3). On the other hand, Hvib/Hctl ratios did show significant trends after TENS stimulation. Examples of Hvib/Hctl ratios are shown in Fig. 2 for one subject with severe spasticity who received both TENS (subject 9; Table I) and placebo (subject 5; Table I) treatments. Hvib/Hctl ratios in this subject were highly consistent when measured on two occasions, one week apart (30.4% and 29.7%, Fig. 2A and B). Furthermore, they showed a significant reduction following TENS but not placebo stimulation (Fig. 2). It is noteworthy that this improvement was evident in 7 of the 11 subjects receiving TENS treatment, but in none of the subjects receiving placebo stimulation. Table II contrasts the effects of stimulation on the reflex measures between treatment and placebo groups. In two subjects of the treatment group, the reduction in Hvib/Hctl ratios



SPASTICITY SCORES



Fig. 1. Means and standard deviations of composite spasticity scores before (Control), two- weeks and three weeks after TENS (filled columns) or placebo stimulation (open columns) Note that TENS but not placebo stimulation resulted in a significant improvement in clinical spasticity (p<0.05).



Fig. 2. Vibratory inhibition of the H reflex in one severely spastic hemiparetic subject H reflex responses during vibration (thin line) are superimposed over control reflexes (thick line). From top left Two control responses recorded one week apart were stable (A, 30.4%; B, 29.7%). Hvib/Hctl ratios are shown after two and three weeks of placebo (C, 44.5%; D, 20.5%) and TENS stimulation (E, 16.9%; F, 25.9%)

122

-1.5

TENS Treatment Group									
Subject	Control	Hvib/Hctl 2 weeks	3 weeks	Control	<u>SR/M Area</u> 2 weeks	3 weeks			
1.	53 4	53. 3	-	37.0	-	10.0			
2.	17.0	17.7	4.3	82.0	84.0	67.0			
3.	80.9	92.9	86.4	27.0	20.0	28.0			
4.	43.2	38.6	52.9	53.0	148.0	30.0			
5.	81.7	-	54.8	29.0	29.0	18.0			
6.	24.2	19.6	19.7	16.0	34.0	17.0			
7.	29.8	22.2	3.1	51.0	63.0	45.0			
8.	96.3	94.7	103.2	60.0	42.0	44.0			
9.	30.1	16.9	25. 9	100.0	66.0	66.0			
10.	96.3	3.5	2.7	48.0	71.0	21.0			
11.	81.4	36.5	72. 2	-	-	-			
Mean -	57 7	39.6*	42 5*	50.3	61 9	34 6**			
S.D. =	30.3	31.8	36.7	25.7	38.8	20.2			
Placebo G	roup	<u> </u>	- <u> </u>	<u>n - Color Color - Col</u>	A - 2 April	<u></u>			
1.	80.9	88.3	99.6	37.0	34.0	-			
2.	81.7	46.8	82.3	65.0	21.0	42.0			
3.	76.9	90.9	77.0	49.0	73.0	58.0			
4.	75.6	80.8	78.2	53.0	66.0	-			
5.	30.1	44.5	20.5	100.0	85.0	69.0			
6.	84.3	74.7	50.7	104.0	118.0	105.0			
Mean =	71.6	71.0	68.1	68.0	66.2	68.5			
S.D. =	20.6	20.5	28.1	27.8	35.1	26.7			
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				· <u> </u>			

•

A comparison of reflex responses before and after 2 and 3 weeks of TENS and placebo stimulation Table II.

p=0.02 p=0.05 .

**

۰.

was marked (from 29.8% to 3.1% in subject 7; and from 96.3% to 2.7% in subject 10; Table II). For the four subjects in whom these ratios did not change, one was among the oldest subjects (75 yr., subject 1), one had very long-standing hemiplegia (85 mo., subject 8), and one had variable responses (subject 4). The fourth subject (subject 3 in the treatment group and subject 1 in the placebo group) had very consistent results in all 6 testing sessions.

Table II showed that the mean group Hvib/Hctl ratios were significantly decreased (F=7.08, p=0.02) following TENS (from 57.7% to 39.6% and 42.5%) but not placebo stimulation (from 71.6% to 71.0% and 68.1%). These changes are graphically depicted in the histograms of Fig. 3 as percentages of their respective control values. In the figure, the mean Hvib/Hctl ratios following two and three weeks of TENS stimulation were 70.3 \pm 35.0% and 68.9 \pm 40.6% respectively compared to placebo stimulation (104.7 \pm 30.3% and 92.6 \pm 23.8% respectively).

EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO STIMULATION ON STRETCH REFLEXES

1

TENS, but not placebo stimulation, increased the onset angle and decreased the magnitude of stretch responses. Following three weeks of TENS treatment, stretch reflex onset angles were increased by 134.6 \pm 69.7% compared to placebo stimulation (1059 \pm 31.1%). The apparent prolongation of stretch reflex onsets following TENS however, was non-significant (p=0.11), possibly due to the high inter-subject variability in this measure. On the other hand, SR/M areas were significantly reduced, from 50.3 \pm 25.7% to 34.6 \pm 20.2% after three weeks of TENS treatment compared to placebo stimulation (from 68.0 \pm 27.8% to 68.5 \pm 26.7%; F=4.03, p=0.05, Table II). Note however, that this reduction was not apparent after two weeks of treatment.

EFFECTS OF TENS AND PLACEBO ON MAXIMAL ISOMETRIC VOLUNTARY CONTRACTIONS

In a previous study, it was found that overall EMG and force data recorded from the non-affected leg of hemiparetic subjects, did not differ from that obtained in the legs of normal subjects (Levin and Chan, 1990b). Therefore, we felt justified in comparing the effects of TENS and placebo stimulation on these measurements between the affected and non-affected legs of our hemiparetic subjects





Fig 3. Histograms of the effects on H/M (left) and Hvib/Hctl (right) ratios expressed as a percentage of pre-stimulation control values after two and three weeks of TENS (filled columns) and placebo stimulation (open columns) *p=0.02.

The most striking result of our TENS treatment was a marked improvement in dorsiflexion force in the affected legs of hemiparetic subjects. This effect is illustrated by data from one subject in Fig 4 It was apparent that the significant improvement in dorsiflexion force was accompanied by a decrease in co-contraction of the antagonistic soleus muscle. For example, in this subject, the mean control cocontraction ratio was 38% and the mean maximal force 1.4 kg. After 2 weeks of treatment, the cocontraction ratio did not change (38%), but the mean maximal force increased to 3.4 kg. By the end of three weeks of treatment, the co-contraction ratio was decreased to 18% along with an even greater increase in force to 7.4 kg.

Following three weeks of TENS stimulation, mean maximal dorsiflexing force had increased to 5.5 ± 2.9 kg in the TENS group but only to 3.7 ± 2.9 kg in the placebo group. Compared to control, this improvement was significant for the TENS (F=4.40, p<0.05) but not the placebo group (F=1.09, p=0.37). Figure 5 shows the changes in maximal plantar- and dorsiflexion force as percentages of their pre-stimulation control values for both groups. For dorsiflexion, the improvement in force was remarkable for the affected but not the non-affected leg, and ranged from 105% to 920% of control values. Although plantarflexion force showed improvement following TENS and placebo stimulation in both affected and non-affected legs, the magnitude of the improvement was similar for both stimulations, with no significant difference being found between group means.

Since we had previously found that EMG co-contraction ratios were quite stable across days for dorsiflexion (r=0.99) but not for plantarflexion (r=0.53; Levin and Chan, 1990b), only the former ratios were considered here. After two weeks of TENS stimulation, co-contraction ratios did not change for either TENS (44.0 \pm 25.0%) or placebo (53.0 \pm 26.0%) stimulation However, a marked reduction was evident in co-contraction ratios after three weeks of TENS (33.7 \pm 23.8%, F=4.13, p<0.05), but not after three weeks of placebo stimulation (43.5 \pm 26.1%; F=1.57, p=0.25). For plantarflexion, co-contraction ratios of the affected legs were not different from those of the non-affected legs, nor were they affected by either type of stimulation.



Anie

Fig 4. Four dorsiflexion trials in one subject with moderate spasticity A) control, B) after two and C) three weeks of TENS stimulation. In this subject, co-contraction ratios decreased from a mean of 38% to 18% while the maximal isometric force generated by the dorsiflexors increased from a mean of 1.4 to 7.4 kg after three weeks of treatment.

\$

AFFECTED LEG

NON-AFFECTED LEG



Fig. 5. Changes in plantarflexion and dorsillexion force in the A) affected and B) non-affected legs of hemiparetic subjects after two and three weeks of TENS (filled columns) or placebo (open columns) stimulation Only dorsiflexion force was significantly increased following TENS treatment.

Ŵ

DISCUSSION

Our main findings from this study demonstrate that repeated TENS applications significantly improved subjective spasticity concomitantly with reflex and voluntary motor control in spastic hemiparetic subjects. Specifically, TENS reduced spasticity scores, increased vibratory inhibition of the H reflex, decreased the magnitude of soleus stretch reflexes, and improved dorsiflexion force with a simultaneous decrease in EMG co-contraction ratios. The results of this study confirmed earlier findings in spastic hemiparetic subjects, of enhanced vibratory inhibition of the H reflex following nine daily 30 min TENS treatments to the low back (Hale and Chan 1986b). In that study, although non-significant, trends towards improved H/M ratios and reduced stretch reflex magnitude measures were also reported. Our two studies in patients with central spasticity, agree with two previous reports of therapeutic TENS interventions in spinal spasticity. In one report, 20 min of TENS applied segmentally over the L3/4 dermatome in spastic spinal cord injured subjects, resulted in a marked immediate decrease in knee extensor spasticity as measured by pendulum testing (Bajd et al., 1985). The reduction in spasticity outlasted the period of stimulation for up to two hours. Similarly, hetero-segmental TENS stimulation on the skin overlying the dorsal columns of the spinal cord (low cervical, high thoracic region) applied continuously for 2 weeks decreased spasticity and improved maximal voluntary flexor and extensor knee torque in 49 multiple sclerosis patients (Fredriksen et al., 1986).

Spasticity has been attributed to hyperactivity and abnormal organization in mono- and polysynaptic reflex pathways (Lance, 1980; Nichols, 1989). Among other factors, this may result from a lowering of stretch reflex thresholds in spastic muscles (Feldman, 1986; Powers et al., 1988). Indeed, H and stretch reflex latencies, which may reflect thresholds, are decreased in spasticity, while stretch reflex magnitude measures (H/M ratios and SR/M areas) are enhanced (Ashby and Verrier, 1976; Hale and Chan, 1986a; Levin and Chan, 1990a).

Despite the obvious hyperactivity in stretch reflexes, we had found neither latency nor magnitude measures to be correlated with the severity of clinical spasticity in spastic hemiparetic patients in previous studies (Hale and Chan, 1986a; Levin and Chan, 1990a). However, a significant correlation was found between the severity of spasticity and the reduction in dorsiflexion force (Levin and Chan,

1990b). This relationship suggested that an amelioration of spasticity could be manifested by an improvement in voluntary dorsiflexion. This indeed was what we found in the affected leg of hemiparetic subjects after 3 weeks of TENS application to the common peroneal nerve. As it will emerge below, this finding also provided some insights into the mechanisms underlying the improvement of spasticity and voluntary control following TENS but not placebo stimulation.

EFFECTS OF REPETITIVE TENS APPLICATIONS IN SPASTIC HEMIPARETIC SUBJECTS

Large diameter afferent (Group A; via dorsal column stimulation) mediated suppression of C-fibre evoked transmission in spinothalamic tract pathways has been described in primates (Foreman et al, 1976). This mechanism may explain the suppression in perceived pain during this type of stimulation. However, the effects of longer-term low-threshold afferent stimulation on transmission in pathways mediating spasticity have not previously been investigated. The TENS parameters (low intensity, high frequency) used in the present study had been shown previously to activate large diameter afferents (Levin and Chan, 1988) Taken together with our present findings, repetitive stimulation of large diameter afferents via TENS over a period of time (weeks) could lead to a reduction in spasticity simultaneously with an improvement in voluntary motor control. More specifically, TENS applied to the common peroneal nerve increased vibratory inhibition of the H reflex in the antagonist extensor muscle in chronic hemiparetic subjects. This effect was not evident after a single session of TENS (cf. Chapter 4), but only after two weeks of daily stimulation and seemed to plateau after that time period (Fig. 3). These results confirmed our earlier findings in spastic hemiparetic subjects of enhanced vibratory inhibition of the H reflex following nine, daily 30 min TENS treatments to the low back (Hale and Chan, 1986b). Although the evidence is indirect, vibratory inhibition of the H reflex has been attributed to presynaptic inhibition in group la terminals (Gillies et al., 1969, Burke et al., 1976) Thus, increased vibratory inhibition of the H reflex by repetitive TENS may have been exerted via an enhancement of presynaptic inhibition which has been shown to be suppressed in hemiplegic spasticity (Ashby and Verrier, 1976).

In addition, an enhancement of reciprocal inhibition from the flexors to extensors could contribute to the decreased extensor muscle spasticity and the improvement in flexor muscle function. However,

the results of the study reported in the previous chapter in which TENS was found to produce similar effects on reflex latencies independent of the site of application (segmental versus heterosegmental), makes this interpretation unlikely. Taken together, these results suggested instead, that repetitive TENS applications may indeed be increasing presynaptic inhibition, but that this effect is only evident after a critical length of time (see below).

Repetitive stimulation of low-threshold afferents may also have caused the release of inhibitory neurotransmitters mediating the decreased spasticity and reflexes, and the recovery of voluntary motor function. Indeed, dramatic reductions in spasticity and improvements in motor control have been reported following the administration of opioids in spastic patients (Erickson et al., 1989). In addition, repetitive TENS increased protein and opioid levels in the cerebrospinal fluid and blood plasma of normal subjects and pain patients (Almay et al., 1985; Facchinetti et al., 1984; Salar et al., 1981). Thus, our findings may partially be explained by the triggered release of opioids or other inhibitory neuromodulators. We suggest that this would provide an interesting subject for further investigation.

It was most surprising that TENS treatment also resulted in a striking improvement in the strength of the dorsiflexors but not that of the plantarflexors. The improvement, however, was incomplete, being still well below the mean dorsiflexion force generated in the same standing position by the non-affected legs (Levin and Chan, 1990b). This improvement in dorsiflexor function cannot be explained by a training effect, since all subjects were long past the time in which the majority of recovery of function occurs (Moscowitz et al., 1972). Certainly, placebo stimulation had no effect on these parameters (Fig. 5). Furthermore, none of the subjects was undergoing other treatment or training during the study period. The improvement also cannot be explained by alterations in motor unit properties known to be changed in spastic extensor but not weak flexor muscles (Edstrom, 1970; Sica and Sanz, 1976). At least two concurrent mechanisms may contribute to the reflex and voluntary abnormalities in spasticity. On the one hand, decreased stretch reflex thresholds may result in hyperactive segmental reflex excitability. On the other, it may be assumed that part of the motor deficit in the weak dorsiflexors in hemiplegia is related to a lack or decrease of descending excitation to flexor motoneurons (Burke, 1988). Thus, in spasticity, hyperactive segmental activity could effectively 'mask' or override any underlying descending motoneuronal excitation. This would result in an even

more marked decrease in dorsiflexion force. Repetitive TENS stimulation may have improved dorsiflexor function by decreasing plantarflexion (soleus) stretch reflex hyperexcitability, thereby 'disinhibiting' or 'unmasking' underlying neural pathways to dorsiflexor motoneurons. At the same time, as our results indicate, the recovery of force would not be complete since the descending command would remain impaired.

ł

The time course of these improvements cannot be judged based on the few studies to date However, these results concur with the suggestion that there may be a critical duration or therapeutic threshold for disinhibition or restitution of function following multimodal stimulation (Walsh and Cummins, 1976). The critical time period is unknown Single 30 or 45 min TENS treatments applied to similar segmental sites, had no immediate effects on Hvib/Hctl ratios or stretch reflex magnitudes (Hale and Chan, 1986a; Chan and Levin, 1990). However, reflex thresholds in terms of latencies were already prolonged after only a single 45 min session of TENS stimulation to the common peroneal nerve (Chan and Levin, 1990). According to our results and those of a previous study (Hale and Chan, 1986b), it appeared that three weeks of stimulation were necessary, at least before changes in both reflex magnitudes (Fig. 3 and Table II) and co-contraction ratios during maximal voluntary contractions became evident (Fig.4). These changes appeared to be preceded by increased presynaptic inhibition and improved clinical spasticity, which became significant after only two weeks of stimulation (Table II and Fig. 1). In summary, these results suggest that the initial improvements in spasticity and dorsiflexion force evident after two weeks of TENS stimulation may have been due to an enhancement in presynaptic inhibition. Further improvements in dorsiflexing force appeared to have resulted from decreased stretch reflexes associated with decreased co-contraction, only evident after three weeks of stimulation

Considering the time course of improvement being in terms of weeks, the changes may have been mediated by several plastic mechanisms. Possibilities include sprouting of intact descending pathways making new synapses with motoneurons (Goldberger and Murray, 1978) and/or unmasking or reorganization of somatosensory-motor cortical connections (Bach-y-Rita, 1981)
CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Low-intensity TENS is a clinically accessible, non-invasive electrical stimulation technique currently used in the physiotherapeutic treatment of pain disorders. This study reports that repeated applications of TENS decreased clinical spasticity and hyperactive reflexes in lower limb plantarflexors, and improved motor function of dorsiflexors in chronic spastic hemiparetic subjects. It is important to note that these changes were directly a result of the TENS intervention, since no effects were evident following placebo stimulation. Furthermore, these patients had been stable, showing no improvement prior to TENS intervention. The use of TENS therefore, appears to be an effective adjunct in the clinical approach to the treatment of spasticity and the retraining of sensorimotor functions in hemiparetic patients.

CHAPTER 6

ř.

*

SUMMARY AND STATEMENT OF ORIGINAL CONTRIBUTIONS

In accordance with Section 6a of the Guidelines Concerning Thesis Preparation, contributions to original knowledge are indicated by asterisks in the summary of the principal findings listed below.

ł

4

1 As stated in <u>Chapter 1</u>. INTRODUCTION, these experiments were concerned with elucidating the immediate (after one session) and longer-term (after 15 sessions) effects of TENS on spasticity, reflex organization and voluntary motor control. Prior to examining the effects of TENS, clinical spasticity scores, reflex responses and maximal voluntary contractions of the ankle were compared between normal and spastic hemiparetic subjects. In particular, their reproducibility as stable, repeatable measures was investigated in the hemiparetic population.

2. Since a mechanical stretching device was used in the Methodology, the question of the consistency of the input stretch stimulus was addressed in the first study. In spite of the mechanical nature of the device and the presumed difference in muscle tone between normal and spastic limbs, the velocity and total displacement of the input were not different between the two subject groups, nor across the various testing sessions. The mean velocities of the perturbations ranged from 450.2 to 511.0°/sec and the mean displacements ranged from 31.4 to 34.0 degrees.

*3. In the hemiparetic group, individual spasticity scores, H/M ratios, Hvib/Hctl ratios, stretch reflex onset angles and areas were highly reproducible across days. The interclass correlation coefficients for these measures were. r=0 87, 0 94, 0 91, 0 93, and 0.71 respectively. However, stretch reflex latencies and durations were not reproducible over different testing sessions (r=0 44, 0.20). These results indicated that, with the latter two exceptions, clinical spasticity and reflex measures could be reliably compared when recorded in the same patients on different days.

4. Comparisons of soleus reflex measures between spastic hemiparetic and agematched normal subjects revealed the presence of spasticity

- *a) H reflex latencies were significantly shorter (28.6 \pm 1.6 msec compared to 30.3 \pm 1.7 msec; p<0.05).
- b) Stretch reflex latencies were significantly shorter (47.6 \pm 18.2 msec compared to 62.9 \pm 12.9 msec; p< 0.05).
- c) H/M ratios were significantly increased (66.8 \pm 29.5% compared to 42.2 \pm 17.0%; p<0.05), whereas Hvib/Hctl ratios were unchanged in this group of patients.
- d) Stretch reflexes durations were longer (74.5 \pm 16.4 msec compared to 57.5 \pm 15.5 msec; p<0.05) and areas (SR/M area) were significantly larger than normal (47.1 \pm 13.1% compared to 19.8 \pm 13.1%; p< 0.005)

5. In examining the degree of correlation among the three clinical spasticity measures, an interesting finding emerged. Namely, the severity of clonus varied significantly with the resistance to passive stretch (r=0.82, 0.65^*) Among the physiological measures, only H/M and SR/M ratios were significantly correlated (r=0.76, 0.75^*) Furthermore, spasticity scores showed non-significant though fairly consistent relationships with Hvib/Hctl ratios (r=0.42, 0.43), SR/M areas (r=0.55, 0.46) and SR onset angles (r=-0.30, -0.54)

Our results are thus in accordance with the findings of previous investigators that the changes in segmental reflex excitability were not well correlated with the degree of clinical spasticity. These observations implied that reflex measures alone may not be adequate indicators of the severity of spasticity. Consequently, they are unlikely to reflect changes in

clinical spasticity due to therapeutic interventions.

*6. The second study reports, for the first time, a comparison of voluntary ankle muscle activation between age-matched normal and hemiparetic subjects in the functional position of standing.

*7. Agonist EMG area, co-contraction between agonist and antagonist muscle pairs, and force generated by maximal isometric contractions of the ankle muscles in non-affected legs of hemiparetic subjects were not different from those of normal subjects. The only significant differences were in the amount of antagonist EMG during plantarflexion and the time to develop maximal force. Therefore, data obtained from the non-affected legs were used as control values, instead of the potentially more heterogeneous data obtained from normal subjects

*8. Maximal and mean force generated by voluntary isometric contraction of the affected ankle muscles were highly reproducible when the same hemiparetic subjects were tested on two different days, with r=0.78 and 0.87 respectively during plantarflexion and r=0.95 and 0.87 during dorsiflexion. However, EMG areas and co-contraction ratios generated during voluntary plantarflexion of the affected leg were variable. In contrast, agonist EMG area (r=0.91) and co-contraction ratios (r=0.99) generated during voluntary dorsiflexion were highly stable measures in the affected leg. Therefore, force measurements for both directions of ankle contractions, and EMG measures during dorsiflexion, are reliable indices for purposes of comparison over time.

*9. Comparisons of maximal voluntary isometric contractions in the standing position between the affected and non-affected legs of spastic hemiparetic subjects revealed marked deficits which are outlined below. For both plantar- and dorsiflexion, agonist EMG areas in the affected leg were significantly reduced (x=51.2 compared to 81.43 uV.s for

plantarflexion, p<0.001, \bar{x} =635 compared to 161.1 uV.s for dorsiflexion, p<0.001) Antagonist EMG was not changed during plantarflexion, but was increased during dorsiflexion (p < 0.001). These changes in agonist and antagonist EMG areas led to altered co-contraction ratios. The latter were significantly increased for the dorsiflexion task (\bar{x} =42.1% compared to 13.8%, p<0.001) For both tasks, maximal force production was reduced to approximately half of that generated by the non-affected leg. Force onset, as well as the time to develop maximal force were prolonged (p<0.001) in affected legs of the spastic hemiparetic group.

*10. The presence of spasticity may be more significantly related to the deficit in voluntary motor control than to abnormalities in reflex pathways. This study reports for the first time, a significant relationship between the level of spasticity and the amount of co-contraction during isometric ankle dorsiflexion in the standing position (r=-0.68, p<0.05). Furthermore, the level of spasticity was also significantly and inversely related to the maximal dorsiflexion force developed by the affected leg (r=-0.65, p<0.05). These findings also have important implications for the measurement of spasticity when evaluating the effects of treatment interventions.

*11. The last two (third and fourth) studies investigated the effects of repetitive transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) on spasticity, reflex and voluntary motor control in spastic hemiparetic subjects. The main goal of these studies was to investigate the mechanisms of possible changes due to TENS intervention

1. The third study was concerned with the immediate effects of one, 45 min TENS treatment The effects of TENS applied to two locations was compared to placebo stimulation. This study revealed that both segmentally and heterosegmentally applied TENS caused an immediate and long-lasting (up to 60 min) prolongation of H and stretch reflex latencies. The latter finding may be taken to reflect an increase in stretch reflex thresholds. These results further suggested that:

- a. the mechanism for the increase in latencies is likely to be nonsegmental since segmental and heterosegmental stimulation were found to be equally effective.
- b. repetitive electrical stimulation may be triggering the release of longlasting inhibitory neuromodulators.
- 2. The fourth study investigated the longer-term effects of repetitively applied TENS (15 daily, 60 min sessions over a period of 3 weeks). This study demonstrated that longer-term TENS reduced clinical spasticity, Hvib/Hctl ratios and SR/M areas. Associated with the improvements in clinical and reflex measures was an increase in dorsiflexion force and a decrease in co-contraction. These results suggested that:
 - a. the improvement in voluntary motor function may be related to a decrease in spasticity.
 - b. the mechanism of the improvement may be an increase in presynaptic inhibition, the release of inhibitory neurotransmitters and/or plastic changes. This could result in decreased reflex excitability which 'unmasked' underlying descending excitatory pathways to motoneurons.

*12. The overall conclusion of these studies is that repetitive TENS stimulation decreases the excitability of segmental reflexes and improves dorsiflexion function in spastic hemiparetic subjects. One of the contributing mechanisms to these improvements is likely to be an enhancement of presynaptic inhibition leading to an 'unmasking' of residual motor control.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Alfieri, V. (1982) Electrical treatment of spasticity. Scand J Rehab. Med 14. 177-182.
- Almay, B. G L., Johansson, F., von Knorring, L, Sakurada, T and Terenius, L. (1985) Long-term high frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (hi-TENS) in chronic pain. Clinical response and effects on CSF-endorphins, monoamine metabolites, substance P-like immunoreactivity (SPL1) and pain measures Psychosom Res. 29: 247-257.
- 3. Alstermark, B., Lundberg, A, Norrsell, U and Sybirska, E (1981) Integration in descending motor pathways controlling the forelimb in the cat. 9 Differential behavioral defects after spinal cord lesions interrupting defined pathways from higher centres to motoneurones Exp. Brain Res. 42 299-318
- 4. Alstermark, B, Lundberg, A. and Sasaki, S (1984) Integration in descending motor pathways controlling the forelimb in the cat. II Inhibitory pathways from higher motor centres and forelimb afferents to C3-C4 propriospinal neurones. Exp Brain Res 56: 293-307.
- 5. Angel R. W. and Hofmann, W. W. (1963) The H-reflex in normal, spastic and rigid subjects. Arch. Neurol. 8: 591-596.
- 6. Asatryan, D. G and Feldman, A G. (1965) Functional tuning of the nervous system with control of movement or maintenance of a steady posture I Mechanographic analysis of the work of the joint on execution of a postural task Biofizika 5 837-846.
- 7 Ashby, P., Stalberg, E., Winkler, T. and Hunter, J. P (1987) Further observations on the depression of group la facilitation of motoneurons by vibration in man Exp Brain Res. 69: 1-6.
- 8. *A* shby, P. and Verrier, M. (1975) Neurophysiological changes following spinal cord lesions in man. Cdn. J. Neurol. Sci. 2: 91-100.
- 9. Ashby, P. and Verrier, M. (1976) Neurophysiologic changes in hemiplegia Neurology 26: 1145-1151.
- 10. Ashby, P., Verrier, M. and Lightfoot, E (1974) Segmental reflex pathway in spinal shock and spinal spasticity in man. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiat 37 1352 1360
- 11. Ashworth, B. (1964) Preliminary trial of carisoprodal in multiple sclerosis The Practitioner 192: 540-542.
- 12. Bach-y-Rita, P. (1981) Brain plasticity as a basis of the development of rehabilitation procedures for hemiplegia. Scand J. Rehab. Med. 13: 73-83
- 13. Bajd, T., Gregoric, M, Vodovnik, L. and Benko, H. (1985) Electrical stimulation in treating spasticity resulting from spinal cord injury Arch Phys Med Rehab 66. 515-517.
- 14 Baldissera, F., Hultborn, H. and Illert, M (1981) Integration in spinal neuronal systems. In: <u>Handbook of Physiology. Section I.</u> Eds Brooks, V. B. Motor Control American Physiological Society, Bethesda pp 509-595
- 15. Barnes, C. D. and Pompeiano, O. (1970a) Inhibition of monosynaptic extensor reflex attributable to presynaptic depolarization of the group la afferent fibers produced by

vibration of flexor muscle. Arch. Ital. Biol. 108: 233-255

- 16. Barnes, C. D. and Pompeiano, O. (1970b) Presynaptic and postsynaptic effects in the monosynaptic reflex pathway to extensor motoneurons following vibration of synergic muscles. Arch. Ital. Biol. 108: 259-294.
- 17. Basmajian, J. V. (1978) <u>Muscles Alive. Their Function Revealed by Electromyo-</u> graphy. Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore.
- 18. Bedard, P., Barbeau, H., Barbeau, G. and Filion, M. (1979) Progressive increase of motor activity induced by 5-HTP in the rat below a complete section of the spinal cord. Brain Res. 169: 393-397
- 19. Benecke, R., Conrad, B., Meinck, H. M and Hohne, J. (1983) Electromyographic analysis of bicycling on an ergometer for evaluation of spasticity of lower limbs in man. In: <u>Motor Control Mechanisms in Health and Disease</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J E Raven Press, New York pp. 1035-1046.
- 20. Berardelli, A., Sabra, A. F., Hallett, M, Berenberg, W. and Simon, S. R. (1983) Stretch reflexes of triceps surae in patients with upper motor neuron syndromes. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 46: 54-60.
- 21. Berger, W., Horstmann, G. and Dietz, V. (1984) Tension development and muscle activation in the leg during gait in spastic hemiparesis: independence of muscle hypertonia and exaggerated stretch reflexes. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiat. 47 1029-1033.
- 22. Bjoikiund, A., Katzman, R., Stenevi, U. and West, K. A. (1971) Development and growth of axonal sprouts from noradrenaline and 5-hydroxytr, ptamine neurons in the rat spinal cord. Brain Res. 31: 21-33.
- 23. Bobath, B. (1978) <u>Adult Hemiplegia: Evaluation and Treatment</u>. Heinemann, London.
- 24. Bourbonnais, D., Vanden Noven, S. Carey, K. M. and Rymer, W. Z. (1989) Abnormal spatial patterns of elbow muscle activation in hemiparetic human subjects. Brain 112: 85-102.
- 25. Bouisset, S. and Lestienne, F. (1974) The organization of a simple voluntary movement as analysed from its kinematic properties. Brain Res. 71. 451-458.
- 26. Brink, E., Jankowska, E. and Scoog, B. (1984) Convergence onto interneurones subserving primary afferent depolarization of group I afferents. J Neurophysiol 51. 432-449.
- 27. Brown, M. C., Engberg, I. and Matthews, P. B. C. (1967) The relative sensitivity to vibration of muscle receptors of the cat. J. Physiol. (London) 192: 773-780
- 28. Brown, M. C. and Ironton, R. (1987) Sprouting and regression of neuromuscular synapses in partially denervated mammalian muscles. J. Physiol. (London) 278: 325-348.
- 29. Browne, J. C. (1976) The contractile properties of slow-twitch muscle fibers in sheep extraocular muscle. J. Physiol. (London) 254: 535-550.
- 30. Brunia, C. H. M., Burke, D., Delwaide, P. J., et al. (1973) A discussion of the methodology of the Triceps surae T- and H-reflexes. In: <u>New Developments in Elec-</u> tromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Karger, Basel Vol. 3,

pp. 773-780.

- 31. Burke, D. (1983) Critical examination of the case for or against fusimotor involvement in disorders of muscle tone. In: <u>Motor Control Mechanisms in Health and Disease</u> Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Raven Press, New York. pp. 133-150
- 32. Burke, D. (1988) Spasticity as an adaptation to pyramidal tract injury. In: <u>Advances in</u> <u>Neurology</u> Ed. Waxman, S. G. Functional Recovery in Neurological Disease Raven Press, New York. Vol. 47, pp. 401-423.
- 33. Burke, D. and Ashby, P. (1972) Are spinal 'presynaptic' inhibitory mechanisms suppressed in spasticity? J. Neurol. Sci. 15. 321-326
- 34. Burke, D., Gandevia, S. C. and McKeon, B. (1983) The afferent volleys responsible for spinal proprioceptive reflexes in man. J. Physiol (London) 339 535-552
- 35. Burke, D., Gandevia, S. C. and McKeon, B. (1984) Monosynaptic and oligosynaptic contributions to human ankle jerk and H-reflex. J. Neurophysiol 52 435-438.
- 36. Burke, D., Gillies, J. D. and Lance, J. W. (1970) The quadriceps stretch reflex in human spasticity. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 33. 216-223
- 37. Burke, D., Hagbarth, K.-E., Lofstedt, L. and Wallin, B. G. (1976) The responses of human muscle spindle ending to vibration of non-contracting muscles. J. Physiol (London) 261: 673-693.
- 38. Burke, D., Knowles, L., Andrews, C. and Ashby, P. (1972) Spasticity, decerebrate rigidity and the clasp-knife phenomenon: An experimental study in the cat Brain 95 31-48.
- 39. Burke, D. and Lance, J. W. (1973) Studies of the reflex effects of primary and secondary spindle endings in spasticity. In. <u>New Developments in Electromyography</u> and Clinical Neurophysiology. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Karger, Basel. Vol 3, pp. 475-495.
- Cajal, S. R. (1911) '<u>Histologie du Système Nerveux de l'Homme et des Vertèbres</u>.' Vol. II. Maloine, Paris. pp. 993.
- 41. Castro, A. J. (1978) Analysis of corticospinal and rubrospinal projections after neonatal pyramidotomy in rats. Brain Res. 144: 155-158.
- 42. Chan, C. W. Y. and Levin, M. F. (1990) Repetitive electrical stimulation in spastic hemiparesis. I. Stretch reflex latency changes. Submitted to Exp. Neurol
- 43. Chan, C. W. Y., Melvill Jones, G., Kearney, R. E and Watt, D G D (1979) The 'late' electromyographic response to limb displacement in man. I Evidence for supraspinal contribution. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 46. 173-181
- 44. Chan, C. W. Y. and Tsang, H. (1987) Inhibition of the human flexion reflex by low intensity, high frequency transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) has a gradual onset and offset. Pain 28: 239-253.
- 45. Chapman, C. E., Ruegg, D. G. and Wiesendanger, M. (1983) Effects of dorsal cord stimulation on stretch reflexes. Brain Res 258: 211-215
- 46. Chapman, C. E. and Wiesendanger, M. (1982a) Recovery of function following unilateral lesions of the bulbar pyramid in the monkey Electroenceph clin Neurophysiol. 53: 374-387.

- 47. Chapman, C. E. and Wiesendanger, M (1982b) The physiological and anatomical basis of spasticity: a review. Physiother. Can. 34: 125-136.
- 48. Cheney, P D., Kasser, R. and Holsapple, J. (1982) Reciprocal effect of single conticomotoneuronal cells on wrist extensor and flexor muscle activity in primate Brain Res 247 164-168
- 49. Cheney, P. D. and Mewes, K. H (1986) Properties of rubomotoneuronal cells studied in the awake monkey. <u>Abstracts of Symposium on Neural Control of Limb Movement</u>, Seattle, WA, July 9-11, A-16.
- 50. Cody, F. W. J., Richardson, H. C., MacDermott, N. and Ferguson, I T (1987) Stretch and vibration reflexes of wrist flexor muscles in spasticity. Brain 110: 433-450
- 51 Conrad, B, Benecke, R and Meinck H. M. (1985) Gait disturbances in paraspastic patients. In. <u>Restorative Neurology</u>. Eds Delwaide, P. J. and Young, R R Clinical Neurophysiology in Spasticity Elsevier, New York. Vol. 1 pp 155-174
- 52. Cook, A W. and Weinstein, S D. (1973) Chronic DCS in multiple sclerosis. NY State J. Med. 73 2868-2872.
- 53. Cope, T. C, Bodine, S. C., Fournier, M. and Edgerton, V. R. (1986) Soleus motor units in chronic spinal transected cats: physiological and morphological alterations. J Neurophysiol. 55: 1202-1220.
- 54. Corcos, D. M., Gottlieb, G. L., Penn, R. D., Myklebust, B. and Agarwal, G. C. (1986) Movement deficits caused by hyperactive stretch reflexes in spastic humans. Brain 109: 1043-1058
- 55 Curtis, D. R and Lodge, D. R. (1982) The depolarization of feline ventral horn group la spinal afferent terminations by GABA. Brain Res. 46: 215-233
- 56 Davies, T.W. (1985) Reciprocal inhibition of proprioceptive reflexes in man revealed by a threshold shift technique. Neurosci. Lett. 60: 375-380.
- 57. Day, B. L., Rothwell, J. C., Obeso, J A., Thompson, P., Cozens, A and Marsden, C. D. (1987) Physiology and pathophysiology of reciprocal inhibition in the human forearm. In: <u>Clinical Aspects of Sensory Motor Integration</u>. Eds. Struppler, A and Weindl, A. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 159-162.
- 58. DeGail, P., Lance, J. W. and Neilson, P. D. (1966) Differential effects on tonic and phasic reflex mechanisms produced by vibration of muscles in man. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 29: 1-11.
- 59. DeLuca, C. J and Merlatti, R. (1988) Surface myoelectric signal cross-talk among muscles of the leg. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 69: 568-575.
- 60. Delwaide, P. J. (1971) '<u>Etude Expérimentale de l'Hyperréflexie Tendineuse en</u> <u>Clinique Neurologique</u>.' Arscia, Brussels.
- 61. Delwaide, P. J. (1973) Human monosynaptic reflexes and presynaptic inhibition. In: <u>New Developments in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Karger, Basel, Vol. 3. pp. 508-522.
- 62. Delwaide, P. J. (1985) Electrophysiological testing of spastic patients: its potential usefulness and limitations. In: <u>Restorative Neurology</u>. Eds. Delwaide, P. J. and

Young, R. R. Clinical Neurophysiology in Spasticity. Elsevier, Amsterdam Vol 1. pp 185-204.

- 63. Denny-Brown, D. (1966) <u>The Cerebral Control of Movement</u> Liverpool Univ Press, Liverpool.
- 64. Deschuytere, J and Rosselle, N (1971) Electrophysiological study of discharges from spinal origin in the anterolateral muscles of the leg in normal adults Electromyogr 11: 331-363.
- Desmedt, J E. and Godaux, E (1978) Mechanism of the vibration paradox excitatory and inhibitory effects of tendon vibration on single soleus muscle motor units in man. J. Physiol (London) 285 197-207.
- 66. Dietrichson, P (1971) Phasic ankle reflex in spasticity and Parkinsonian rigidity Acta Neurol. Scand. 47: 22-51.
- 67. Dietrichson, P. (1973) The role of the fusimotor system in spasticity and Parkinsonian rigidity In: <u>New Developments in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology</u> Ed Desr: edt, J E Karger, Basel. Vol 3. pp. 496-507.
- 68. Dietz, V. and Berger, W. (1983) Normal and impaired regulation of muscle stiffness in gait: A new hypothesis about muscle hypertonia Exp Neurol 79 680-687
- 69. Dietz, V., Ketelsen, U. -P., Berger, W. and Quintern, J (1986) Motor unit involvement in spastic paresis Relationship between leg muscle activation and histochemistry J Neurol. Sci. 75. 89-103.
- 70. Dimitrijevic, M. R., Faganel, J., Lehmkuhl, D. and Sherwood, A (1983) Motor control in man after partial or complete spinal cord injury In: <u>Motor Control Mechanisms in</u> <u>Health and Disease</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Raven Press, New York pp 915-926
- 71. Dimitrijevic, M. R. and Nathan, P. W. (1967) Studies of spasticity in man. 1 Some features of spasticity Brain 90° 1-30.
- 72. Dimitrijevic, M R and Nathan, P. W. (1968) Studies of spasticity in man 3 Analysis of reflex activity evoked by noxious cutaneous stimulation. Brain 91 349-368
- 73. Dimitrijevic, M. R., Nathan, P. W and Sherwood, A M (1980) Clonus the role of central mechanisms. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiat. 43 321-332
- 74. Dindar, F. and Verrier, M. (1975) Studies on the receptor responsible for vibration-induced inhibition of monosynaptic reflexes in man J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiat. 38: 155-160.
- 75. Dishgans, J. and Diener, H. C. (1987) The use of short- and long-latency reflex testing in leg muscles of neurological patients. In <u>Clinical Aspects of Sensory Motor</u> Integration. Eds. Struppler, A and Weindl, A Springer-Verlag, Berlin pp. 165-175
- 76. Duchenne, G. B (1855) 'De l'éléctrisation localisée et de son application à la pathologie et à la thérapeutique ' Eailliere, Paris
- 77. Duncan, G. W., Shahani, B T. and Young, R. R (1976) An evaluation of baclofen treatment for certain symptoms in patients with spinal cord lesions Neurology (Minneap.) 26. 441-445.
- 78. Eccles, J. C. (1964) Presynaptic inhibition in the spinal cord In Progress in Brain

事を

Research. Eds. Eccles, J. C. and Schade, J. P. Elsevier, Amsterdam. Vol. 12 pp. 65-91.

- 79. Eccles, J. C., Eccles, R. M. and Magni, F (1961) Central inhibitory action attributable to presynaptic depolarization produced by muscle afferent volleys. J Physiol (London) 159: 147-166.
- 80. Eccles, J. C., Kostyuk, P. G. and Schmidt, R F. (1962) The effect of electric polarization of the spinal cord on central afferent fibres and on their excitatory synaptic actions J. Physiol. (London) 162. 138-150.
- 81 Eccles, R. M and Lundberg, A. (1958) Integrative pattern of la synaptic actions on motoneurones of hip and knee muscles J. Physiol (London) 144⁻ 271-298
- 82. Edds, M. V. Jr (1953) Collateral nerve regeneration Q. Rev Biol. 28. 260-276
- 83. Edstrom, L. (1970) Selective changes in the sizes of red and white muscle fibres in upper motor lesions and Parkinsonism J. Neurol. Sci. 11: 537-550
- Edstrom, L., Grimby, L. and Hannerz, J. (1973) Correlation between recruitment order of motor units and muscle atrophy pattern in upper motorneurone lesions. significance of spasticity. Experientia 29. 560-561
- 85 Eide, E., Jurna, I. and Lundberg, A. (1968) Conductance measurements from motoneurons during presynaptic inhibition. In: <u>Structure and Function of Inhibitory</u> <u>Neuronal Mechanisms</u>. Eds. von Euler, C., Skoglung, K. and Sonderberg, U Pergamon Press, Oxford. pp 215-219.
- 86. Eidelberg, E., Nguyen, L. H., Polich, R. and Walden, J. G. (1989) Transsynaptic degeneration of motoneurones cauda! to spinal cord lesions. Brain Res Bull 22 39-45.
- 87. Engberg, I., Lundberg, A. and Ryall, R. W. (1968) Reticulospinal inhibition of transmission in reflex pathways. J. Physiol. (London) 194: 201-223
- 88. Erickson, D. L., Lo, J. and Michaelson, M. (1989) Control of intractable spasticity with intrathecal morphine sulfate. Neurosurg 24: 236-238.
- Facchinetti, F, Sandrini, G., Petraglia, F., Alfonsi, E., Nappi, G and Genazzani, A R. (1984) Concomitant increase in nociceptive flexion reflex threshold and plasma opioids following transcutaneous nerve stimulation. Pain 19. 295-303
- Feldman, A. G. (1966) Functional tuning of the nervous system with control of movement and maintenance of a steady posture. II. Controllable parameters of the muscle. Biophysics 11: 565-578.
- 91. Feldman, A. G. (1980a) Superposition of motor programs. I. Rhythmic forearm movements in man. Neurosci. 5: 81-90.
- 92. Feldman, A G. (1980b) Superposition of motor programs. II. Rapid forearm flexion in man. Neurosci. 5: 91-95.
- 93. Feldman, A. G. (1986) Once more on the equilibrium-point hypothesis (> model) for motor control. J Motor Behavior 18: 17-54.
- 94. Feldman, A. G. and Orlovsky, G. N. (1972) The influence of different descending systems on the tonic stretch reflex in the cat. Exp. Neurol. 37: 481-494.

- 95. Fetz, E. E., Jankowska, E., Johannsson, T. and Lipski, J. (1979) Autogenetic inhibition of motoneurones by impulses in group la muscle spindle afferents J Physiol. (London) 293: 173-195.
- 96 Fitts, S. S., Hammond, M. C., Kraft, G. H. and Nutter, P. B. (1989) Quantification of gaps in the FMG interference pattern in chronic hemiparesis Electroenceph clin. Neurophysiol 73: 225-232.
- 97. Fleiss, J L. (1986) The Design and Analysis of Clinical Experiments Wiley, New York.
- 98. Foerster, O. (1927) Schlaffe und spastische Lähmung In: '<u>Handbuch der Normalen</u> und Pathologischen Physiologie.' Vol 10. Springer-Verlag, Berlin
- 99. Foreman, R D., Beall, J. E., Applebaum, A E., Cloutier, J D and Willis, W D (1976) Effects of dorsal column stimulation on primate spinothalamic tract neurons J Neurophysiol. 39: 534-545.
- 100. Fredriksen, T A., Bergmann, S, Hesselberg, J. P, Stolt-Nielsen, A, Ringkjob, R and Sjaastad, O. (1986) Electrical stimulation in multiple sclerosis Comparison of transcutaneous electrical stimulation and epidural spinal cord stimulation Appl Neurophysiol. 49: 4-24.
- 101. Friedli, W G., Hallet, M. and Simon, S. R. 1984 Postural adjustments associated with rapid voluntary arm movements. I. Electromyographic data J Neurol Neurosurg. Psychiat. 47: 611-622.
- 102. Fuglsang-Frederiksen, A., Scheel, U. and Buchthal, F (1977) Diagnostic yield of the analysis of the pattern of electrical activity of muscle and of individual motor unit potentials in neurogenic involvement. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiat 40. 544-554
- 103 Fuglsang-Frederiksen, A., Smith, T. and Hogenhaven, H. (1987) Motor unit firing intervals and other parameters of electrical activity in normal and pathological muscle. J. Neurol. Sci. 78: 51-62
- 104. Fulton, J. F. (1935) A note on the definition of the "motor" and "premotor" areas Brain 58: 311-316.
- 105. Fung, J. and Barbeau, H. (1989) A dynamic EMG profile index to quantify muscular activation disorder in spastic paretic gait. Electroenceph clin Neurophysiol 73 233-244.
- 106. Fyffe, R. E. W. and Light, A. R (1984) The ultrastructure of group la afferent fiber synapses in the lumbosacral spinal cord of the cat. Brain Res 300 201-209
- 107 Garcia-Mullin, R. and Mayer, R F. (1972) H reflexes in acute and chronic hemipłegia Brain 95: 559-572.
- 108. Gassel, M. M. and Diamantopoulos, E (1964) The effect of procaine nerve block on neuromuscular reflex regulation in man. Brain 87: 729-742
- 109 Gillies, J. D., Lance, J. W., Neilson, P. D. and Tassinari, C. A. (1969) Presynaptic inhibition of the monosynaptic reflex by vibration. J. Physiol. (London) 205. 329-339
- 110. Gilman, S., Lieberman, J. S. and Marco, L. A. (1974) Spinal mechanisms underlying the effects of unilateral ablation of areas 4 and 6 in monkeys. Brain 97 49-64.

- 111 Gilman, S., Marco, L. A. and Ebel, H. C. (1971) Effects of medullary pyramidotomy in the monkey II Abnormalities of spindle afferent responses Brain 94 515-530.
- 112. Godaux, E. and Desmedt, J. E. (1975) Human masseter muscle: H and tendon reflexes. Arch Neurol. 32: 229-234.
- 113 Goldberger, M E (1969) The extrapyramidal system of the spinal cord II. Results of combined pyramidal and extrapyramidal lesions in the macaque. J. Comp. Neurol 135: 1-26.
- 114 Goldberger, M E and Murray, M. (1974) Restitution of function and collateral sprouting in the cat spinal cord: the deafferented animal J. Comp. Neurol. 158. 37-54.
- 115. Goldberger, M. E. and Murray, M. (1978) Axonal sprouting and recovery of function may obey some of the same laws In: <u>Neuronal Plasticity</u> Ed Cotman, C Raven Press, New York. pp. 73-96.
- 116. Gottlieb, G. L., Agarwal, G. C. and Penn, R. (1978) Sinusoidal oscillation of the ankle as a means of evaluating the spastic patient. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat 41: 32-39.
- 117. Gottlieb, G. L., Agarwal, G. C. and Stark, L. (1970) Interactions between voluntary and postural mechanisms of the human motor system. J. Neurophysiol 33: 365-381.
- 118. Granit, R (1955) <u>Recentors and Sensory Perception</u>. Yale Univ Press, New Haven.
- 119. Grillner, S., Hongo, T. and Lund, S. (1970) The vestibulospinal tract Effects on alpha-motoneurones in the lumbosacral spinal cord in the cat. Exp. Brain Res 10. 94-120.
- 120. Hagbarth, K.-E. (1973) The effect of muscle vibration in normal man and in patients with motor disorders. In: <u>New Developments in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Karger, Basel. Vol. 3. pp. 428-443.
- 121 Hagbarth, K. E. and Eklund, G. (1968) The effect of muscle vibration in spasticity, rigidity and cerebellar disorders. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat 31. 207-213.
- 122. Hagbarth, K.-E., Wallin, G. and Lofstedt, L (1973) Muscle spindle responses to stretch in normal and spastic subjects. Scand. J. Rehab Med. 5: 156-159.
- 123. Hagbarth, K.-E., Wallin, G., Lofstedt, L. and Aquilonius, S.-M (1975) Muscle spindle activity in alternating tremor of Parkinsonism and in clonus. J Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 38: 636-641.
- 124. Hale, J. L. (1987) <u>Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation in the Management of</u> <u>Spasticity</u>. Master's Thesis, McGill University.
- 125. Hale, J. L. and Chan, C. W. Y. (1986a) The acute effects of conventional TENS in the management of spasticity. Physiother. Can. 38(3, suppl):5.
- 126. Hale, J. L. and Chan, C. W Y. (1986b) Possible enhancement of presynaptic inhibitory mechanisms following nine days of TENS in hemiplegic patients. Proceedings of the International Union of Physiological Sciences, Vol. XVI, p. 256.

- 127 Hammond, M. C., Fitts, S. S., Kraft, G. H., Nutter, P. B., Trotter, M. J. and Robinson L. M. (1988a) Co-contraction in the hemiparetic forearm. Quantitative EMG evaluation. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehab. 69: 348-351.
- 128. Hammond, M. C., Kraft, G. H. and Fitts, S. S. (1988b) Recruitment and termination of electromyographic activity in the hemiparetic forearm. Arch Phys Med Rehab 69 106-110.
- 129. Hayat, A. (1979) Factorial analysis of specific parameters in spasticity Electromyogr clin. Neurophysiol. 10: 541-553.
- 130 Hines, M. (1936) The anterior border of monkey's (Macaca Mulatta) motor cortex and the production of spasticity. Am J. Physiol 116: 76-85
- 131. Hines, M. (1937) The "motor" cortex. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp 60 313-336
- 132. Hines, M. (1960) The control of muscular activity by the central nervous system In <u>The Structure and Function of Muscle</u> Ed Bourne, G. H. Academic Press, New York Vol. II. pp. 467-516.
- 133. Hoffmann, P. (1918) 'Uber die Beziehungen der Schenreflexe zur Willkurlichen Bewegung und zum Tonus.' Z. Biologie 68: 351-370
- 134. Hohmann, T C. and Goodgold, A (1961) A study of abnormal reflex patterns in spasticity. A new application of electrodiagnosis. Am. J. Phys Med 40 52-55
- 135. Holmqvist, B. and Lundberg, A (1961) Differential supraspinal control of synaptic actions evoked by volleys in the flexion reflex afferents in alpha motorneurones Acta Physiol. Scand. 54.(Suppl 186), 1-51.
- 136. Hongo, T, Jankowska, E. and Lundberg, A. (1969) The rubrospinal tract I Effects on alpha-motoneurones innervating hindlimb muscles in cats Exp Brain Res. 7 344-364.
- 137. Horak, F. B., Esselman, P., Anderson, M. E., and Lynch, M K. (1984) The effects of movement velocity, mass displaced, and task certainty on associated postural adjustments made by normal and hemiplegic individuals. J. Neurol. Neurosurg Psychiat. 47: 1020-1028.
- 138 Houk, J. C., Rymer, W. Z. and Crago, P E. (1981) Dependence of dynamic response of spindle receptors on muscle length and velocity. J. Neurophysiol 46. 143-166
- 139. Hubbard, J. I. and Willis, W. D. (1962) Reduction of transmitter output by depolarization. Nature 193: 1294-1295.
- 140. Hugon, M. (1973) Methodology of the Hoffmann reflex in man In: <u>New Developments</u> in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology. Ed Desmedt, J. E Karger, Basel Vol. 3. pp. 277-293.
- 141. Hultborn, H., Illert, M. and Santini, M. (1976a) Convergence on interneurones mediating the reciprocal la inhibition of motoneurones. I Disynaptic la inhibition of la inhibitory interneurones. Acta Physiol. Scand. 96 193-201
- 142. Hultborn, H., Illert, M. and Santini, M. (1976b) Convergence on interneurones mediating the reciprocal la inhibition of motoneurones II Effects from segmental flexor reflex pathways. Acta Physiol. Scand. 96: 351-367.

- 143. Hultborn, H., Illert, M. and Santini, M. (1976c) Convergence on interneurones mediating the reciprocal la inhibition of motoneurones. III Effects from supraspinal pathways Acta Physiol. Scand. 96: 368-391.
- 144 Hultborn, H., Jankowska, E. and Lindstrom, S. (1971) Relative contribution from different nerves to recurrent depression of la IPSP's in motoneurones J Physiol (London) 215. 637-664.
- 145 Hultborn, H. and Malmsten, J. (1983) Changes in segmental reflexes following chronic spinal cord hemisections in the cat. I. Increased monosynaptic and polysynaptic ventral root discharges. Acta Physiol. Scand. 119: 405-422.
- 146 Humphrey, D. R. and Reed, D. J. (1983) Separate control systems for control of joint movement and joint stiffness: Reciprocal activation and coactivation of antagonist muscles. In: <u>Motor Control Mechanisms in Health and Disease</u> Ed Desmedt, J. E Raven Press, New York. pp. 347-373.
- 147. Inman, V. T. (1975) The Joints of the Ankle, Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore
- 148 Jankowska, E., McCrea, D., Rudomin, P. and Sykova, E. (1981) Observations on neuronal pathways subserving primary afferent depolarization. J. Neurophysiol. 46: 506-516.
- 149. Jansen, J. K. S. and Matthews, P. B. C. (1962) The central control of the dynamic response of muscle spindle receptors. J. Physiol. (London) 161: 357-378
- 150. Jimenez, I., Rudomin, P. and Solodkin, M. (1988) PAD patterns of physiologically identified afferent fibres from the medial gastrocnemius muscle. Exp. Brain Res 71. 643-657.
- 151. Kalil, K. and Reh, T. (1978) Plasticity in the corticospinal tract after early lesions of the medullary pyramid. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 4:476.
- 152. Katz, R., Morin, C., Peirrot-Deseilligny, E. and Hibino, R. (1977) Conditioning of H reflex by a preceding subthreshold tendon reflex stimulus. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 40: 575-580.
- 153. Katz, R. and Pierrot-Deseilligny, E. (1982) Recurrent inhibition of α-motoneurons in patients with upper motor neuron lesions. Brain 105: 103-124.
- 154. Keifer, J. and Kalil, K. (1989) Modulation of spinal reflexes by pyramidal tract stimulation in an *in vitro* brainstem-spinal cord preparation from the harmster. Exp. Brain Res. 78: 633-640.
- 155. Kendall, H. O., Kendall, F. P. and Wadsworth, G. E. (1971) <u>Muscles Testing and Function</u>. 2nd Ed. Williams & Wilkens, Baltimore.
- 156. Kennard, M. A. and Fulton, J. F. (1933) The localizing significance of spasticity, reflex grasping, and the signs of Babinski and Rossolimo. Brain 56: 213-225.
- 157. Kerr, F. W. L. (1972) The potential of cervical primary afferents to sprout in the spinal nucleus of V following long term trigeminal denervation. Brain Res. 43: 547-560.
- 158. Knutsson, E. (1970a) Muscle activation patterns of gait in spastic hemiparesis, paraparesis and cerebral palsy. In: <u>Stroke with Hemiplegia</u> Ed. Fugl-Meyer, A. Scand. J. Rehab. Suppl. 7, pp. 47-52.

- 159. Knutsson, E. (1970b) On effects of local cooling upon motor functions in spastic paresis. Progr. Phys. Med. 1. 126-135
- 160. Knutsson, E. (1983) Analysis of gait and isokinetic movements for evaluation of antispastic drugs or physical therapies. In: <u>Motor Control Mechanisms in Health and</u> <u>Disease</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Raven Press, New York. pp. 1013-1034.
- 161. Knutsson, E. and Martensson, A. (1980) Dynamic motor capacity in spastic paresis and its relation to prime motor dysfunction, spastic reflexes and antagonist co-activation. Scand J. Rehab Med. 138⁻ 1-14
- 162 Knutsson, E. and Richards, C (1979) Different types of disturbed motor control in gait of hemiparetic patients. Brain 102: 405-430.
- 163 Kranz, H. (1981) Control of motoneuron firing during maintained voluntary contraction in normals and in patients with central lesions. Prog Clin. Neurophysiol 9 358-367
- 164 Kugelberg, E. (1962) Polysynaptic reflexes of clinical importance Electroenceph. clin Neurophysiol. Suppl. 22: 103-111.
- 165. Kuhn, R. A (1950) Functional capacity of the isolated human spinal cord. Brain 73: 1-51.
- 166. Kuypers, G. J. M (1974) Recovery of motor function in rhesus monkeys. Neurosci. Res. Progr. Bull 12: 240-247.
- 167 Lance, J. W. (1980) The control of muscle tone, reflexes, and movement Robert Wartenberg Lecture. Neurology 30: 1303-1313.
- 168 Landau, W. M. and Clare, M. H. (1964) Fusimotor function VI H reflex, tendon jerk and reinforcement in hemiplegia. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat. 10: 128-134
- 169. Landau, W. M, Weave, R. A. and Hornbein, T. F. (1960) Fusimotor nerve function in man. Differential nerve block studies in normal subjects and in spasticity and rigidity. Arch. Neurol. 3: 10-23.
- 170. Lawrence, D. G. and Kuypers, G. J. M. (1965) Nonpyramidal pathways in monkeys anatomical and functional correlation. Science 148: 973-975
- 171. Lee, W. A., Boughton, A., and Rymer, W. Z. (1987) Absence of stretch reflex gain enhancement in voluntarily activated spastic muscle. Exp. Neurol 98 317-335
- 172. Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y (1988) Conventional and acupuncture-like transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS) excite similar types of peripheral afferents Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 14: 710.
- 173. Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y. (1989) Stretch reflex latency changes following repetitive reciprocal and hetero-segmental electrical stimulation in spastic hemiplegic subjects. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 15: 916.
- 174. Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y. (1990a) Disorders in spastic hemiparesis I Characteristics of reflex responses. Submitted to Brain.
- 175. Levin, M. F. and Chan, C. W. Y. (1990b) Disorders in spastic hemiparesis. II. Maximal voluntary contractions in standing. Submitted to Brain
- 176. Levine, M. G., Knott, M. and Kabat, H. (1952) Relaxation of spasticity by electrical

stimulation of antagonist muscles. Arch. Phys. Med. 11: 668-673.

- 177. Liddell, E. G T and Sherrington, C. S. (1924) Reflexes in response to stretch (myotatic reflexes). Proc. Roy. Soc. Ser. B 96: 212-242.
- 178 Liu, C. N. and Chambers, W W. (1958) Intraspinal sprouting of dorsal root axons. Arch Neurol Psychiat. 79: 46-61.
- 179. Llinas R (1968) A possible mechanism for presynaptic inhibition In <u>Structure and</u> <u>Function of Inhibitory Neuronal Mechanisms</u> Eds. von Euler, C, Skoglund, S. and Soderberg, U. Pergamon Press, Oxford. pp. 249-250.
- 180 Lomo, T., Westgaard, R H. and Engebretsen, L. (1980) Different stimulation patterns affect contractile properties of denervated rat soleus muscle. In: <u>Plasticity of Muscle</u> Ed. Pette, D. DeGruyter, Berlin. pp. 297-309.
- 181. Long, C., Thomas, D. and Crochetiere, W J. (1964) Objective measurement of muscle tone in the hand. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 5: 909-917
- 182 Lundberg, A. (1964) Supraspinal control of transmission in reflex paths to motoneurons and primary afferents. In <u>Progress in Brain Research. Physiology of Spinal</u> <u>Neurons.</u> Eds. Eccles, J. C. and Schade, J. P. Elsevier: Amsterdam Vol. 12. pp. 197-219.
- 183. MacDonald, J. F. and Pearson, J. F. (1979) Inhibition of spinal interneuronal activity by repeated cutaneous stimulation: A possible substrate of flexor reflex habituation. J. Neurobiol. 10: 79-92.
- 184. Magladery, J W and McDougal, D G. Jr. (1950) Electrophysiological studies in nerve and reflex activity in normal man. I. Identification of certain reflexes in the electromyogram and the conduction velocity of peripheral nerve fibers Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 86 265-290.
- 185. Magladery, J. W., Porter, W. E., Park, A. M. and Teasdall, R D (1951) Electrophysiological studies of nerve and reflex activity in normal man. IV The two neurone reflex and identification of certain action potentials from spinal roots and cord. Bull. Johns Hopkins Hosp. 88: 499-519.
- 186. Mahoney, F. and Barthel, D. (1965) Functional evaluation: the Barthel Index. Maryland State Medical J. 14: 61-65.
- 187. Malmgren, K. and Pierrot-Deseilligny, E. (1988a) Evidence for non-monosynaptic la excitation of human wrist flexor motoneurones, possibly via propriospinal neurones J. Physiol. (London) 405: 747-764.
- 188. Malmgren, K. and Pierrot-Deseilligny, E. (1988b) Inhibition of neurones transmitting non-monosynaptic la excitation to human wrist flexor motoneurones J. Physiol. (London) 405' 765-783.
- 189. Malmsten, J. (1983) Time course of segmental reflex changes after chronic spinal cord hemisection in the rat. Acta Physiol. Scand. 119: 435-443.
- 190. Marsden, C. D., Meadows, J. C. and Hodgson, H. J. F (1969) Observation on the reflex response to muscle vibration in man and its voluntary control. Brain 92: 829-846.
- 191. Marsden, C. D., Merton, P. A. and Morton, H. B. (1976) Servo action in the human

thumb. J. Physiol. (London) 257: 1-44.

١,

- 192. Matthews, P. B. C. (1959) A study of certain factors influencing the stretch reflex of the decerebrate cat. J Physiol. (London) 147⁻ 547-564.
- 193 Matthews, P B. C. (1986) Observations on the automatic compensation of reflex gain on varying the preexisting level of motor discharge in man J. Physiol (London) 374. 73-90.
- 194. Matthews, P. B. C. and Rushworth, G. (1957) The selective effect of procaine on the stretch reflex and tendon jerk of soleus muscle when applied to its nerve J Physiol (London) 135. 245-262.
- 195 Mayer, R. F., Burke, R. E., Toop, J., Walmsley, B and Hodgson, J A (1984) The effect of spinal cord transection on motor units in cat medial gastrocnemius muscles. Muscle and Nerve 7: 23-31.
- 196. Mayer, R. F. and Mawdsley, C. (1965) Studies in man and cat of the significance of the H wave J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 28: 201-211
- 197. McComas, A. J., Sica, R. E. P., Upton, A. R. M and Aguilera, N (1973) Functional changes in motoneurons of hemiparetic patients Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 36: 183-193.
- 198. McCouch, G. P., Austin, G. M., Liu, C. N. and Liu, C. Y (1958) Sprouting as a cause of spasticity. J. Neurophysiol. 21: 205-216.
- 199. McLellan, D. L (1977) Co-contraction and stretch reflexes in spasticity during treatment with baclofen. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 40, 30-38.
- 200. McLellan, D. L. and Hassan, N. (1982) The use of electromyograms to assess impaired voluntary movement associated with increased muscle tone. In: Kyoto Symposia (EEG Suppl. No. 36). Eds. Buser, P. A., Cobb, W. A. and Okuma, T. Elsevier, Amsterdam pp. 169-171.
- McLellan, D L., Hassan, N. and Hodgson, J A (1985) Tracking tasks in the assessment of spasticity. In: <u>Restorative Neurology</u>. Eds Desmedt, P J and Young, R. R. Clinical Neurophysiology in Spasticity. Elsevier, Amsterdam Vol 1 pp 131-139.
- 202. Melvill Jones, G. (1983) Auto-adaptive control of central plasticity: Observations and speculations. In: <u>Synergetics of the Brain</u>. Eds. Basar, E., Flohr, H., Hakan, H and Mandell, A. J. Springer, Berlin. pp. 122-138.
- 203. Mendell, L. M. (1972) Properties and distribution of peripherally evoked presynaptic hyperpolarisation in cat lumbar spinal cord. J. Physiol (London) 226 769-792
- 204. Mendell, L. M. (1984) Modifiability of spinal synapses Physiol Rev 64 260-324
- 205. Mendell, L. M., Sassoon, E. M. and Wall, P D (1978) Properties of synaptic linkage from long ranging afferents onto dorsal horn neurones in normal and dealferented cats. J. Physiol. (London) 285: 299-310.
- 206. Mettler, F. A. (1943) Extensive unilateral cerebral removals in the primate physiologic effects and resultant degeneration. J. Comp. Neurol. 79: 185-245
- 207. Meyer, M and Adorjani, C. (1980) Tonic stretch reflex for quantification of pathologi-

cal muscle tone. In: <u>Spasticity: Disordered Motor Control</u> Eds. Feldman, R G., Young, R. R. and Koela, W. P. Year Book Medical Publ., Chicago. pp. 315-330

- 208 Moskowitz, E., Lightbody, F. E. H. and Freitag, N. S. (1972) Long-term follow-up of the poststroke patient. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehab. 53: 167-172.
- 209 Murray, M. and Goldberger, M. E. (1974) Restitution of function and collateral sprouting in the cat spinal cord: The partially hemisected animal. J. Comp. Neurol 158; 19-36.
- 210. Nakashima, K., Rothwell, J. C., Day, B. L., Thompson, P. D., Shannon, K. and Marsden, C. D (1989) Reciprocal inhibition between forearm muscles in patients with writer's cramp and other occupational cramps, symptomatic hemidystonia and hemiparesis due to stroke. Brain 112 681-697
- 211. Nakata, Y, Kusaka, Y., and Segawa, T. (1979) Supersensitivity to substance P after dorsal root section. Life Sci. 24: 1651-1654.
- 212. Nashold, B. S. (1966) An electronic method of measuring and recording resistance to passive muscle stretch. J. Neurosurg. 24: 310-314.
- 213. Nashoid, B. S. and Friedman, H. (1972) Dorsal column stimulation for control of pain. Preliminary report on 30 patients. J. Neurosurg. 36: 590-597.
- 214. Nelson, S. G., Collatos, T. C., Niechaj, A. and Mendell, L. M. (1979) Immediate increase in la-motoneuron synaptic transmission caudal to spinal cord transection. J. Neurophysiol. 42: 655-664.
- 215. Nelson, S. G and Mendell, L. M. (1979) Enhancement in la-motoneuron synaptic transmission caudal to chronic spinal cord transection. J. Neurophysiol. 42: 642-654.
- 216. Nichols, T. R. (1989) Coordination of muscular action in cat hindlimb by proprioceptive spinal pathways. In: <u>Neurosurge;y. State of the Art Reviews</u>. Eds. Park, T. S., Phillips, L. H. and Peacock, W. J. Hanley and Belfus, Philadelphia. pp 303-314.
- 217. Nieoullon, A. and Dusticier, N. (1983) Glutamate uptake, glutamate decarboxylase and choline acetyltransferase in subcortical areas after sensorimotor cortex ablations in the cat. Brain Res. Bull. 10: 287-293.
- 218 Norton, F. J., Bomze, H. A. and Chaplin, H. (1972) An approach to the objective measurement of spasticity. Phys. Ther. 52: 15-23.
- 219 Nygren, L. G., Fuxe, K., Jonsson, G. and Olson, L. (1974) Functional regeneration of 5-hydroxytryptamine nerve terminals in the rat spinal cord following 5, 6-dihydroxytryptamine induced degeneration. Brain Res. 78: 377-394.
- 220 Odeen I. and Knutsson E. (1981) Evaluation of the effects of muscle stretch and weight load in patients with spastic paraplegia. Scand. J. Rehab. Med. 13: 117-121.
- 221. Ongerboer de Visser, B. W., Bour, L. J., Koelman, J. H. T. M. and Speelman, J. D. (1989) Cumulative vibratory indices and H/M ratio of the soleus H-reflex⁻ a quantitative study in control and spastic subjects. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 73⁻ 162-166.
- 222. Paillard, J. (1955) '<u>Réflexes et régulations d'origine proprioceptive chez l'homme.</u>' Arnette, Paris.

- 223. Patton, N. J. and Mortensen, O A. (1971) An electromyographical study of reciprocal activity of muscles. Anat. Rec. 170: 255-268
- 224 Pederson, E. (1974) Clinical assessment and pharmacologic therapy in spasticity. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehab. 55: 344-354.
- 225 Petajan, J. H. (1983) Motor unit control in movement disorders Adv Neurol 39 897--905.
- 226. Phillips, C. G. (1981) Possible modes of action of extradural electrical stimulation on the spinal cord. Appl. Neurophysiol 44. 16-21
- 227. Pierrot-Deseilligny, E and Mazieres, L. (1984) 'Circuits reflèxes de la moelle épinière chez l'homme. Contrôle au cours du mouvement et role fonctionnel (1re partie) ' Rev Neurol 140: 605-614.
- 228. Pierrot-Deseiligny, E. and Mazieres, L. (1985) Spinal mechanisms underlying spasticity. In: <u>Clinical Neurophysiology in Spasticity</u>. Eds Delwaide, P J and Young, R. R. Elsevier, Amsterdam. pp. 62-76.
- 229. Porter, W. T (1895) The path of the respiratory impulse from the bulb to the phrenic nuclei. J. Physiol. (London) 17: 455-485.
- 230. Powers, R. K., Campbell, D. L. and Rymer, W. Z. (1989) Stretch reflex dynamics in spastic elbow flexor muscles. Ann. Neurol. 25: 32-42.
- 231. Powers, R. K., Marder-Meyer, J. and Rymer, W Z. (1988) Quantitative relations between hypertonia and stretch reflex threshold in spastic hemiparesis Ann Neurol. 23: 115-124.
- 232 Prendergast, J. and Misantone, L. J. (1980) Sprouting by tracts descending from the midbrain to the spinal cord: The result of thoracic funiculotomy in the newborn, 21 day old and adult rat. Exp. Neurol. 69. 458-480.
- 233 Preston, J. B., Shende, M. C. and Uemura, K. (1967) The motor cortex-pyramidal system: pattern of facilitation and inhibition on motoneurons innervating limb musculature of cat and baboon and their possible adaptive significance. In <u>Neurophysiological</u> <u>Basis of Normal and Abnormal Activities.</u> Eds. Yahr, M. D. and Purpura, D. P. Raven Press, New York. pp. 61-72.
- 234. Prevo, A. J. H., Visser, S. I. and Vogelaar, T. W. (1982) Effect of EMG feedback on paretic muscles and abnormal co-contraction in the hemiplegic arm, compared with conventional physical therapy. Scand. J. Rehab. Med 14 121-131
- 235. Purpura, D. P. (1961) Analysis of axodendritic synaptic organizations in immature cerebral cortex. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 94: 604-54
- 236. Rack, P. M. H., Ross, H. F. and Thilmann, A. F. (1984) The ankle stretch reflexes in normal and spastic subjects. The response to sinusoidal movement Brain 107 637-654.
- 237. Raisman, G. and Field, P. M. (1973) A quantitative investigation of the development of collateral reinnervation of the septal nuclei Brain Res 50. 241-264
- 238 Renshaw, B. (1941) Influence of discharge of motoneurones upon excitation of neighbouring motoneurones. J. Neurophysiol. 4. 167-183.

- 239. Riddoch, G. (1917) The reflex functions of the completely divided spinal cord in man compared with those associated with less severe lesions. Brain 40: 264-402.
- 240. Rodin, B. E. and Kruger, L. (1984) Absence of intraspinal sprouting in dorsal root axons caudal to a partial spinal hemisection: A horseradish peroxidase transport study. Somatosens. Res. 2: 171-192.
- 241. Roll, J. P., Vedel, J. P. and Ribot, E (1989) Alteration of proprioceptive messages induced by tendon vibration in man a microneurographic study. Exp. Brain Res. 76: 213-222.
- 242 Rood, M. (1956) Neurophysiological mechanisms utilized in the treatment of neuromuscular dysfunction. Am. J. Occ. Ther. 10: 220-225.
- 243. Rudomin, P., Jimenez, I., Solodkin, M. and Duenas, S. (1983) Sites of action of segmental and descending control of transmission on pathways mediating PAD of laand Ib-afferent fibers in cat spinal cord. J. Neurophysiol. 50: 743-769.
- 244. Rudomin, P., Solodkin, M and Jimenez, I. (1986) PAD and PAH response patterns of group Ia- and Ib-fibers to cutaneous and descending inputs in the cat spinal cord. J. Neurophysiol. 56 987-1006.
- 245. Rushworth, G. (1960) Spasticity and rigidity an experimental study and review. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat. 23: 99-118.
- 246. Rushworth, G (1964) Modification of gamma system activity in man In: <u>The Role of</u> the Gamma System in Movement and Posture. pp. 45-65.
- 247. Rushworth, G. and Young, R. R. (1966) The effect of vibration on tonic and phasic reflexes in man. J. Physiol. (London) 185: 63-64P.
- 248. Rymer, W. Z., Houk, J. C. and Crago, P. E. (1979) Mechanisms of the clasp-knife reflex studied in an animal model. Exp. Brain Res. 37: 33-113.
- 249 Sahrmann, S. A. and Norton, B. J. (1977) The relationship of voluntary movement to spasticity in the upper motor neuron syndrome. Ann. Neurol. 2: 460-465.
- 250. Salar, G., Job, I., Mingrino, S., Bosio, A. and Trabucchi, M. (1981) Effect of transcutaneous electrotherapy on CSF B-endorphin content in patients without pain problems. Pain 10: 169-172.
- 251 Schiepatti, M. (1987) The Hoffmann reflex: A means of assessing spinal reflex excitability and its descending control in man. Prog. Neurobiol. 28: 345-376.
- 252 Schiepatti, M., Poloni, M. and Nardone, A. (1985) Voluntary muscle release is not accompanied by H-reflex inhibition in patients with upper moto neuron lesions. Neurosci. Lett. 61, 177-181.
- 253. Shahani, B T and Young, R. R. (1980) The flexor reflex in spasticity. In: <u>Spasticity</u>. <u>Disordered Motor Control</u>. Eds. Feldman, R. G., Young, R. R and Koela, W. P. YearBook Medical Publishers, Chicago. pp. 287-295.
- 254. Sherrington, C. S. (1897) On reciprocal innervation of antagonistic muscles Proc. Roy. Soc. London 60: 414-417.
- 255. Sherrington, C. S. (1898) Decerebrate rigidity and the reflex coordination of movement. J Physiol (London) 22: 319-332.

- 256. Sherrington, C. S. (1909) Reciprocal innervation of antagonistic muscles Fourteenth note. On double reciprocal innervation. Proc R Soc London Ser B 91 249-268
- 257 Sica, R. E P and Sanz, O. P. (1976) An electrophysiological study of the functional changes in the spinal motoneurones of hemiparetic patients Electromyogr clin Neurophysiol. 16. 419-431.
- 258 Siegfried, J., Krainick, J. U., Haas, H., Adorjani, C., Meyer, M. and Thoden, U. (1978) Electrical spinal cord stimulation for spastic movement disorders. Appl. Neurophysiol 41, 134-141
- 259 Sinkjaer, T, Toft, E, Andreassen, S and Hornemann, B C (1988) Muscle stiffness in human ankle dorsiflexors. Intrinsic and reflex components J Neurophysiol 60 1110-1121.
- 260 Smith, A. M (1981) The coactivation of antagonist muscles Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 59: 733-747
- 261. Somerville, J. and Ashby, P (1978) Hemiplegic spasticity Neurophysiological studies. Arch Phys Med. Rehabil. 59: 592-596.
- 262 Stam, J. and Tan, K. M. (1987) Tendon reflex variability and method of stimulation Electroenceph clin. Neurophysiol. 67 463-467
- 263. Stam, J. and van Crevel, H (1989) Measurement of tendon reflexes by surface electromyography in normal subjects J Neurol 236: 231-237
- 264 Stratten, W. P. and Barnes, C. D (1971) Diazepam and presynaptic inhibition Neuropharmacology 10, 685-696.
- 265 Szumski, A. J., Burg, D., Struppler, A and Velho, F (1974) Activity of muscle spindles during muscle twitch and clonus in normal and spastic human subjects. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol 37: 589-597.
- 266. Tanaka, R (1983) Reciprocal la inhibitory pathway in normal man and in patients with motor disorders. In: Motor Control Mechanisms in Health and Disease Ed Desmedt, J. E. Raven Press, New York. pp. 433-441.
- 267. Tang, A and Rymer, W Z. (1981) Abnormal force-EMG relations in paretic limbs of hemiparetic human subjects J Neurol Neurosurg. Psychiat 44 690-698
- 268. Tasker, R. R., Gentili, F., Sogabe, K, Shanlin, M and Hawrylyshyn, P (1975) Decorticate spasticity: A re-examination using quantitative assessment in the primate Cdn. J. Neurol. Sci 2: 303-313
- 269 Teasdall, R. E., Languth, H. W. and Magladery, J. W (1952) Electrophysiological studies of reflex activity in patients with lesions of the nervous system Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp. 91: 267-275.
- 270. Thomas, J. E. and Lambert, E. H. (1960) Ulnar nerve conduction velocity and H reflex in infants and children. J. Appl. Physiol. 15. 1-19.
- 271 Thor, K., Kawatani, M. and deGroat, W C. (1986) Plasticity in the reflex pathways to the lower urinary tract of the cat during postnatal development and following spinal cord injury. In: <u>Development and Plasticity of the Mammalian Spinal Cord</u> Eds Goldberger, M. E., Gorio, A. and Murray, M. Liviana Press and Springer-Verlag, New

York. pp 65-81.

X

- 272. Tilney, F. and Pike, F. H. (1925) Muscular coordination experimentally studied in its relation to the cerebellum. Arch. Neurol. Psychiat. 13: 289-334.
- 273. Toft, E, Sinkjaer, T. and Andreassen, S. (1989) Mechanical and electromyographic responses to stretch of the human anterior tibial muscle at different levels of contraction. Exp. Brain Res 74: 213-219.
- Tower, S. S. (1940) Pyramidal lesion in the monkey. Brain 33 36-90
- 275 Travis, A. M. (1955a) Neurological deficiencies after ablations of the precentral motor area in Macaca mulatta. Brain 78: 155-173.
- 276 Travis, A. M (1955b) Neurological deficiencies following supplementary motor area lesion in Macaca mulatta. Brain 78: 174-198.
- 277 Tsukahara, N. (1981) Synaptic plasticity in the mammalian central nervous system, Ann. Rev. Neurosci. 4: 351-379.
- 278 Twitchell, T. E. (1951) The restoration of motor function following hemiplegia in man. Brain 74: 443-480.
- 279. Upton, A. R. M., McComas, A. J. and Sica, R. E. P. (1971) Potentiation of 'late' responses evoked in muscles during effort. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiat 34. 669-711.
- 280 Veale, J. L., Rees, S. and Mark, R. F. (1973) Renshaw cell activity in normal and spastic man. In: <u>New Developments in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiol-</u> ogy. Ed. Desmedt, J. E. Karger, Basel. Vol. 3. pp. 523-537.
- 281. Verrier, M. C. (1985) Alterations in H reflex magnitude by variations in baseline EMG excitability. Electroenceph. clin. Neurophysiol. 60: 492-499.
- 282. Verrier, M. C, Tatton, W. G and Blair, R. D. G (1984) Characteristics of EMG responses to imposed limb displacement in patients with vascular hemiplegia Can. J. Neurol. Sci. 11⁻ 288-296.
- 283. Vodovnik, L., Bowman, B. R. and Hufford, P. (1984) Effects of electrical stimulation on spinal spasticity. Scand. J. Rehab. Med. 16: 29-34.
- 284 Walker, J. B. (1982) Modulation of spasticity: prolonged suppression of a spinal reflex by electrical stimulation. Science 216 203-204.
- 285 Wall, P. D. (1967) The laminar organization of dorsal horn and effects of descending impulses. J. Physiol. (London) 188: 403-423.
- 286. Wall, P. D. (1988) Recruitment of ineffective synapses after injury. In. <u>Advances in</u> <u>Neurology. Vol 47. Functional Recovery in Neurological Disease</u> Ed. Waxman, S. G. Raven Press, New York. pp. 387-400.
- 287 Wall, P. D. and Egger, M. D. (1971) Formation of new connections in adult rat brains after partial deafferentation. Nature 232: 542-545.
- 288. Walmsley, B., Wieniawa-Narkiewicz, E. and Nicol, M. J. (1987) Ultrastructural evidence related to presynaptic inhibition of primary muscle afferents in Clarke's column of the cat. J. Neurosci. 1: 236-243.

289. Walsh, R. N. and Cummins R. A. (1976) Neural responses to therapeutic sensory environments. In: <u>Environments as Therapy for Brain Dystanction</u> Eds Walsh, R N and Greenough, W T. Plenum, New York. pp. 171-200

A 940

- 290. Waylonis, G. W., Keith, M. W. and Aseff, J. N. (1973) Stroke rehabilitation in a midwestern country Arch Phys Med. Rehab. 54, 151-155
- 291 Welch, W. K. and Kennard, M. A. (1944) Relation of cerebral cortex to spasticity and flaccidity J Neurophysiol. 7: 255-268.
- 292. Wolpaw, J. R. (1987) Operant conditioning of primate spinal reflexes. The H-reflex. J. Neurophysiol. 57: 443-459.
- 293. Wolpaw, J. R. and Lee, C. L. (1989) Memory traces in primate spinal cord produced by operant conditioning of H-reflex J. Neurophysiol 61. 563-572
- 294. Yanagisawa, N and Tanaka, R. (1978) Reciprocal la inhibition in spastic paralysis in man. In: <u>Contemporary Clinical Neurophysiology</u>. Eds Cobb, W A and van Duijn, H EEG. Suppl. 34. Elsevier, Amsterdam pp. 521-526.
- 295. Yanagisawa, N, Tanaka, R. and Ito, Z. (1976) Reciprocal la inhibition in spastic hemiplegia in man. Brain 99. 555-574.
- 296. Young, R R. (1973) The clinical significance of exteroceptive reflexes. In: <u>New</u> <u>Developments in Electromyography and Clinical Neurophysiology</u>. Ed. Desmedt, J E Karger, Basel. Vol. 3. pp. 697-712.
- 297 Young, R. R. and Mayer, R. F. (1982) Physiological alterations of motor units in hemiplegia. J Neurol. Sci. 54: 401-412.